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HIgNlignts

Group

2008
2007
2006
2005
2004

2008
2007
2006
2005
2004

2007

2005

2008
2007
2006

2008
2007
2006
2005
2004

£3,042.2m
£2,000.7m
£1,729.0m
£1,571.2m"
£1,759.0m""
£150.0m
£115.8m
£109.8m
£103.1m*
£109.3m**
£334.0m
£248.2m
£158.7m
£180.3m"
£254.6m*
61.5p
46.5p
44.4p
43.6p"°
45.1p**
24.06p
22.65p
20.83p
19.84p

18.90p

Divisional

Revenue up 52 per cent to OVET £3 billion

Profit before tax UP 30 per cent o £150.0 milion

Cash generated from operations UP 35 per cent

to £334.0 millien

Adjusted EPS' UP 32 per centos1.5 pence

Total dividend for the year UPD 6 per cent
1o 24.06 pence

» Strong UK Bus performance, with revenue and operating profit up 13 per cent

» UK Trains operating profit up 349 per cent and revenue up 160 per cent, on first full year
of CrossCountry. Exceltent operational performance in both tranchises

» Mainland Eurcpean division 50 per cent revenue growth and 22 per cent operating profit
growth™, Revenue and operating prolit now both more than doubled since 2004

* From conlinuing operations
=+ 2004 includes results of the discontinued vehicle rental operation

1 Balore goodwill imparment, intangibla asset amortisation and exceptional itlems.

11 Batore goodwill impainment and intangible asset amonisation and inchuding share of associated companies’ revenue and operating profit
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Who we are

Who we are

Arriva is a public transport operator with more
than 43,500 employees and operations across
12 European countries.

We run many modes of transport including buses, trains, cocaches and waterbuses.
Amaongst our refated successful activities are a bus and coach distribution business,
a highty-regarded sightseeing tour bus business and airport-related transport services.

Originally floated in 1965 under the Cowie name, as a motor retailer, we entered the
public transport market in 1980. With around 6,000 buses and two UK rail franchises we
are now one of the largest transport operators in the UK.

The present Arriva identity was created in 1997, bringing together many different
company backgrounds under the Armiva name. Also in that year Arriva acquired its first
business on the European mainland.

What distinguishes us most strongly from the other major UK-listed bus and rail
operators is our gecgraphical and market spread.

In 1999 we recognised the long-term growth opportunities that would be presented by
the historic opening of transport markets across Europe, and refocused our strategy to
concentrate on public transport. We started a disposal programme of our contract hire,
motor retailing and vehicle rental businesses. In their place, we carefully and patiently
built up a network of operations in mainland Europe, through targeted acquisitions and
contract wins, and today we cperate around 9,000 buses and 350 train sets. Qur vision
i5 to be the leading transport services organisation in Europe.

We are now well positioned as a leading privately owned pan-European public transport
operator with bus and rail operations in the Czech Republic, Denmark, Germany,
Hungary, ltaly, the Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Slovakia, Spain, Sweden and the UK.
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How we work

HOwW we WOork

We operate according to several different business
madels which vary by country, by region, and by the mode
of transport.

Deregulated services

In a deregulated bus market, the key commercial
relationship is directly between Arriva and our passengers -
they are our customers, and their fare payments are the
dominant source of income tor the business. Our services
have to be profitable in order to be sustainable, to generate
the profits which underpin investments in replacement
vehicles, our depot facilities, and the expansion and
development of senvices.

In a deregulated market we compete against other forms of
transport, and against other operators of similar transport,
in just the same way as a high street retailer competes for
the spending power of the public. We bear the revenue risk,
which is {o say that it the travelling public decides to switch
1o another form of transport, the lost revenue directly affects
our finances.

Even deregulated services are subject to significant
oversight, scrutiny and regulation in various ways, and
there is usually a layer of sector-specitic regulation. In our
UK Bus operations, for example, the quality of operation
and fitness for service of cur vehicles and drivers is
regulated by Traffic Commissioners.

Most of the bus operations in the UK, outside London, are
deregulated and operate on a purely commercial basis.
Contracted services are more common in other European
countries, and Spain and Portugal operate on a largely
commercialised basis.

Contracted services

In most of our mainland European bus and raif markets,

the Londion bus markst, and the UK rail market, our primary
customer is some form of public-sector body. A regional
government or transport authority may offer varicus forms
of contract which give an operator the right 1o operate
services, usually exclusively, on a particular route orina
specific area. Increasingly, as Eurcpean transpart markets
become more liberalised, these contracts are awarded on
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the basis of competitive tendering. During a transition period,
however, contracts may be awarded directly tollowing
negotiation with an incumbent operato,

Gross cost contracts

In a gross cost contract the tendlering authority agrees to
pay an cperator a specified sum to provide the specified
service for a specified period. Revenue from fares is passed
to the tendering authority, which bears the revenue risk.
The service provider generally carries the cost risk, though
there may be provisions for cost increases to be passed
through, such as elements of wage or fuel costs. Generally
the tendering authority will take responsibility for working
oul routes, and may also specily the vehicles to be used.

Because the operator has no direct commercial relationship
with passengers it is common for the tendering authority to
provide a system of bonuses and penallies to give operators
a financial incentive to pravide the desired quality of service.

The UK London bus business, some rail operations in
Sweden and Germany, and bus coniracts in Denmark,
are examples of Arriva's gross cost contracts.

Net cost contracts

In a net cost contract the operator takes on both the
revenue risk and the cost risk. It keeps the revenues from
{ares, and the tendering autherity provides a contribution in
the form of additional contracted income. This offsets
obligations that the tendering authority may have to ensure
the provision of & public transport service, or to meet social
objectives where the cost of providing such a service would
not be commercially viable if it depended solely on the fare
income that it could achieve.

On especially popular and important services it may be
possible for the tendering authority to receive a premium
paymeni from the operator running these routes rather than
providing financial support.

UK rail franchises, Ralian bus contracts, and bus and rail
contracts in the Netherlands are examples of where Arriva
operates this business model.




Revenue split

As a result of the different business models under which
we operate, revenue across the group is derived from a
combination of passenger revenue, and non-passenger
revenue, including contracted government paymenits.
The table below shows the 2008 revenue split for different
parts of the group.

Total Passenger Non-passenger
revenue revenus ravenue
£m % %
UK Bus 922.4 49 51
UK Trains 8378 48 52
Mainland Eurcpe - Bus 860.5 21 79
Mainland Europe - Trains 421.5 35 64
Total 30422 38* 61
* Weighted avirage
Vigibility of contracted revenue
The arder book represents the expected future revenue
from pu'bl'lc transport c'o?t.r.acts already won by .the group. Group order book
By providing lorward visibility of a large proportion ot tuture
Tumn to the directors’

revenue, it helps to demonstrate the underying strength
and stability of the business.

11 tracks estimated future revenue from contracted business,
of over a year in duration, rolled forward to reflect contract
variations and updated o current prices at each year end.

The principal areas of the group where conftractual
arrangements prevail are the bus operations in London, italy,
the Netherlands and Scandinavia, and the rail operations in
the UK, Germany, the Netherlands and Scandinavia.

The other parts of the group, principally the UK regional
bus business and Portugal, operate under concessions,
licences or other commercial arrangements, and are

not included.

report on page 50
for more information
on Key Performance
Indicators (KPis)

Between 2007 and 2008, the group order book has grown
eight per cent to £12.9 billion.

The 30 per cent increase for the Mainland Europe division
inciudes an exchange rate impact. In local currency, the
Mainland Europe order book was maintained broadly at
2007 levels.

Tum to inside Amiva on
page & for the contract
and order book

information by country




The big picture

Key facts

» Three divisions p 43,500 employees
» 12 countries » One billion plus

} 15,000 buses passenger jourmneys

p 570 train sets ayear

Our strategic approach

Arriva is a large scale business, but never forgets to be local.
We understand when to think big and when to focus on the
detail. Our sources of competitive advantage are not easy
for others 1o replicate.

Our broad footprint in mainland Europe gives us practical
experience of operating successfully in many ditferent
commercial and regulatory regimes. Biinging together
experts from many regions and city-scale cperations into
one group supports innovation and hefps us to spread best
practice and identify economies of scale. We are thirsty for
knowledge and leaming, We run transport networks on the
ground, and learning networks within our orzganisation.

Qur wealth of local contacts and our netwerk of operating
and maintenance bases help us to develop existing
businesses and to develop new opportunities for the future.
By understanding each local market in depth we constantly
stay abreast of the evolving bigger picture of how our
markets are evolving across Europe.

Wa think long term, and build our market pesitions piece by
piece. We may start small, but our long-term aim is always
to be one of the top three private sector operators wherever
we work. Qur commercial focus is on winning and retaining
contracts and generating oiganic growth. In those activities
we use the expertise and experience gained from 10 years
of operating across Europe.

We strive for operational excellence. It makes our senices
atractive for our passengers. It rewards our tendering
authorities for their confidence in us. It makes our
employees proud of what they do for their communities.
It improves our reputation amongst our stakeholders.
Punctuality, reliability and serviceability are naturalty
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Ne DIg picture

desirable in themselves, but also underpin good financial
performance over time,

We keep our business balanced. Our operations include a
mixture of cash generative businesses in mature markets,
and growth businesses in opening markets. We depend on
no single mode of transport, on no single contract, on no
single source of revenue, and no single source of funding.

We have a broad range of stakehotders and aim to operate
in ways which benetit many different sets of stakeholder
interests,

» To our passengers, we aim to provide safe, reliable and
camfortable services that are an attractive alternative to
other modes of transport

» To our transport authority customers, we bring the
benefits of private sector delivery. We aim to provide
value for money for the services their communities rely
on, aftording them improved services and / or lower
public spending

» To our employees, we aim to provide worthwhile long-
term work, of recognised value to their own communities,
in a safe, suppornive working environment

b To the wicter community, in every city, region or country
where we operate, we aim 1o provide the social and
economic benefits of affordable, accessible travel, and
responsible management of the environmental impact
of transport

» To our investors, we aim to provide long-term growth in
earnings and dividends based on a varied porttolio of
business models, a mixture of contract sizes, types and
durations, a range of transport modes, and a broad
range of operating teritories

individually, each of our three divisions - Mainland Europe,
UK Trains and UK Bus - has attractive and distinctive
features, and is run by its own dedicated management
teamn under its own managing direcior. Taken together,

our three divisions form a blend of resilient market positions
and growth cpportunities.

Each country's bus and rail markets have their own distinct
characteristics, which is one reason why each of our city or
regional businesses is run by people who are part of the
communities they serve.

Tum to inside Arriva on
page 8 for the country
by country Information




Bus operating area

Assoclate company Barraqueiro's
cperating area




Inside Amiva

Nside Arrv

Our public transport services across 12 countries
span a wide range of operating environments,

in locations with varying market characteristics.
Here we give you an insight into those differing
operating environments and the role Arriva plays.

United Kingdom

Revenue
£1,760.2 million
{2007: £1,137.1 million)

Order book
£7.7 billion
(2007: £8.0 billion)

Buses
6,000

Train sets
217

Employees
23,300

Entered bus market
1980

Entered rail market
2000

Population
80.5 million

Liberalisation stage
Mature

In the UK, where our plc headquarters are based, we are
well known as one of the largest bus operators, and as an

operator of highly performing rail franchises.

UK Bus
The UK bus market has two different operating
environments:

UK Regions

Bus operating area
Train operating area

New contracts yet to start

relationship is direct with the customer, and we take full
revenue risk. Where there is deemed to be a social need
for sexvices, local authorilies may contract out services to
operators on routes that would not otherwise be
commercially viable.

Our UK Regions business represents about two-thirds of
the UK Bus division. It uns around 4,500 buses and has
a market share of approximately 15 per cent.

London

In London the bus market is regulated, and is contracted
out by the city's transport authority, Transport for Landon
(TfL). Contracts specify the required routes, vehicles and
timetables and are closely monitored to ensure high quality
services, with TiL bearing the revenue fisk under gross
cost contracts.

QOur London operations represent around cne-third of the
UK Bus division. We operate approximately 20 per cent of
this market, covering almost 65 million miles a year. Also in
London, we run The Original Tour, which provides sightseeing
tours of the capital.

Outside London, the UK bus market is deregulated, having
been privatised in the mid 1980s. Bus companies operate
on a commerciat basis, providing services where our

8 | Driving on Asriva plc Annual Report & Accounts 2008




UK Trains

The UK rail market is competilively tendered, with
companies bidding for franchises of set timescales and
service provision. UK rail franchises are generally rnuch
larger than their equivalents in mainland Europe.

Arriva currently operates two UK rail franchises:

CrossCountry

In November 2007 Arriva began operating a nine-year
franchise on the CrossCouniry netwaork, Geographically the
most extensive rail franchise in the UK, it stretches trom
Aberdeen to Penzance, and from Stansted to Cardiff,
covering around 1,500 route miles and calling at more than
100 stations.

At CrossCountry we operale under contract to the UK
government’s Department for Transport. Support payments
sleadily decline over the life of the franchise, reducing to
almost zero by the time the franchise comes to an end

in 2016.

Cur successful bid for the franchise included an innovative
programme of improvernents and benefits for travellers,
including a 35 per cent increase in seating capacity at
critical evening peak times on principal routes, with the
introduction of additional newty-refurbished trains, and the
refurbishment of existing roliing stock.

Amiva Trains Wales
Al Artiva Trains Wales {ATW), we operate under contract to
the Welsh Assembly Govemment.

We began operating the 15-year franchise in 2003, providing
inter-urban, rural and commuter passenger rail sendces
throughout Wales and the English border counties.

The ATW network, over 1,000 miles of track, stretches from
Manchester, through north and south Wales and across to
Birmingham and Gloucester.

Franchise suppor payments at ATW decline slightly
each year over the life of the franchise,

The future

In both the UK regitons and Londaon, we aim to maintain
our bus market share, whilst working to improve operational
performance.

I vail, we will be concentrating on maintaining and
impraving the excellent operational perfermance of our
two franchises.

Al CrossCountry, we will continue putting our plans into
action to add capacity by the end of the summer, and
improve the customer experence,

Al ATW we are continuing to work closely with the Welsh
Assembly Government to develop rail services, and will be
adding a new half hourly service between Merthyr Tydlil
and Cardift from May.




Inside Arriva continued

Germany Netherlands ;
Ravenus Revenue

£365.0 million {2007: £219.2 milion) £221.9 million (2007: £178.5 million)
Order book Order book

£1.6 billion (2007: £1.2 billion) £1.4 billion (2007: £1.2 bilion)
Buses Buses

1,000 930

Train sets Train sets

212 50

Employees Employees

3,200 2,500

Entered rail market Entered bus market

2004 1998

Entered bus market Entered rail market

2005 1999

Population Population

82.3 million 16.4 million

Liberalisation stage Liberalisation stage

Bus, emerging Bus, mature

Rail, mid-liberatisation Rail, emerging

Cross border service 1o the Netherlands
Cross border sarvice lo the Czech Republic
Cross border service o Austria

Germany is the largest European transport market, and we
are developing a network of bus and rail operations across
the country.

Bus

The highly regulated bus market is almost three times as
big as that of the UK. It is hugely fragmented and
dominated by public seclor companies, including
state-owned Deutsche Bahn (DB). Conditions differ widely
between the regions, and a substantial proportion of the
market is still closed, with the exception of the federal
state of Hesse which has decided on a programme to
tender all bus services by 2010.

Rail

The rail market is also dominated by DB, however 20 per cent
of the regional rail network has now been competitively
tendered by regional authorities, with arcund half of the
routes awarded going to the private sector.

The future

Economic pressures are increasingly driving the need for
market testing in Germany, With high state capital subsidies
due to end, private companies are becoming an increasingly
attractive option for the regional authorities. In rail, it is
expected that more short-distance passenger routes will be
put up for tender. There is much exciting potential for future
growth, in both bus and rail, in this emerging market.
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Cross border service to Germany

Bus

The 19 regional authorities in the Netherdlands have had
responsibility for public transport since January 2001 when
the Passenger Transport Act 2000 came into force.

The regional authorities are abliged {o organise public !
transport into concessions, which are periodically put out |
to open tender. Three big cities in the Netherlands, i
Amsterdam, Retterdam and the Hague, are yet to put

concessions out to tender.

The market is still dominated by formerly state-owned
Connexxion. Arriva is one of the three largest private bus
operators in the Netherlands, with approximately

20 per cent of the regional bus market.

Rail

Very little of the rail network has been competitively
tendered fo date, but as regional rai respensibility transfers
to regional authorities, this is due to increase. The rail
marke! is dominated by state-owned NS Rail, and Arriva is
the largest private operator.

The future

We will continue to build on our established position as one
of the leading private bus and rail operators in the
Netherlands. Having developed a strong reputation for
operational reliability and passenger growth, we are welt
placed to benefit from further liberatisation in this market.




Italy*

Revenue
£190.5 million (2007: £146.8 million)

Order boak
20.4 billion (2007: £0.4 billion)

Buses
1,940

Employees
2,550

Entered bus market
2002

Population
59.1 million

Liberalisation stage
Bus, emerging
Rail, yet to liberalise

* Including share
of associates

Bus
The public transport system in Itaty is highty subsidised with
low fares.

With competitive tendering yet to emerge fully, the situation
in ltaly remains diverse. The market is highly fragmented
with a large number of local operators, owned principally
by regions and municipaities.

Arriva is the largest wholly privately owned public transport
operator in ltaly, with approximately five per cent of the
bus market.

Rail

The responsibility for regionat rail networks is devolved to
local autharities, however early attempts at competitive
tendering have failed. The state-owned passenger rail
operator, Trenitatia, has an B3 per cent market share, with

26 region-owned operators sharing ihe remaining 17 per cent.

If, and when, competitive tendering commences in the rail
market, we will monitor any regional developments
with injerest.

The future

Successive changes in govemment have defayed the
liberalisation process. Nevertheless, we are constructively
working with municipal companies, and local and regional
authorities to find innovative transport solutions.

We continue to believe that further opening of the market
emains in the interests of the authorities, potentialty
tringing rmedium-term opportunities for Arriva.

1




Inside Arriva continued

Scandinavia

Revenue
£404.0 milion (2007: £270.2 million)

Order book
£1.6 billion (2007: £1.2 billion)

Denmark Sweden

Buses Buses

1,650 430

Train sets Train sets

47 30

Employses Employess

5.000 1,300

Entered bus market Entered bus market
1997 1899

Entered rail market Entered rail market
2003 2007

Population Poputaticn

5.4 million 9.1 million

Liberalisation stage
Bus, mature
Rail, mid-liberatisation

Liberalisation stage
Bus, mature
Rail, mid-liberalisation

Bus

The Danish bus markel is a mature regulated market.

Five Passenger Transport Authorities have the responsibility
for public transport services, including determining ticket
prices, timetables and contract duration in their regions.
Contracts are typically gross cost, of six years in length,
Quality and service incentives apply.

Aiva is the largest private sector public transport operator
in Denmark. Having acquired the Danish operations of
Veolia, the second largest bus operatov, in July 2007,

our bus market share is approximately 60 per cent in
Copenhagen and 50 per cent of the overall market.

Rall

The rail market was opened to public tendering in 2000.
Arriva became the first private company to be awarded a
rail franchise, operating 15 per cent of the regional network
from January 2003. The rail market is dominated by
state-owned DSB (Danish State Railways), which operales
contracts under direct award from the Ministry of Transport.

The future

Arriva has integrated the former Veolia operations well,
establishing scale in the bus markel. We are now focusing
on improving the quality of our contract porticlio, and are
successfully retaining contracts at improved prices.

It is expected that one-third of DSB's regicnal rail kifomeatres

will be competitively tendered in the next 10 years, and there
is potential that 25 per cent of DSB will be privatised in the
near future. Our expertence means we are well placed to
benedit from the increased levels of rail tendering expected
in this market.
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Bus

Competitive tendering is well established in the Swedish
bus market, after deregufation commenced in the 1980s.
Bus contracts are typically six years in length, gross cost, |
with quality incentives and bonus / penalty regimes.

Arriva has secured a market share of around four per cent,
mainty in the south of the country. In March 2009,

we became the first new market entrant in Stockholm in
10 years when we started operating buses in the
Swedish capital.

Rail

The rail market is dominated by the state-owned operalor,
Swedish Raitways. Regional rail contracts are typically
gross cost contracts of between thres and five years. Inter-
regional services tend to be net cost, with some awards of
between 10 and 15 years.

After entering the rail market in June 2007 with the nine-year
Pagétag contract in the Skéne region, we now have around
ning per cent of the short distance train market, by
kitometres operated. This will increase in June 2009 when
we start aperating between Géteborg and Orebro.

The future

Transport markets in Sweden have benefited from a
significant passenger increase over recent years, and
present a growih opportunity for both our bus and rail
businesses. We will be working hard to ensure our
operations make the most of this passenger growth and
will be looking to expand our bus operations and build
upon our rail presence in Swaden,



Inside Arriva continued

Iberia”

Revenue
£175.3 million (2007: £105.4 million)

Portugal Spain

Buses Buses

1,550 470

Train sets Employees

6 980

Employeas Entered bus market
3,160 1999

Entered bus market Population

2000 44.5 million
Population Liberalisation stage
10.6 million Bus, emerging

Liberalisation stage
Bus, mid-liberalisation
Rail, yet to liberalise

* Including share of associates

Barragueao operaling area
shown in yellow

Bus

The bus market in Portugal is a reguiated market in transition,
with no competitive tendering. Municipaliies are responsible
for allocating routes or transport service networks by
awarding exclusive concessions to independent operators,
or by delivering the services directly. The national
government is responsible for setting fares.

In addition to our Arriva operations, we have a 31.5 per cent
stake in Barraqueiro, Portugal’s largest bus and rail opesator.
Arriva is the third largest operator in the bus market.

Rall

Urban and regional rail services are cperated under
concessions allocated by the state, dominated by state-
owned Camboios de Portugal. The first and only private
company to hold a rall concession is Fertagus, owned by
Barraqueiro. Through Baraqueiro, we alsc have an interest
in the Metro Sul do Tejo tram operation, to the south

of Lisbon.

The future

Work is underway to alter the legislation in force for bus public
transport provision at a regional and national tevel.
Metropolitan transport authorities are in the process of
being established for the cities of Lisbon and Oporto.

There are na early signs of a move to competitive tendering
in the rail markel, but when changes do occur, we are well
placed to benefit through the established good reputation
of Ferlagus.
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Rail, yet to liberalise

Bus

The urban bus market is operated by privale and city-owned
companies, whilst the inter-urban and long-distance
concessions are operated by private companies.

Leng concessions have typically been granted,

with exclusive rights.

Traditicnally the bus market in Spain is diverse, with many
operators. A number of Jarger bus groups are emerging,
however the market remains fragmented with 4,000

plus small operators, including a iarge number of
family businesses.

In 2008, we more than doubled the number of buses we
operate in Spain with an acquisition in Madrid.

Rail

The rail passenger market is yet to liberalise, and is
dominated by state raitway companies, with funding
provided for loss-making regional and urban services.
There are no immediate plans to implement
competitive tendering.

The future

Many bus concessions with exclusive rights over tong
periods will expire over the next five years, bringing
opportunities for bidding tor these concessions. We have
focused on building a strong presence in the greater
Madrid area, and we are well placed to benefit from any
market developments.




Inside Arriva continued

Eastern Europe

Revenue
£37.9 million (2007: £7.4 million)

In July 2008 we entered the Hungarian and Slovakian
bus markets through the acquisition of 80 per cent of
Hungarian-based bus group Eurcbus.

Hungary Slovakia
Buses Buses

120 670
Employees Employaes
230 1,150
Emtered bus market Entered bus market
2008 2008
Paopulation Population
10,1 millicn 5.4 million
Liberalisation Liberalisation
stage stage

Yet to emerge

Bus

The naticnhal government is responsible far regionai public
transport provision, whilst municipalities are responsible

for local public fransport, and may provide this through
municipally-owned operators, New contracts may only be
awarded to an operator selected by a tendering procedure,
however contracis signed betore 2004 can remain in force

for eight years, so there is currently little tendering.
Regional services are primarily operated by the state-owned
Volan companies.

Rail

The Hungarian rail market has not yet opened to
liberalisation and remains dominated by state-owned service
providers. The rail market is not expected to open lo
competitive tendering in the near future.

The future
There is potential for city transport companies to introduce
tenders to operate bus services.

The Volan companies have commiited to sub-contracting
some of their services.
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Bus, mid-liberalisation
Rail, yet to emerge

Bus

Competitive tendering of contracts is not yet commeon
practice in Slovakia. City authorities are responsible for
public transport provision and funding. In some cities,
services are operated by city-owned companies, in other
areas services are typically provided by the local operators,
SADs, through public-interest contracts, with exclusive
rights of up to nine years. Arriva’s Eurobus business has a
60 per cent interest in two of these, SAD Novézamky and
SAD Michalovee.

Rall
Rail is operated by Slovak Railways, the stale monopoly
incumbent rail comparty. No rail privatisation has taken place.

The future
Privatisation is underway in the bus market, and will remain
a theme in coming years.

In rail, regional procurement is due to be devolved to
regional authorities in the coming years.




Eastern Europe

Czech Republic Poland
Buses Train sets
285 9
Employees Employees
430 75
Entered bus market Entered
2006 rail market
7
Population 200
10.2 million Population
Liberalisation stage 38.2 million
Emerging Liberalisation stage
Emerging
Bus Bus

Regional government controls route licensing and maxdmum
fares, and individual cities are respansible for urban public
transport and its funding. There is currently little competitive
tendering, and direct award of concessions is not
uncemmoan. There are around 250 bus companies
operating in the market, many of which are the inter-urban
CSAD companias that were formed in the 1990s as part
of the original privatisation process.

Rail

Regienal rail routes have been transierred to local
government and competitive tendering has recently started
in some regions, with the patential to expand in the mid

to near future. Rail in the Czech Republic is dominated
by state-owned CD, which has a 99 per cent share of

the market.

The future

There is a gradual move towards competitive bus tendering,
particularty in cities such as Prague where the market is
growing. We have built a position around Prague and are
well placed to grow as the market opens.

The government has committed to enhancing the role of
the private sector in the Czech Republic rail market. There
has been some market testing of passenger concessions
by regional and central government.

There are increasing instances of bus tendering and
sub-contracting in the larger towns and cities. The bus
market is divided between 167 publicly-owned companies
(PKS), providing rural, inter-urban and keng-distance
transpont, and around 140 municipal bus operators in lowns
and cities.

Rail

PKP SA, the state-owned railway company, dominates the
rail passenger market. After entering the market in
December 2007, with the start of a three-year rail franchise
in the north west of the country, the Arriva-PCC joint
venture is the only other company currently operating
tendered passenger rail services in Poland.

The tuture

There may be oppaortunities to grow in bus following the
government's announcement of its intention to privatise up
to 11 PKS companies during 2009,

Regional rail provison has been devolved to the regions,
polentially creating furiher opportunities in this markst.
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Chairman’s statement

Ralance

and stapility

A year ago | said | believed that Arriva's commercial success
during 2007 would be reflected in results during 2008
and beyond.

With significant growth in revenue, operating profii and
eamings in 2008, Amiva has delivered record results this year.
Behind the financial numbers is a pattern of continuing
strategic progress.

No company can regard ilself as insulated from upheaval in
the wotld economy, but the turmoil of 2008 has iluminated
several banefits of Arriva’s strategic position. The busingss
continues to be highly cash generative, and benefits from
structural stability and diversity provided by its three divisions,
UK Bus, UK Trains and Mainland Europe. Deriving a
significant portion of its revenue from its long-term confracted
base, it has relatively low exposure to fluctuations in
passenger revenue.

While current macro-economic conditions make it impossible
to predict with accuracy the short to mediurn-term trends
in passenger demand, they highlight the benefits of Amiva's
geographical and market diversity. With operations in

12 countries and a balance between bus and rail we do not
depend solely on the different economics of either mode of
transport. Our balance between consumer and govemment
business gives us an order book with long-term vigibility
of {uture revenues. Cur strong and predictable cash flows
support our ability to face the challenges of the macro-
eccnomic environment.

The first full year ot our CrossCountry franchise has, as
anticipated, transtormed our UK Trains division.
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Both of our rall franchises periormed well during 2008 with
satisfactory growth in passenger revenues.

With demand continuing o be healthy during 2008, our
UK Bus division has grown through increased passenger
numbers, increased contract mileage in London, and
acquisitions.

QOur extensive presence in maintand European countries
continugs 1o increase. Through acquisitions this year, we
have entered the Hungarian and Slovakian markets,
significantly developed our position in the greater Madrid
area, and reinforced our positions in Italy, Germany and
Portugal. We have re-won a number of significant contracts
and won a number of smaller new ones.

Far 2008, | am delighted to report substantial growth in
revenue, up 52 per cent to £3,042.2 million

(2007 £2,000.7 million) and operating profit up 34 per cent
to £171.8 million (2007; £128.0 million). Protit before taxation
was up 30 per cent to £150.0 miilion (2007: £115.8 million}.
Basic earnings per share belore goodwill impairment,
intangible asset amortisation and exceptional items,

our preferred measure, increased by 32 per cent to

61.5 pence (2007: 46.5 pence).

During 2008 we continued to invest in future growth. In 2009
we will make {urther disciplined capital investments in our
fleet to make gur existing business more attractive 1o our
customers, and in preparation for contract starts. We will
continue to invest in the talent and skills of our people,
through training and development, and by enabling them to
network acress the group to learn from each other.




Our strong and predictable cash flows

support our ability to face the challenges

of the macro-economic envircnment

We will also continue to invest in fong-term relationship building
with all our stakeholders. Economic adversity drives change,
and change creates opportunities. As those opportunities
start to emerge we will be ready to find new ways to create
value for our shareholders and for our customers.

The 'ong-term issues of urban congestion and the
sustainability of travel may appear less prominent while
economic uncertainty capturas the headlines, but they have
not gone away. Responsible stewardship of our business
and the environment gives us a mandate {0 make the best
possible use of fuels and other resources, and 1o continue
to innovate with alternative tuels, both in experimental trials
and increasingly in passenger service. It remains crucial to
maintain the environmental acvantages that well-managed
public transport can bring to society, and to provide Europe's
citizens with the mobility that is essential 1o our economic
and social needs. The need has never been greater to keep
people moving safely and sustainably, However working
patterns and the fortunes of different sectors of the economy
may fluctuate, those needs will continue to provide
oppartunities for the public transport industry te serve its
customers to mutual advantage.

The successes of 2008 are a solid base from which io take
advantage of future opportunities that emerge from economic
and market developments as they arise. The gioup’s
diversitied nature, balance of revenue sources, and healthy
order book are a strong basis for us to coniront the
challenges of the expected downiurn in the European
economy in 2008,

Tum to page 20 for the
chief executive's review

Over the last 12 months we increased our final 2007 and
interim 2008 dividends by 10 per cent, double the rate of
previous years, in anticipation of this year's increase in
earnings. For the 2008 final dividend, we propose to revert
to an increase of five per cent resulting in a payment of
17.91 pence per share. Combined with the interim
dividend of 6.15 pence per share paid in October 2008,
the proposed total dividend will be 24.06 pence per share,
an increase of 6.2 per cent for the year. The final dividend
will be paid on 1 May 2009 to all shareholders on the
register at close of business on 27 March 2009.

Anglie Risley, group human resources director,

Lloyds Banking Group pic, joins the Board on 9 March
as a non-executive director and my colleagues and

I extend a warm welcome to her.

Finally, | woutd like to place on record my appreciation,
and that of the Board, for the substantial contribulions
made to the company over many years by Veronica Palmer
and Steve Clayton who both retire following the conclusion
of the Annual General Meeting; we wish them well in

their retirements.

Sir Richard Broadbent
Chairman
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Chief executive’s review

Arriva made substantial progress towards achieving its
vision in 2008. Through the year we continued to drive on
determinedly into Europe to build our distinctive business.
Qur strength and stability entering 2009 are the resutt ot a
decade of pursuing our strategy, focusing the group tightly
on the epportunities in public transport.

We value highly our unique position in the European public
transport market. We benefit from diversification by
geography and market, and have an atiractive balance
between government and passenger revenues. These
advantages may have become more apparent over the last
12 months, but such positions are not achieved overnight,
and our journey continues. During 2008 we consolidated
and developed our leading position across 12 countries,
Ihrough integration and improvement of past acquisitions,
further targeted acquisitions and investments and the start
of new contracts. Built up through a disciplined, patient
process of market entries, organic contract wins and
carefully targeted acquisitions, our European business
represents the benefits of more than a decads of learning
and expertise,

Divisional results

Dnving on

Public transport is a long-term business with deep roots.
Even against the current background ol economic
downturn and financial sector crisis, atiractive, integrated
public transport networks are increasingly seen as a
kingpin for long-term prosperity, all over Europe,
Whilst there are clear historic links between economic
activity and demand for the services our industry provides,
transport is also an enabler of growth. Recession presents
challenges for every part of the economy, transpon
included. It also provides strong motives for fresh thinking,
and opportunities for accelerated change.

During 2008 our acknowledged operational proficiency
continued to pay off, with reliability, punctuality and guality
of service across the group at high levels overall, We will
continue 1o focus on improving the everyday deliverables
that underpin today's custorner salisfaction and tomomow's
business opportunities. Ouwr three divisions delivered well
tor their passengers and transport autherity custormers and
the business as a whole has demonstrated significant
growth for shareholders.

Revenue Operating profit
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m fm £m
Mainland Europe* 1,394.6 9275 785 64.5
UK Bus 922.4 814.7 993 87.9
UK Trains 837.8 3224 337 75
Central - - {18.8) (t7.1)
3,154.8 20646 192.7 142.8

Associated companies

- Maintand Europe (112.6) (63.9) 8.9) (7.4)
Total operations 3,042.2 2,000.7 183.8 135.4
Goodwill impairment and intangible asset amonisation - - (12.0) (7.4}
Group revenue and operating profit 3,042.2 20007 1718 128.0

* inclucing shase of associaled companies’ ravenue and operating profit
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Mainiand Europe

Qur Mainland Eurcpe division recorded another year of
double-digit growth. Operating profit rose 22 per cent o

£78.5 million (2007; £64.5 million), on revenue up 50 per

cent at £1,394 6 million (2007 £827.5 million).

The exchange rate used to translate euro results was £0.81
to the euro, with sterling 19 per cent weaker than last year.

There was a mixed performance from our mainland Europe
businesses. In 2008, our llalian and Scandinavian
businesses traded particularly well, however during the year
we dealt with a number of unconnected challenges in other
areas which collettively held back growth in aperating
profits. These included a strike in the Netherlands, some
challenging results from rail contract starts in Germany,

and higher fuel costs in our Portuguese associate.

The order book for the division, reflecting estimated revenue
aver the life of contracted business based on prices at the
2008 year end, was up 30 per cent to £5.2 billion

[2007: £4.0 billion), although in local currency it was
maintained broadly at 2007 levels. Contract wins in the year
for new business were lower than in previous years,

though the retention level of existing contracts was

highly satistactory.

Our strength and stability entering
2009 are the result of a decade of pursuing
our strategy, focusing the group tightly on
the opportunities in public transport

Scandinavia

Scandinavia revenuse was £404.0 million (2007: £270.2
million). tn local currency, revenue was up 24 per cent,
reflecting the acquisition ol loss making Veolia Benmark in
August 2007, and a full year of rail operations in Sweden.

We are pleased with the progress made in the integration of
Veolia Benmark and are particularly encouraged to see
signs of more sensible pricing in the bus market in the core
Copenhagen area, where we have retained former Veclia
contracts at improved prices. Having established scale in
the market, our strategy in Denmark will focus on
continuing to improve the quality of our contract portfolio.

The Jutland rail contract, which expires at the end of 2010,
is currently being retendered and we believe our credentials
as the top-performing rail operator in Denmark will help in
our endeavours to retain the contract, Adecision is due to
be made shortly.

On 1 March 2009, we began bus operalions in the Swedish
capital, Stockholm, with two five-year bus contracts,

with five-year extension options and a combined flest of
164 buses.
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Chief executive's review continued

Germany

Revenue at our German operations was £365.0 million
{2007: £219.2 million}. In local currency, revenue was up
41 per cent reflecting the start or first full year of a number
of new rail contracts, and the first full year impact of
Osthanngversche Eisenbahnen AG (OHE).

Lower Saxony-based subsidiary OHE started two rail
operations in December 2007, and these are operating welt
one year on. in southern Germany we completed the first
full year of gperations at two new 10-year rail franchises,
started in December 2007. Mobilisation of two franchises in
Bavaria proved more challenging than expected, and we
have taken steps to improve operations. In December 2008,
we started gperating the 10-year Spree-Neisse rail contract
in the east of the country, as part of the 50/50 ODEG

joint venture.

In November 2008, we acquired a small bus company in
eastern Germany, operating 79 buses and we have recently
expanded our position in Frankfurt, starting three bus
contracts in and around the city, adding mere than 60 buses.

The Netherlands
Revenue was £221.9 million (2007: £178.5 million), In local
currency, revenue was up five per cent.

In a challenging year for our Netherlands business, a three-
way national dispute between the public transport companies,
public transport authorities and trades unions over collective
labour agreements and indexation on contracts (particularly
indexation relating to fuel and labour costs) caused major
disruption across the country. Disappointingly, despite an
agreement being reached in June, the fuel indexation
element has yet to be finally agreed and received and a new
working agreement has yet to be established. The disruption
cost more than O § million. In addition, the business has as
yet been unable to reflect fue! indexation recovery in its
results. We are confident of resolving these issues in 2009.

More positively, at our DAV operations in the central
Dordrecht region, a & 30 million (£26 million} investment
saw the intreduction of seven new electric trains in
September 2008, with a further three trains due to be
&dded during 2011. In addition to the DAV contract we
ordered seven diesel trains 1o operate in north Holland,
which are due for delivery in 2009 and 2010.
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Haly

Qur Italian business had an excellent year, with revenue rising
to £190.5 million (2007: £146.8 million). In local currency,
revenue, including share of associates, was up 10 per cent,

We have continued our strategy of increasing investrnent in
existing subsidiary and associate companies aver time.

In January 2008, we increased our holding in SAIA Trasporti
Capital, a bus operator in the Brescia area, by acquiring the
rernaining 12 per cent of the company. In October 2008,

we purchased the remaining 20 per cent interest in Sadem
S.p.A and its subsidiary Sapav S.p.A, bus companies in
the Piemonte region, taking our ownership to 100 per cent.

Successive changes in government have delayed the
lineralisation process, which is disappointing in one
respect, but paradoxically, in the shert term, reinforces our
position as one of the incumbent operators. Nevertheless,
we continue to believe that further opening of the market
remains in the long-term interests of the authorities as well
as presenting long-term opportunities for Arriva.

We welcomed the passing of the lalian Budget Law which
brought a further three-year commitment to state funding
for public transport provision.

[beria

Operations in Portugal and Spain reported revenus,
including share of associates, of £175.3 million

(2007 £105.4 million). In local currengy, the increase was
41 per cent, primarity reflecting our increased stake in
associate company Barraqueiro, in which wae acquired a
further 10 per cent in January 2008, taking our overall
interest to 31.5 per cent. Our results were adversely
affected by state regulated fare increases lagging fuel price
increases, and by some weakaning in patronage in the
run-up to Christmas.

In Spain, we further expanded our strategic position in the
busy Madrid transport market with the acquisition of
Empresa de Blas y Cia S.L. (De Blas) in July 2008. De Blas
is one of the largest contractors ta the Madrid transport
authority, operating 222 buses. Included in these results is
revenue of 026.8 million (£22.2 million) and operating profit
ot 10 3.6 million (£3.0 million) from De Blas.

Eastern Europe

Revenue from the Czech Republic and Poland rase 159 per
cent to £19.2 million (2007: £7.4 million), reflacting the lirst
{ull year of Polish rail operations and the two Czech bus
companies acquired in 2007. Hungary and Slovakia
contributed a further £18.7 million from the acquisition of
Eurobus Invest (Eurobus) in July, taking revenue for Eastem
Eurcpe to £37.9 miffion.

Our three bus operations in the Prague area of the Czech
Republic are now managed by a central Arriva team,
and are making good progress. The Polich rail gperation
made a small loss.




Chief executive’s review continued

UK Bus

Our UK Bus division has continued o grow, and a robust
operating performance was reflected in operating profit up
13 per cent to £99.3 miflion {2007: £87.9 million), on revenue
of £922.4 million (2007: £814.7 million), up 13 per cent.
Marging were maintained at 10.8 per cent.

Growth in the division was driven by increased passenger
numbers in the regions and increased contract mileage in
London, with a contribution from the acquisition of bus,
coach and airside passenger transport operator, Tellings
Golden Miller Group (TGM), in January 2008, and the Excel
Group in April 2008. Included in these results is revenue of
£48.7 million and operating profit of £2.0 miltion from
these acquisitions.

UK Regions

In additign tc ongoing cost control, our teams continue to
focus on network development, matching senvices to demand,
and using a range of marketing initiatives to stimulate
passenger growth on key corridors. In 2008 patronage
increased by approximately two per cent, including the effects
of the extended concessionary fare scheme.

Investment in fleet renewal continues. We added more than
460 new buses in 2008, and plan 1o put approximately 500
more new buses into service during 2009, improving the
passenger experience and representing a total investment
of more than £130 million.

We continue to develop new technologies and were pleased
to be the first UK bus operator to introduce a mobile ticketing
trial on our Fastrack services in Kent. The trial proved
successiul and in 2009 we will roll out mobile ticketing across
other services in Kent and Yorkshire. We have also initiated
an LED display trial using colour digitat displays on the
outside of buses to provide customers with informaticn on
services, fares, destinations and promotions.
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Cost control and responsible environmental stewardship
are continuing areas of focus. Building on successiul trials,
we have continued to roll out driving aid technotogy which,
combined with driver training, is helping o reduce fuel
consumption. Further deployment is planned during 2009.

We were pleased lo see improved customer satisfaction in
our annual survey, based on interviews with 20,000 customers.
91 per cent were satisfied overall and 86 per cent of
customers stated that they would recommend our services
to others, Wa are working to improve this yet further,

London

Arriva continues to be one of the largest bus operators in
London, running around 20 per cent of the capital's buses,
with annual mileage of almost 65 million mifes. 1n 2008,
year-on-year mileage growth of five per cent was achieved.
An excellent level of contract retention was maintained for
all work retendered in 2008. In panticular, we were pleased
to retain the high profile route 38, on which the substitution
ot double deckers ior articulated buses has added

24 per cent to the contracted mileage.

Street works continue to disrupt services, particularty in
Arriva's north London hearland and around Brixton in the
south, but the business has done well to mitigate this
impact, and punctuality remains high.

The Qriginal Tour continues to perform well, benefiting from
a rise in London tourists in 2008, and the new Trafalgar
Square visitor centre which opened in August 2007.



UK Trains

Our UK Tiains division, which operates Arriva Trains Wales
and CrossCountry, delivered significant growth in both
franchises. Operating profit for the division rose by

349 per cent to £33.7 million (2007: £7.5 million),

on revenue up by 160 per cent to £837.8 million

(2007: £322.4 million), reflecting the first full year of
operating the CrossCountry franchise.

In November 2008, we acquired frain maintenance company
LNWR and its maintenance depot in Crewe, for £2.2 million,
The Crewe depot is a leading facility for servicing electric
and diesel trains on the West Coast Main Line, with clienis
including Bombardier, Siemens, Freightliner and

Arriva Trains Wales.

CrossCountry

The CrossCountry franchise, which we started in November
2007, performed well. Passenger revenus for CrossCountry
was up 11.2 per cent for the year ended 31 December 2008,
on the equivalent services in 2007, based on estimated
like-for-like passenger revenues far the remapped
franchise, slowing slightly in the fourth quarter of the year.

The franchise is operating efficiently, and improved

consistently over the year. The Public Performance
Measure (PPM}) for the year ended 31 December 2008,
based on the percentage of franchised passenger trains
arriving at their destination within 10 minutes of schedule,
increased to 89.6 per cent, from 86.3 per cent in 2007,

Developments within the CrossCountry franchise are well
under way. All five refurbished High Speed Trains are now in
service and refurbishment of the 57 Yoyagers has slarted,
adding around 4,000 seats to our {lest. We are well on track
toincrease capacily by 35 per cent at peak periods

during 2009,

In December, CrossCountry became the UK's first train
operator to offer e-tickets nationwide, enabling customers
to purchase and print tickels at home, by 6.00 pm the day
before departure. Plans to introduce mobite phone based
ticketing are well advanced. Passengers will soon be able
lo access live train times, and book train tickets and seats
via their mobile phones.

Turn to the directors’
report on page 50 for
more Information on KPls

Arriva Trains Wales

Patronage continued to grow at Arriva Trains Wales, and
passenger revenue was up 10.9 per cent for the year
ended 31 December 2008.

Arriva Trains Wales® strong operational record

continues, with PPM showing 92.5 per cent of
services arriving at their destination within five minutes ot
schedule, up from 91.8 per cent in 2007, making Arriva
Trains Wales ane of the highest performing train operators
in the UK.

In February, Arriva Trains Wales started operating passenger
rail services on the newly re-opened Ebbw Valley Raitway
for the first time in 40 years, providing more than a hundred
services a week to Cardift. The line has proven to be very
popular, with 11,000 passengers per week.

December 2008 saw the implementation of a new
timetabls, delivering major enhancements to services,
particularly in mid and north Wales with the extension of
services to Birmingham International Airport. A new, faster,
North South Premier Class service was also introduced in
December 2008, delivering journey time improvements
between north and south Wales, and adding a First Class
service for the first time on the Arriva Trains Wales network.

tn 2009, Arriva Trains Wales will continue to work closely
with the Welsh Assembly Government to devetop rail
services in Wales and the border regions, including,
fram May 2009, the addition of a new half hourly service
between Merthyr Tydfil and Cardiff.
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Chief executive's review continued

Qutlook

In the medium and long term. Ammiva’s strategic opportunities
rermain clear and the outiook for the business is positive.

As we have previously reporied, 2009 presenis the challange
of a significant increase in the cost of fue), falling mainly on
UK Bus and some mainland Europe businesses which do
not have fuel indexation protection. We anticipate that the
year-on-year impact of fuel cost increases across the group
will be approximately £60 million in 2009, Fuel fixes for 2010,
already in place for approximately 65 per cent of anticipated
consumption, are at &n average price of 35.7 pence per
litre compared wilh an average of 42.9 pence for 2009,
recovering about half the increase.

The effects of recessionary conditions in Europe are
uncertain, but are likely to affect each of our three divisions
in different ways.

In our UK Trains division, the scheduled support payments
in relation to our CrossCountry franchise reduce over the
life of the franchise. To maintain 2008 levels of profitability,
against that background, CrossCountry needs to continue
to achieve passenger revenue growth of arqund 10 per
cent in 2009, from a 2008 base of £319 million. Revenue
protection applies to the franchise from 2011. Passenger
revenue has continued to grow in recent weeks, despite the
etfects of bad weather and network disruption, though at a
slower rate than in 2008.

The characteristics of our Arriva Trains Wales iranchise
make it more resilient to econemic downturn. Most of its
revenue consists of a stable stream of support payments
based on social need and its economic sensitivity to
tiuctuations in passenger revenue is therefore modest.

tn our UK Bus division, the London-based business, about
one-third of the ghision by revenue, has no exposure to
passenger revenues, and has an excellent record of contract
retention. In the deregulated UK Regicns business,
expenence of previous recessions suggests that overall
demand for bus travel may be relatively resitient. The flexible
commercial nature of the business in any event enables it
to match supply to the level of demand. Our position is
reinforced by substantiat investment in new fleet during
2008 and 2009, helping to improve the attractiveness and
marketability of our services.
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In our Mainland Europe division, less than 30 per cent of
2008 revenue was from passengers, reflecting the
dominant contracted model of bus and rail provision in
mainland European countries. The overwhelming majority
of contracts have steady or increasing profiles of support
payments. The Spanish and Portuguese bus markets have
some characteristics in common with the UK regional bus
market, being principally driven by passenger revenues.
Overall in the division there is some sensitivity to passenger
revenue fluctuations but we anticipate that our investments
in acquisitions and tender wins will go some way to
mitigating the effects of recession.

Further ahead, Arriva continues to be well positioned for
growth with a proven strategy and a growing market share
in a huge European public transport market.

Whilst recession presents challenges in the short term, it also
presents opportunities. All recessions take their toll on the
weakest businesses with the strong surviving 1o take
advantage of long-term growth when economic
circumstances improve. Already in our Scandinavian bus
businesses we are seeing contract prices recover lrom
artificially depressed levels following the exit of a major
competitor which was unable to sustain its position.

The long-term social need for public transpont remains
beyond dispute. EU regulation provides a clear road map
10 hundreds of millions of euros of business coming out to
tender across Eurcpe by 2018. Further market opening is
thereby built into the agendas of governments and public
authorities, who are also highly motivated to find ways of
achieving better value for money.

Agriva's unique strategy and business model remain
attractive, with considerable opportunity tor growth and
great determination to achieve it. The group continues

to be highly cash generative, well diversified and strategically
focused onits long-term goals.

David Martin
Chief executive

Tum to page 28
for the
financial review




Financial review

eview

Progress in the developmenit of the group was reflected in
record financial resulls and substantial growth in 2008,
However, the year also saw unprecedenied volatility in
financial markets. In many of the countries in which we
operate, economic growth has given way 1o recession.

This review of the financial results and position of the group
therefore takes place against a significantly different
economic background to that of a year ago. Nevertheless,
our diversilted portfolio of operations and our financial
strength continue to limit the impact of adverse external
tactors on the group and its prospects, and position us to
take advantage of opportunities as Europe's economies
come out of economic downturn.

Group income statement

Revenue was over £3 billion for the first ime, at £3,042.2
million (2007: £2,000.7 million}, reflecting strong growth
across all three divisions, in particular in the UK Trains
division, which benefited from the results of the first full
year of the CrossCouniry rail franchise.

Operating profit grew 34 per cent to £171.8 million from
£128.0 million. Operating profit before goadwill impaiment
and intangible asset amortisation, our preferred internal
measure, was up 36 per cent to £183.8 million

{2007: £135.4 million}. The operating results reflect a strong
performance across the group, the impact of CrossCountry
and the £10.6 million effect of translating the results ot
mainland Europe from euro to sterling at an average rate of
£0.81 to the eurc compared to £0.68 to the euro in 2007.
Our policy of fixing fuel costs at least 12 months in advance
largety negated the impact of higher prices for fuel in the
group’s subsidiaries.

The share of post lax prolits from associales increased to
£4.4 million from £4.3 million. The impact of increasing our
21.5 per cent holding in Bamaqueiro to 31.5 per cent in
January was largely offset by the adverse impact of higher
fuel costs in that business. The net finance coast {or the year
was higher at £26.2 million (2007; £16.5 million) as a resutt
of increased debt arising from acquisitions and investments,
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-Inancla

higher borrowing costs, and the £6.6 million impact of
translating euro-based interest costs into sterling at a higher
rate than in the previous year,

Profit befare taxation thereby increased to £150.0 million
{2007: £115.8 million). The change to UK tax rules in respect
of Industrial Buildings Allowances has resufted in an
exceptional deferred tax charge, in 2008, of £7.7 million,
increasing the taxation charge to £38.8 million

(2007 £25.8 million). The underlying efiective rate of tax,
excluding this exceptionat item, has tallen from 22.3 per cent
10 20.7 per cent. This rate of tax remains lower than the
standard rate in the UK primarily due to the release of
provisions for taxation, in respect of prior years, no longer
required and the recognition of previously unrecognised {ax
assets. Profit for the year increased to £111.2 million
(2007: £90.0 million).

After taking account of minority interests, principally

in our ltalian, German and eastern European
subsidiaries, earnings per share, excluding goodwill
impairment, intangible asset amortisation and exceptional
items, increased significantly by 32 per cent to 61.5 pence
(2007: 46.5 pence). Basic eamings per share was
52.6 pence (2007: 43.5 pence). The net impact of the
year-on-year change in the average euro / sterling exchange
rate was a benefit of 1.3 pence per share.

Cash flow

EBITDA increased by 33 per cent to £330.4 million

(2007: £249.2 million} reflecting the substantial growth in
the group's activities, A working capital inflow of £3.6 million
(2007: outflow £1.0 million) contributed to net cash
generated trom operations tor the year of £334.0 million,
up 35 per cent {2007 £248.2 million).

There was a significant increase in investment for the future.
Net capital expenditure was £244.8 million, compared to
£145.2 million in 2007, whilst expenditure on acquisitions,
including the absorption of net debt, in 2008 was £218.7
million {2007 £73.5 million).

Turn {0 the directors’
report on page 50 for
more inforrnation on KPis




The increase in capital expenditure was mainly due to the
introduction of more than 460 new vehicles in UK Regions,
further bus and rail expansion in mainland Europe, and the
impact of translating mainland Europe expenditure into
sterling at a highers rate than previous years,

In January we acquired TGM, followed by the Excel Group
in April for a combined consideration, incleding net debt
acquired, of £36.7 million. Goodwill on the acquisitions
amounted to £15.9 million. Also in January, we acquired an
additionat 10 per cent holding in Barraqueiro for 0 50
million (£37.4 milion}, with goodwill on the acquisiticn
armounting to £38.4 million. In July we acquired De Blas for
[1118.1 miflion (£93.6 million), inctuding net debt acquired,
and also completed the acquisition of 80 per cent of
Eurobus for £39.8 million including net debt acquired.
Goodwill on the acquisitions amounted to £52.8 million and
£23.1 million respectively. Expenditure, on the same basis,
on other smaller acquisitions in Germany, ltaly and the UK,
was £11.2 million, with goodwill of £8.9 million arising.

Interest and dividend payments absorbed £78.1 million
(2007: £59.4 million), whilst there were net corporation tax
receipts during the year of £16.9 million (2007 payrments
£5 4 million). New shares issued on exercise of share
options generated £0.2 million (2007: £1.3 million).

...our cash generation has grown
substantially, remains strong and provides
the foundation for investment in the
business and returns to shareholders

There was a significant increase in net debt to £823.4
million (2007: £448.5 million). This reflected the increased
acquisition and investment activity and the £184.4 million
impact of transtating overseas debt into sterling at £0.97
to the euro (2007: £0.73 to the eurp), steriing having
weakened considerably in the final weeks of the year.

Treasury and financlal risk management

The group’s financial risks are managed by the group
treasury function in accordance with a farmal Board-
approved treasury policy. The policy sels a range of formal
targets for managing the group’s exposure to fuel prices,
interest rate changes and foreign currency movements.
These targets are achieved through the use of forward fuel
price fixes, interest rate and exchange rate swaps,

and fixed rate finance.
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Financia! review continued

Commodity risk

The group's general policy is to maintain fue! price fixes at
least 12 months ahead on a rolling basis. The requirement
{o fix fuel is determined after taking into account the extent
to which businesses are protected irom fuel price volatility
through contract price indexation. Following the award of
tha CrossCountry contract in 2007, a fuel fix was putin
place covering 75 per cent of the anticipated 100 rnillion
litres annual fue! usage cf the contract up to its expiry.
The group’s forward fixing of fue! (excluding Barraqueiro
which has its own arrangements) for 2009 and 2010, at
24 February 2009, compared with 2008, was:

2008 2009 2010

% % %
Protected by indexation
arrangements 123 138 138
Forward purchased* 813 853 64.7
Subject to spot or
future forward purchase 6.4 09 215

100.0 100.0 100.0

Fixed price* 295 42.9 35.7
pence  pence  pence

* Average price per litre of forward purchased fuel, excluding fuel 1axation and
delvery

During 2008, the torward price of fuel was both relatively high
and volatile, peaking in the summaer, With forward tixes
undertaken against this background, fuel costs {excluding
fuel taxation) will increase in 2009 by approximately £60 million
on & like-for-like basis. Fuel costs will decrease substantialty
in 2010 if current prices in the market are maintained.
The total fuel consumption in 2008 was approximately
500 million litres.

Interest rate risk

Fluctuations ininterest rates are managed by interest rate
swaps and the use of fixed rate debt. Actual hedged debt
at 31 December 2008 was 71 per cent. The target leve! of
hedged debt is 80 per cent of group net debt, achieved
within a banding of 65 per cent to 95 per cent of net debt,
which allows for the impact of shon-term variations arising
from the fair value of interest rate hedging instruments.
Hedged debt for this purpose representis fixed rate finance
and swaps with over one year's duration.

Foraign currency risk

The group policy on foreign exchange exposure is that the
risk to equity of translating non-UK assets and liabilities into
sterling should be reduced to around 50 per cent of the
balance sheel exposure. At 31 December 2008, the
exposure was 26 per cent of non-UK assets. The risk is
managed through the use of funding in local currencies
and by entering into foreign currency swaps of durations up
to three yeers. The majority of such swaps also encompass
fixed inferest rates, thus also providing interest rate protection
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between EURIBOR, LIBOR and CIBOR. The group also
enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge
specific cash flows arising with overseas suppliers. The {air
value of the group's cross currency swaps and foreign
exchange forward contracts at 31 December 2008 isa
liability of £90.6 miltion (2007: £23.1 million). The policy was
amended in December 2008, from the previous policy of
reducing the risk to equity to insignificant fevels. Whilst
increasing the risk to equity, the new policy will reduce the
risk of sterling denominated facilities being eroded by
increases in the sterling value of euro borrowings drawn

on those facilities.

Credit rigk

Credit rigk arising from operational suppliers and custorners
is managed at a local level and is subjed! to periodic reviews
by central management and the group's internal audit
function. Credit limits are in place for customers, many of
which are local authorities or local transport authorities. Due
to the nature of certain contractual arrangements,
particularly where the agreement and settlement of
allocations of passenger revenues between multiple service
providers can take more than one year to complete, cerain
customer debts can often exceed one year before settlement.
This is common, and the incidence of impairment of such
debt is both rare and immaterial. The group also manages
its exposure to debit risk in respect of financial institutions
that provide credit to the group, and operational suppliers
and customers. The group nominates and approves banks
and lease providers with whom it will deal. All group
companies are required to bank with nominated banks.

Liquidity rigk

In addition to daily local monitaring, the liquidity of the group
is monitored fortnightly, via group net debt reports showing
the level of drawdown compared to available facilities for all
components of net debt, and monthly against forecasts
and budget. Future liquidity Is monitered through detailed
15-maonth cash lorecasts prepared monthly, and through
forecasts for each financial year, updated approximately
quarterly throughout the year. At a strategic level, long-term
liquidity is assessed as part of the five-year strategic
planning process, which is updated annually. These reviews
support compliance with group policy, which is to maintain
an average weighted maturity of hedged debt of at least

18 months at any pointin time, and to maintain a 12 months
in advance, foreseeable lavel of unutilised available facilities
of over £100 million. At 31 December 2008, hedged debt
maturity was 22 months (2007: 19 months). Headroom on
committed tacilities was approximately £258 million

(2007: €470 million} as set out in the table included in the
borrowing facilities section » page 32.




Capital risk

The group monitors its capital risk on a continuous basis o
ensure that, having regard ta the anticipated and possible
future requirements, sufficient capital exists to fund
operations and provide returns o shareholders, and that
the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) of the group
is optimised. There are a number of alternative methods of
caleulating WACC and variations caused by operating in
different markets in Europe. Our cument assessment is that
the group WACC is around eight per cent, Recent volatility
in the capital markets has made calculation of the WACC
more subjective but these calculations will continue to be
updated as the long-term impact of the credit crunch
becomes more evident.

Capital structure

Total shareholders’ equity was £682.5 million

{2007: £710.2 million) at the end of the year. Retained
profits cantributed £38.4 million to group distributable
reserves, Actuarial losses on retirement benefits reduced

equity by £51.2 million whitst the fair value of derivatives
caused a reduction of £66.5 million. The value of derivatives
has fluctuated considerably over the year and, at the year
end, was signiticantly impacted by the fall in value of stering
against the euro. Gearing for the group at 31 December 2008
was 115 per cent (2007: 61 per cent}. The 2008 interest
cover (the ratio of EBITDA to net finance costs) was

13 times (2007: 15 times).

The ratio of year end net debt to EBITDA was 2.5 times
{2007: 1.8 times). This ratio was inflated at the year end by
euro debt being translated at £0.97 to the euro, and euro-
based EBITDA being translated at £0.81 to the euro.
Translating euro-based EBITDA at the year end exchange
rate adjusts the ratio to 2.3 times. Arriva rernains comfortably
within the financial covenants set by its lenders, the principal
covenants being that the ratio of EBITDA to net finance costs
is not less than 3:1 and the ratio of net debt to EBITDA is
not mare than 3.5:1.
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Financial review continued

Borrowing facilities

The group's principal borrowing facility is the £615 million,
five-year, revolving credit facility agreement, signed In
Auguslt 2007 with a group of leading European banks.

Much of the group’s bus fleet is financed on medium-term
hire purchase or finance lease arrangements, typically three
to five years in length. As part of the UK rail franchising
arrangements, the group has provided guarantees of

£47 million. The rolling stock of the UK, Netherlands, Danish
and German rail businesses that is provided through

operating leases has annual commitments of approximatety
£133 million. All material commitments will cease on expiry
of the franchises. Bonds amounting to £31 million have been
provided in respect of the Netherlands, Danish and German

raif businesses. Letters of credit amounting to £11 million are
provided as part of the group’s UK insurance arrangements.

The group's working capital and ancillary requirements
are mainly provided by our principal bankers and
reviewed annually.

The group's facilities at 31 December 2008, and their maturity and drawdown ase set out in the table balow:

Facility Maturity Lirnit Drawn Headroom

£m £m £m
Syndicated revolving credit facility 2012 615 435 180
Amortising facilities to 2024 LYy 460 17
Term facilities to 2011 104 43 61
Committed facilities 1,196 938 258
Uncommitted facililies 94 33 61
As at 31 December 2008 1,290 a7 319
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Amortising facilities include £372 million drawn on a secured
asset backed basis. The £460 million drawn on amortising
facilities includes £116 million repayable within one year,
£110 million repayable between one and two years,

£166 million repayable between two and five years and
£68 million repayable over five years. Term facilities include
£11 miflion repayable within one year. £80 million of
amortising asset backad finance has been raised since the
year end.

Group net debt of £6823 million comprises the drawdown of
£971 million in the table opposite, and cash balances of
£148 million.

The principal sources of credit to the group have been the
banking markets of the UK and mainland Eurcpe. Whilst
this may remain the preterred option, a reduction in liquidity
1o the corporate sector from these sources may cause the
group o consider other sources of debt finance in future.

Retirement benefit obligations

At 31 December 2008, total liabilities in respect of retirement
benefit obligations increased to £120.1 million

(2007: £73.7 million). The retirement benefit obligations in
respect of the Arriva Trains Wales and CrossCountry
sections of the Railways Pension Scheme are £11.7 million
(2007 £4.0 milion) and £19.3 million (2007: £8.0 million)
respectively. The overall increase in the group obligation
was primarily due to a tall in the value of equities, partialty
offset by higher long-term interest rates used to discount
liabilities and a reassessment of expected montality rates.
The related deferred tax asset recognised in the balance
sheet was £27.0 million (2007 £17.3 mitlion).

Tum to the directors®
report on page 50 for more
Information on KPls

Return on Capital Employed

The financial return obtained from the capital

employed by the group is a key measure of financial
performance, and is monitored monthly. The definition of
Return on Capital Employed (ROCE} used by the group
is the last 12 months' operating profit, before goadwill
impairment and intangible asset amortisation {excluding the
impact of pension finance charges or credits), expressed
as a percentage of the weighted moenthly average total
tangible assets less liabilities (excluding borrowings, deferred
tax liabilities and retiremment benefit obligations) ignering
derivatives, The ROCE on this basis for 2008, reported in
the group's December 2008 management accounts,
was 17.9 par cent (2007: 16.7 per cent),

Financial summary
The consequences cf financial volatility and economic
uncertainty tor the group are likely 10 be mixed.

Distress in the banking market has reduced general liquidity
and may inctease the marginal cost of tinance for Arriva,
but also affects our competitors. There will be a significant
increase in fuel costs in 2009 but a substantial proportion of
this increase is expected 1o be temporary with fuel already
being fixed for 2010 at lower prices. Importantly however,
our cash generation has grown substantially, remaing strong
and provides the foundation for invesiment in the business
and retums 1o shareholders. The strongest companies will
emerge from the economic dewnturn with competitive
advantage and a robust position from which to develop their
businesses. We believe Arriva has the qualities to be one of
those companies.

Steve Lonsdale
Group finance director



Principal risks and uncertainties

Principal risks
and uncertainties

The Board recognises that every business activity brings
with it a degree of risk and that Arriva must therefore
manage a range of risks in the course of its activities.
We conduct an annual impact assessment to review the
scale and probability of the principal risks to the business.

As part of the ongoing programme of risk assessment and
management, the following actual and potential risks have
been identified as those which the directors befieve could
have a material impact on the long-term value generation of
the group. The factors described below are not intended to
torm a definitive list of all risks and uncertainties.

1. Market risks

Changes in national public transport budgets

A considerable propertion of the group’s income is derived
directly ar indirectly from national public transport budgets.
Changes in these budgets can have positive or negative
impacts on the group's prospects. The group continues to
maonitor national public transpont budgetary policies in the
countries where it cperates, and ensures it is strategically
aware in order o understand possible changes, be in a
position to influence them, and react in a timely tashion.

2. Operational risks

Meeting heaith, safety and environmental standards

The Board recognises the imponance to the business, as a
public ransport operator, of maintaining high standards
and the consequences of failing to do so. A safety
committee of the Board oversees the group's health and
safety policy and the arrangements for its implementation
and reporting. The Arriva environmental management
system helds a senior manager accountable in each
business. Monitoring of ervironmental performance is
carried out by a corporate responsibility commnittee which
includes senior representatives ol all group businesses
and reports to the group's executive committee.

For more information see corporate responsibility
section» pages 36 to 47.
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3. Commaercial risks

Uncertainty over the impact of recession and economic
volatility in the UK and mainland Europe

The uncertainty over the impact of the recession and the
current economic volatility affects the group's ability to
make accurate predictions of passenger demand for bus
and rail services. To manage the risk, we are closely
monitoring patronage and profitability in addition to the
established budgeting and forecasting processes. We will
put into effect such remedial action as is practicable if
significant reductions become appareni.

One of the most significant sets of assumptions in
constructing a franchise bid relates to general economic
faciors prevailing. Ariiva's balanced portiolio of operations,
between bus and rall, and between ditierent countries,
minimises its exposure to any downtumn in individual market
sectors. The revenue risk associated with any potential loss
of consumer demand from the traveliing public is mitigated
by the substantial proportion of the group’s revenues which
flows from non-passenger sources. For more information
see the how we work section > page 5.

Most tendered net cost contracts require the operator to
deliver specified services whilst retaining the income from
passengers. In contracts where passenger income
represents a significan! proportion of total revenue, the
group is exposed to the risk of passenger revenue being
higher or lower than anticipated. For more information see
the how we work section » page 4. Historically, passenger
revenue growth is highly carrelated with growth in local
economies. Our UK CrossCountry rall contract is a
particularly large contract with these characteristics.

Amriva is committed 1o reducing government financial
support on this franchise to almost zero before the end of
the franchise in 2016. To deliver anticipated returns,

over eight per cent annual revenue growth in real terms
will be required, a considerable proportion of which is
dependent on economic growth, The financial risk is
partialty mitigated by a revenue risk sharing mechanisim
in the contract, which takes eftect from 2011.



The principal financial arrangements are:

Percentage shortfall Revenue
on target revenue suppor
0-2% Nil
2-6% 50%
6% and higher 80%

These risk mitigating factors are mimroted when targeted
revenue is exceeded.

Throughout the franchise, revenue support may also be
available if the dominant cause of a qualitying revenue
shorttall is a ‘Force Majewre’ event, such as severe flooding.

Availability of finance during turbulence in financial markets
Recent turbulence in financial markets has impacted the
amount and price of credit available to companies,

It current conditions in the banking market endure for a
protanged period of years, a reduction in available finance
at sensible margins could restrict capital expenditure and
investment in acquisitions, reducing the short-term growth
prospects for the business. The group's available facilities at
31 December 2008 are set out in the financial review

™ page 32, and are adequate for the foreseeable future.

Franchise / tender / acquisition costing

and revenug forecasting

Errors or inaccurate assumptions in tenders or acquisitions
represent a risk to the business. A number of procedures
are in place {o mitigate this risk.

The Board monitors alf material new franchise, tender and
acquisition submissions across the group's operations,
whilst the executive directors review other bids on an
ongoing basis in line with defegated authority limits.
Standard tender models are in use across the business.
Significant bus and train tender contracts are compared
with current experience to identify weaknesses and
potential improvernents in the tender process.
Post-investment appraisals are carried out through quarterly
business review meetings.

Acquisitions

Arriva has clearly-defined guidelines for due diligence work
and internal reporting on poteatial acquisitions, which
require the monitoring of such items by the executive
directors subject to delegated authority limits. Sale and
purchase agreements include price adjustment
mechanisms and warranties, as appropriate.

4. Financial risks

As noted in the financiat review, the group’s financial risks
are managed by the group treasury function in accordance
with a formal Board approved treasury policy.

Interest rate risk
Fluctuations in interest rates are managed through the use
of interest rate derivatives and the level of fixed rate debt.

Comemadity risk

The group's fuel hedging policy reduces the potential
disruptive effect of short-term fluctuations in the cost of fuel
and provides time to manage the business effectively in the
light of longer-term price trends. It is set out in detail in the
financial review.

Currency risk

Exchange rate variations, principatly between stering and
the euro, affect the reported amounts of suro-based profits
and assets, and also the group's overall [evel of net debt,
The financial review provides more details on these
eftects during 2008. The group policy on foreign exchange
exposure is that the risk of translating non-UK assets and
liabilities into sterling should be reduced to around S0 per
cent of the balance sheet expasure.

For more details on the above thres items see the financial
review > page 30.

Retirernent benefit obligations

Increased retirement benelit obligations may require
additional contributions to be made by companies to state
or other schemes. Such contributions could have a material
impact on the group. We perform regufar pension strategy
reviews with the group's pension advisors, and monitor
developments in group pension schemes and state
schemes where we operata,

5. Other risks

Changes in transport legislation and / or regulation

This is a risk that faces Arriva in every country in which
it operates.

The group has procedures in place to ensure effective
liaison with appropriate officials at national and European
Unien levels, and monitors developments for timely
reporting t¢ senior management.

Inthe UK, the Local Transport Act has received Royal
Assent. The gavernment is also considering amendments
to the Bus Service Operators Grant (BSOG). These planned
and potential changes coutd have a significant impact on
the UK bus industry. Arrive, alongside cther UK bus
operatars, is menitoring the development of legislation in
this area and representing the best long-term interests of
the industry and its customers.

Succession planning for key managerial positions

Arriva is a fast-growing company in many markets.

The group has a stable senior management population but
an inability to fill a significant proportion of senior vacancies
could have an adversa impact on the group's future
development. An executive development programme and a
succession planning process are in place at alt loecations,
as is a process for idenlifying emerging home-grown
management talent.
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Corporate responsibility

Every day across Eurape millions of people rely on Ariva to
get them o work, school and college; to visit friends and
tamily; to access public services; to go shopping and to
have fun. Our buses, trains and lerries are essential
senvices operaled by people who live in the communities
they serve.

Qur social impact falls under four main themes.

1. Safety — how we minimise risk for our passengers
and employees

2. Community — how Arriva plays an active rofe in the
areas in which we work

3. People - how we work 10 engage ang empower the
people running our sevices

4. Environment - how we measure and mitgate the
impact of our operations
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Vioving forwaro
‘esponsiply

Policies which set out the way we do business are
published in the corporate responsibility section of the
group website, www.arriva.co.uk. The principles are
explained in a new Code of Business Conduct to which all
our employees are expected to adhere,

Arriva's corporate responsibility committee, which
includes senior managers from all three operational
divisions, guides the group’s approach. Chairmanship of
the committee will pass to Bob Molland, managing
director of our UK Trains division, on the retirement of
executive directer Steve Clayton in April 2009.

Well-managed public transport is vital tor the wider
sustainability of the societies in which we live and work.
We work with stakeholders, including trans-national,
naticnal and local gavernment bodies across Europe,

to achieve our shared aims: providing essential services
and minimising any adverse effecls.




1. Safety

The safety of our customers and employees is our primary
concern. It is at the core of our values and is built in to our
operating procedures.

The salety performance of our services across Eurcpe are
regularly reviewed by the Board Satety Committee. During
2008 the committee was chaired by non-executive direcior
Veranica Palmer who retires in April 2009 and will be
replaced by non-executive director Steve Williams.

Our appreach to safety management includes specific
training for senior ocperational managers, employees and
supervisory staff, Much of the training is externally
accredited by the Institute of Occupational Safety and
Health (IOSH}, Europe's leading body for health and
salety professionals. We are also recognised as being
one of the leaders in road risk management in the UK bus
and coach industry.

We provide employees with training inciuding, where
appropriate, a safe approach to driving, customer care
and conflict management, Operational locations are
subject to periodic internal safety and standards audits.

In the UK in 2008 the first time pass rate for Arriva buses
in the VOSA PSV vehicle test was §4.5 per cent,
an improvement from 83.2 per cent in 2007.

Fault incidents per 100,000 km

A faull incident is where our ciriver or the condition of our vehicle,
contributes to a loss, damage or injury,

Tumn to the directors’
repodt on page 50 for more
information on KPls

Employee injuries per 100 employed

An emplgyes injury is where any person employed 9y the cormparty {af the lime
of the incident) sufferad physicas harm or menlal travma as a result of an incident
anising from Arriva work activily. nol including physical assautts.

Snapshots from 2008
Putting safety first

» To enhance the safety and security of our
employees and passengers, 81 per cent of our
UK buses are now fitted with CCTV systems,
up from 66 per cent at the end of 2007

» In Longdon we produced a DVD to highlight known
bus accident blackspots, with tips on dafensive
driving. {t has now been incorporated into training
for new drivers and ongoing refresher training

» In north east England, a record of five years’
continusus improvement won us fwo gold awards
from the Royal Society for the Prevention of
Accidents (RoSPA) for Occupational Health and
Management of Road Risk

» In Wales we ran an eye-caiching superhero
campaign, backed by RoSPA, to improve safety
on trains and at raitway stations and to combat
anti-social behaviour

b In ltaly, travelling safely was a key theme in summer
waorkshops which intreduced many families to bus
use for the first ime
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Corporate responsibility continued

2. Community

Refiable services are essential to the communities we serve.
A key measure Is the proportion of our planned mileage
that we operate. In 2008, we managed 1o impiove on an
already strong performance of 89.1 per cent in 2007,

with 99.2 per cent of the 649 million scheduled miles
operated (excluding the impact of traffic congestion in our
London cperation).

Tumn to the directors’
report on page 50 for more
information on KPIs

Scheduled mileage operated

We and our employees support community organisations,
including charities, schoals, neighbourhood groups and

sports clubs. Young people and their safety, education and
traning are at the core of many of our community activities.
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Sarah Czyrko, from our CrossCouniry rail
opetation in the UK, spent a week in Cornwall
helping disadvantaged youngsters have a holiday
of a litetime. She was working as avolunteer with
CrossCountry's adopted charity - Country
Holidays for Inner City Kids (CHICKS).
CrossCountry provides free rail travel to
underprivileged children visiting the CHICKS
holiday centres. The charily also receives donations
from CrossCountry employees through a variety
of fundraising activities.

Sargh supported the youngsters as they tried out
games, outdoor activities and crafts, which many
of them would never experience wilhout help from
CHICKS and its supporters.



Snapshots from 2008
Making a difference

» Inthe UK we support many of our employees’
community activities with financial donations and
publicity. In 2008 more than 25 awards from the
Arniva Community Action Awards scheme helped
organisations including hospices, charities,
sports clubs and community groups

w

Two employees were recegnised with special
awards for their outstanding contributions. In July
2008 Liverpaol bus driver Torn Gannon completed a
200 mile, five-day, sponsored walk for the Rhys
Jones Memorial Cup Trust, to raise funds fora
community centre in memory of the murdered
schoolboy. Joy Lynes of Ariva Trains Wales was
recognised for her outstanding fundraising for St
Michae!'s Hospice, Hereford. Since 2000 Joy has
raised over £42,000 for the hospice which cared for
her niece as she battled cancer

» In Scotland, Arriva donated a vehicle for use as a
community youth bus in conjunction with
Renfrewshire Council, the YMCA, and police and fire
services to help combat vandalism and anti-social
behaviour

v

Work by our SAF business to support literacy among
young people continued in ttaly’s Medic Fruili region,
with the provision of a 'story bus’ which transporis
children to local libraries and on which they can
fisten to stories

» Our work to promote health awareness in Liverpool,
through the Healthy Schools Bus project with Everton
Football Ctub and the city council tock a new step
forward with the introduction of a second bus. Inits
first 18 months the first Heatthy Schools Bus made
over 250 school visits and helped more than 8,000
primary school children increase their understanding
of the benefits of healthy eating and an active lifestyle

h 4

Through our mermbership of the Prince's Trust
Get Intc Raitways group, we work with other rall
industry crganisations to support training and
employment gpportunities. Support for young
people in 2008 included backing for offshore
rawers, netballers and a social and foctball club for
young people with leamning disabilities in Wales

» Asriva Trains Wales gained national recognition for
work with young offenders in making environmental
improvernents at five stations, while our Platforrm for Art
initiative invotved schoolchildren in producing
murals at stations, helping 1o generate
community pride

»

w

Across the UK, Arriva's Getting to Schoof pack has
now been used by more than 250 schools.

The pack, created alongside education experts and
teachers, is a curriculum linked resource for teachers
of seven to 11-year-olds. It includes a range of
activities supporting maths, science and social
and environmental awareness - all with a bus
travel theme

In Germany, more than 1,000 pecple got a cleser
look at Arriva Deutschland's ODBEG raif business
when the company invited neighbours to an open
day at its Eberswalde workshop. Local charities also
benefited from an auction of lost property

Concern for the community also runs beyond the
immediate neighbourhood. In Italy, our SAB business
provided a bus fo support 10 drivers giving up pait
of their holiday to help builc and refurbish a series
of orphanages in the Ukraine — an inittative the drivers
have supported for a number of years. Likewise in
Mallorca, our involvement boosted a campaign to
raise awareness of malnutrition in Africa

Improving accessibility to our senvices for people
with restricted mobility has progressed. In the UK
the proportton of accessible low floor vehicles in our
UK bus fleet increased to 74 per cent in 2008 from
67 per cent in 2007, and will improve further as a
result of our 2009 investment plans

Our CrossCountry rail franchise, which does not
operate any of the stalions at which its trains call,
has introduced a service 1o help those who need
assistance, for mobility or other reasons, in getting
on and off trains, wherever they are travelling

39




Corporate responsibility continued

Customer gatigfaction

Feedback on the experience of our passengers in using our
services s vital to ensuring we meet their requirements for
security, reliability and good value,

Across the group, from Scandinavia to Portugal, we have
been listening to whal our customers think about our
senvices and working to improve the experience of travelling
with Asriva.

At our suggestion, we have been the first operator in
Scandinavia to have customer satistaction measures
included in our contracts in both Sweden and Denmark.

In December 2008 passengers on Arriva's Danish trains
recorded an all ime high satisfaction rating of 80.2 per cent.
On our buses in the Greater Coperhagen area average
satisfaction in 2008 was 80.6 per cent, up slightly on 2007,

In Sweden passengers on most of our bus services
recorded higher levels of satistaction, with ratings ranging
from 71 per cent to 83 per cent. On aur Swedish trains
passenger satisfaction was 67 per cent, up two percentage
paints on the previous year.
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Arriva's TST business in Portugal saw passenger
satisfaction increase 19 per cent from 2007 to 2008
(from 55.4 to 66.0 per cant) with 97 per cent of custorners
intending to continue using the service and 95 per cent
happy to recommend to family and friends.

In the UK the latest survey by official representative body
Passenger Focus saw 86 per cent of Ariva Trains Wales
passengers rating services satisfactory or good, while
CrossCountry scored 84 per ¢ent - both higher than the
national average.

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Public
Performance Measure (PPM) which measures punctuality
was 92.5 per cent for Arriva Trains Wales, up from 91.8 per
cent in 2007. For CrossCountry, the 2008 PPM increased to
89.6 per cent, from 86.3 per cent in 2007 (based on best like-
for-Ike estimates for the remapped franchise).

In 2008 through the GIK NOP market research group we
surveyed almost 20,000 UK bus passengers, maintaining
the 91 per cent satisfaction rating recorded in 2007.

The business continues to strive te improve on this
excellent performance.




3. People

Arriva’s 43,500 employees {including share of associate
companies) in 12 countries represent a diverse range of
backgrounds and cultures, and make us a significant
employer in many areas.

Qur aim is to provide a supportive, respectiul working
environment in which all receive the training and )
development that will enable them to {ulfi their

true potential,

Employee tumover

Annualsed employes turnover excludes employees leaving as a
congequance of tender loss or sale ol operations.

While increasing slightly in 2008, employee tumover is not
uncommon for the transport industry.

Employee non-attendance

Industrial action affecting Dutch bus operators contributed

to an increase in non-attendance in 2008.

Our approach to training and development includes
providing a wide range of learning rescurces covering
technical skills, health and safety, customer service, people
management and foreign languages. Our leaders,
managers and supenvisors are critical in ensuring our
employees’ welfare and we invest heavily in their training
and development. Succession planning and individually
tailored development plans halp us bulld and retain the
skills which will help move the business forward.

We work hard to develop partnerships with our employees,
trades unions and warks councils. Employee surveys and
regular communications such as company newsletters,
open forums, road shows and websites, help us to listen to
our employees. The majority of our workforce Is covered by
collective arangements on working conditions and we
make provision for employee representatives (o receive
appropriate training and fulfil official union business. Arriva's
European Works Council provides a formal group-wide update
on operations and business performance for employee
representatives. It is also a valuable opportunity for sharing
best-practice and visiting operations in other countries.

A whistleblowing facility enables employees to raise any
Serious concems in completa confidence if they believe
malpractice is occurring, health and szafety standards are
being compromised, or in instances of victimisation,
discrimination or harassment. The facility was cited as an
example of best practice in PwC's Best Practice in Comorate
Governance Reporting publication in December 2008.

Arriva's graduate development programme involves a
series of hands-on work placements and an opportunity to
expetience Arfiva's operations away from the trainee's
home country. Graduates are encouraged to build networks
with their colieagues in ather countries and are mentored
by senior managers. The 18-month scheme now has
graduates from Denmark, Germany, ltaly, the Netherands,
Portugal, Sweden and the UK. Over three years 48 graduates
have been recruited with a retention rate of 80 per cent.

Tumn to the directors’ report
on page 50 for more
information on KPis

M




Corporate responsibility continued

Graduate programme drives career forward

Former graduate trainee Kim Purcell has become the
youngest, and first female, bus depot manager for Arriva
in notth east England. At 24-years-old, the business and
marketing graduate took on responsibility for 175 drivers
and 15 office and clerical staff at Stockton-on-Tees.

Kim started the graduate programme at the company’s
Biyth depot which included working as a bus driver.
She then worked at Arriva North East's head office gaining

Snapshots from 2008
Skilled and dedicated people

» The company’s commitment to management
development was recognised at the UK's inaugural
Passenger Transport Management Awards where
Arriva peopie took five of the 10 top awards.
Former graduate trainee James Higtett, now
assistant engineering manager at Arriva Southern
Counties, was one of three named Young
Passenger Transport Professionals of the Year.
Arriva's director of transpert policy development
Tony Depledge was given a Lifetime Achievement
award for his contribution to the public transport
industry, while Geraint Morgan, Arriva Trains Wales'
community affairs manager was singled out for
recognition with the Industry Ambassador award.
Auriva Yorkshire's Chloe Leach won the Marketeer
of the Year tille, and Mike Topping of Arriva Narth
West was named an Unsung Hero for dedication
over a career spanning almost 50 years

p Arriva’s UK Bus business embraced the new driver
Certificate of Professional Competence, with a
group of new drivers completing the qualification on
the day it was introduced
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operational, commercial and MR skills and operational
experience as deputy manager at the Stackton depot.

Kim said: "l hadn't considered a career in transport untit

| saw the diversity of the graduate programme and Arriva's
business. It was a very intense 18 months and incredibly
valuable working in lots of different roles. It's also important
for my team to know | understand what it is like being a

bus driver.”

» In the 2008 Rait Staff Awards, CrossCountry's
Catriona Whitehead was awarded the Station Staif
of the Year award for assisting a stranded passenger
in her own time. £dinburgh-based Catriona won the
prestigious award atfter coming top of a poll voted
for by colleagues from across the industry

» Arriva Midlands graduate trainee Andrew Grierson
won national recognition with a £1,500 award from
the UK bus industry’s Chris Moyes Scholarship Trust
to progress his study of access te and from airports



4. Environment

Qur aim is for well planned and well run public transport
networks to create a virtuous circte. If more people are
encouraged to use buses and trains, reduced congestion
on our roads can in turn help the smooth operation of
public transport, thereby improving its attractiveness.

A beneficial by-product of reduced congestion is the more
efficient use of fue! and reduced emissions.

Alongside our efforts to minimnise the environmental impact
of our operations we are working to increase genesal
awareness of the environmental credentials of public
transport and encourage its use.

This growing awareness was illustrated in our 2008 survey
of almost 20,000 bus passengers in the UK where

42 per cent of respondenis said they had changed their
travel patterns to use the bus more. Of those, 61 per cent
cited enviranmental considerations as the sole or a
contributory reason tor doing so.

Greenhouse gas footprint

In 2008 Arriva sel itself a challenge of reducing its
greenhouse gas emissions foctprint by 15 per cent,
like-for-like, from the 2006 level, by 2012,

The main focus in addressing this challenge is addressing
the emissions from vehicle fuel, which was respansible for
94.6 per cent of our greenhouse gas footprint in 2008.

In addition, programmaes are being implemented to improve
the carbon-efficiency of our depols and ather facilities.

We are adopting a twin-pronged approach in reducing the
impact of transport fuel. We are using technology and
training to help bus and train drivers to improve fuel
consumption, and increasing our use of allernative fuels
which have alower carbon impact than traditionat diesel.

In order to deliver the overall reduction, these measures
have to ofiset the increased fuel consumption of newer
buses and trains, which has been a side eftect of improving
local air quality, and increased vehicle weights resulting
fram enhanced passenger comiort and safety.

For example, we estimate new buses introduced in the UK
increased fuel consumption in 2008 by 1,456,000 litres,
repiesenting 3,892 tonnes of CO; equivalent (CO3E).

Arriva's greenhouse gas target was set against the
background of European Union aims to have biofuels make
up 10 per cent of transport fue! by 2020 with some countries
aiming for even higher use. Since Arriva published its
targets the debate regarding the sustainability of biofuels
has intensified and a further EU review is currently
underway. Clarity on the policy approach regarding the
viability and sustainability of various alternative fuels would
assist in the longer-term planning of greenhouse gas
reduction strategies.

In 2008 the greenhouse gas emissions atibutabie to Amiva's
business operations amounted to 1,488,878 tonnes COZE,
an increase In absolute terms of 438,880 tonnes COZE
on 2007, This increase reflects the significant additional
services run by Arriva during 2008, particularty a full year of
operations for the CrossCountry rail franchise in the UK and
new bus businesses acquired in the UK, Spain, Hungary
and Slovakia,

One of the challenges of reporting greenhouse gas
emissions is finding a consistentty workable means of
‘normalising' the absolute figure for emissions, i.e. enabling
stakeholders to compare changes in the absolute CO2E
{igure against changes in the overall scale of the business.
The chart below shows Arriva’s greenhouse gas foctprint
nomnalised against group revenue for the past three years.
In order to strip out the effects of inflation, which tend to
flaiter the rate of progress, the right-hand bar for each
reported year depicts a ‘real terms’ comparison, with
greenhouse gas emissions divided by group revenue
adjusted by changes in the sterling retail price index.

Total greenhouse gas emissions

Normalised greenhouse
gas emissions




Corporate responsibility continued

For the last three years Arriva has submitted returns to the
Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) - an independent
not-for-profit organisation which holds the largest database
of corporate climate change information in the world.
Arriva's COP returns are avaitable at www.cdproject.net.

Alternative tuels

Given the finite and diminishing reserves of fossil oil,
Arriva has a keen interest in vehicle prapulsion systems
which may power our buses and trains in a post-diese! age.
Different propulsion systems may well be suited 1o different
geographical regions and paolitical environments.

For instance, in places with abundant renewable electric
power from hydroelectric schemes, gecthermal wind or
wave power, electric propulsion will be high on the agenda.
Ethanol derived from wood cellulose is only likely o be
appropriate in heavily forested regions where the raw
material is both accessible and renewable.

Manufacturers of buses propelled by hybrid diesel / electric
motors estimate fuel savings of 30 per cent with a resultant
reduction in COz emissions in comparisan to a bus
powered by fossil diesel.

While the technology and economics of diesel / electric
hybrid propulsion are yet to be fully proven, Ariva has been
active in trials of the first hybrid double decker in London.
This prototype has covered 10,000 miles providing a
valuable leaming ground for the technology. Five second
generation sertes hybrid vehicles which followed began
service with Arriva London in February 2008.

In addition six new buses equippead with a parallel hybrid
system, where both the diese! and electric motors can
directly drive the iransmission, are being introduced to the
Arriva London fleet from March 2009,

Further experience of hybrid technology has been gained
from our trial on park-and-ride services in West Sussex and
in Copenhagen where in 2008 we were awarded a contract
1o operate a fleet of 11 electic buses in the city centre.

Arriva has gained a wide range of experience in the
appiication of biofuels in diftering operating environments
with varied climatic and network conditions. The adoption
of biofuels has suppored pubfic policy objectives of
regional, national and intemational institulions which in
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some countries include commercial incentives to adopt
altemnative fuels. A significant increase in the deployment of
biofuels would be dependent on consistently supportive
public policy regimes.

In Germany, Arriva has experience of running modem trains
with 100 per cent biodiesel dating back to 2004. In the Berlin
area the conversion of 25 trains to run on B100 biodiesel
has delivered an annual saving of 5,900 tonnes of CO»,
while at our operation in narth eastern Germany 32 trains
running on B10Q biodiesel deliver an annual saving of 8,300
tonnes of CO2 compared to mineral diesel.

Inthe UK, the diesel we use to run our bus fleet has a five
per cent biofuel content and in Portugal we have 240 buses
running on B30 biodiesel, a blend of 30 per ¢cent biofue!
and 70 per cent mineral diesel. We are also increasing our
use of bictuel for buses in Germany where more than
two-thirds of our bus fuel Is now B100.

in southern Sweden, Arriva is using bio-gas produced by a
landill tacility mext to our Helsingborg dapot to fuel a fleet of
61 buses, thereby reducing the impact on tossil oll
reserves. In Dordrecht, in the Netherlands, Arriva is set lo
introduce buses fuelled by bio-methane gas generated
from sewage waste.

In March 2009 Arriva introduced 43 new buses fuelled by
E95 bic-ethancl, derived from sugars cane, other crops and
waste wood cellulose, to our fleet in Stockholm.

The use of compressed natural gas (CNG) and tiquid
propane gas (LPG) reciuce the carbon monoxide, nitrous
oxides, particulates and hydrocarbons emissions
significantly, compared to diesel-powered buses.

In Scandinavia, Ariva is using CNG and LPG in various
urban operating areas, while in Trutnov in the Czech
Republic our Osnado business is operating buses fuelled
by CNG.

In Italy, Arriva continues to deploy an emulsifiec diesel with
10 per cent water content, where engine technology
permits, on older vehicles. This reduces particulate
emissions by over 50 per cent, nitrogen oxides by five o six
per cent, and carbon monoxide by over 30 per cent.
Improving the emissions of older vehicles is important due
to the long life of buses compared to cars. Their longer
lilespan makes good use of the energy, materials and other
natural resources used in construction.

In the Dutch region of Groningen / Drenthe Astiva
introduced 10 buses to operate on the busiest routes in
Groningen fuelled on gas produced from domestic waste,
while in the Friesland / Leeuwarden region Asriva has 23
buses running on CNG.



Eco-driving
The way buses and trains are driven has a big impact on
fuel consumption and exhaust emissions.

Over the last 18 months Asrive has developed a bespoke
system known as Eco-rnanager which, combined with driver
training, is helping our drivers to improve fuel efficiency.
Passenger research a'so poinis to improved customer
satistaction as a resull of smoother acceleration and
braking. The system includes a real lims display to prompt
the driving techniques covered in the raining.

The system's 'black box’ produces detailed reports
enabling comparison between different vehicles on the
same route, different driving styles in the same vehicle and
a particular vehicle type's performance on different routes,

Training begins with a video presentation and a coaching
session 1o become familiar with the system. Each month
the recard for each driver shows their performance against
the depot average and the best performing driver. Eco-trainers
are available to give individual training for those who need
the most support.

During 2008 the trial was widened to 500 vehicles, and
inclicated an overall {uel saving of 12 per cent. Based on
this, and an assumption of fuel economy improvements ol
five 10 10 per cent in normal operating conditions, Auriva
has committed to roll out the system and training across its

UK regional bus operations. While being installed in all
driver-training vehicles in the UK, Eco-manager is being fitted
to all our new buses in the UK and refro-fitted 1o a further
1,400 buses during 2009, In all, mora than 2,000 of our UK
vehicles are set to have Eco-manager by the end of 2009.

Equivalent technology is in use on Asriva trains in Bavaria,
and at our TST bus business in Portugal we are extending
the use of an alternative system developed with industrial
and academic parners which has delivered benefits in part
of the fleet.

Many other fuel saving and emissions-control initiatives are
being built inio good engineering, servicing and operaticnal
practice. Even those with modest effects can help the

big picture.

Arriva's investment in new vehicles continues to increase
the proportion of buses and trains which meet the more
recent environmenial standards. Since 1992 the European
Union has introduced a series of emission standards
setting the permitted levels of exhaust pollutants for new
vehicles. The maximum limits for carbon monoxide,
hydrocarbons, nitrous oxides and particulate matter
emissions defined in the standards from Eure | in 1992
through io Eure V in 2008 have become progressively
lower with each phase of the standard.
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Corporate responsibility continued

Vehicla by engine type (%)
Bus Train

2008 2007 2008 2007
Euro | 11.4 13.6 0.3 0.4
Euro Il 346 36.1 55.3 64.3
Euro il 296 31.3 6.1 3.4
Euro IV 88 4.0 4.5 5.0
Euro V 1.8 1.8 - -
EEV 2.5 1.4 09 -
Non Euro class 8.4 9.3 25,5 26.0
Other 29 25 7.4 09
Mileage split by engine type (%)

Bus Train

2008 2007 2008 2007
Euro | 11.6 14.6 01 0.3
Euroll 333 5.5 722 53.9
Euro (i 35.7 366 4.2 6.5
Euro IV 7.0 27 0.1 4.4
Euro v 1.4 07 2.9 -
EEV 2.4 0.4 0.1 -
Non Euro ¢lass B.1 7.6 18.0 33.4
Other 28 19 2.4 1.5

Fuel consumption plays a significant part in the selection of
the makes and models of new buses we select. The range
of fuel performance can be more than 20 per cent between
similar models. We continue 1o work with vehicle manufacturers
to reduce vehicle weight and improve fuel consumption
where possible. However, sometimes this is offset by other
factors. For axample, the Eure V1 emissions standard, due
for introduction in 2014, will further improve urban air quality,
bui may in itself increase fuel consumption.

The majority of waste handled by our businesses is that left
by passengers on our trains and buses, Across the group
we employ waste contractors whose operations include waste
separation, recycling and energy generation from waste.

Arriva employees have embraced recycling policies at the
group head office, and marwy other tocations across the
group, and are separating most types of general waste from
office environments for recycling.
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Snapshots from 2008
Promoting greener travel choices

» Arriva has been encouraging people to think
ebout the impact of their journeys and making
the case for modal shift from private to
public transport

b In Liverpool, Ariva's Green way to Liverpool Cne
marketing campaign set out to get people 1o use
buses serving the city's new flagship shopping
cenire. The promotion highlighted benefits to the
local environment and easing of congestion,
leading to reduced vehicle emissions

» In recognition of increasing environmental and
social awareness among travellers, Arriva Trains
Wales has introduced an online calculator to
compare the COz emissions of a rail journey
compared to travelfling by car. A range of *Fair Trade’
products has been introduced to Amiva Traing
Wales' catering services

» Environmental themes were also a key pant of
Arriva Scandinavia's [ Jove my bus marketing
campaign which also focused on punctuality and
customer service

b In Spain, Arriva Noroeste was awarded the iSO
14001 environmental management standard and
150 9001 quality management certification in
2008. Our new Spanish business, De Blas,
achieved renewal of its ISO 9001 and 14001
certification as well as implementation of EMAS,
the European Eco-Management and
Audit Scheme

» Inthe Lisbon area TST held an inter-schools
painting competition. TST's environmentally friendly
bus caroon mascot ‘Buzinas’ inspired children to
paint pictures about transport and the ernvironment.
Winning designs were adopted ior use on
TST buses

Energy and water management

The COz lrom vehicte fuel may be the largest part of
Arriva's environmental impact but we also work hard to
minimise other impacts.

One of Arriva’s ltalian companies, SAF, put environmental
considerations to the forefront in the design of its new head
office in Udine. A photovoltaic plant has been included to
hamess solar energy, and vehicle washing equipment that
recycles water.

Wind turbines were commissioned at the Arriva Trains
Wales Machynlleth depot and TST's Moita depot in Portugal
during 2008. The turbine at Machynlleth runs alongside
solar-powered domestic water heating, energy efficient
lighting, and rainwater harvesting systems.

The new headqguarters for our CrossCountry rail franchise in
the UK is equipped with energy-saving equipment including
motion-sensitive lighting, waste segregation and recycling
arrangements, and water-efficient toilets.

In London, a comprehensive energy management and
manitoring programme saw Asriva put time clocks on all
heating systems, replacing failing cil boilers with condensing
botlers, reducing long flow and return pipework, and using
smaller water heating units in summer. This produced an
eight per cent reduction in gas consumption within Arriva
London in 2008 compared to 2007,

A combination of water reclamation units, leak reduction,
auto shut-off taps and toilet flush management systems
has resulted in a 21 per cent reduction in water
consumption in 2008 in Arriva London.

In order to make a year-on-year camparison of water and
energy consumption within Asriva's businesses the
annual totals are averaged across the number of
vehicles operated.

Water consumption average per vehicle (cubic metres)

2008 2007
Bus 66 69
Rail 305 500
Group 88 88

Energy consumption average per vehicle (kilowatt hours)

2008 2007
Bus 10,740 10,735
Rail 30,489 63,380
Group 12,614 13,035




Board of directors

Soard of
Airectors

Sir Richard Broadbent David Martin Steve Lonsdale
Steve Clayton Steve Williams Nick Buckles

i

|

|

|
Veronica Palmar Simon Batey Angie Risley
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Sir Richard Broadbent KCB
Chairman

Age: 55, Sir Richard was appointed to the
Board in July 2004 and was appointed
chairman in November 2004. As chaimnan,
Sir Richard chairs the Nomination Committee
of {he Board and is also a member of the
Remuneration Committee.

Sir Richard is the senior independent
director of Barclays plc and was executive
chairman, HM Customns and Excise, from
2000 to 2003, He was formerly a member of
the Group Executive Committee of Schroders
plc and non-executive director of the
Securities Institute.

David Martin BA, FCMA, MiMgt
Chief executive

Age: 57. David qualified as an accountant
in 1977 after graduating in business studies.
He held a variety of general management
positions before joining the bus industry in
1886. Adter leading a management buy-out
of an East Midlands based bus company,

he was involved in the acquisition of National
Express and the subsegquent manragement
buy-outs leading to the creation of British Bus
Group Limited.

David joined Arriva in 1986 on the acquisition
of British Bus, becoming a member of the
Board in February 1998 with specific
responsibility ior the group's international
operations and development. From March
2005 he was group managing director —
operations and deputy chiet executive untit
his appointment as chief executive in

Aprit 2006,

Steve Lonsdale BA, FCA

Group finance director

Age: 51. Steve graduated from the University
of Newcastle upon Tyne with a degree in
gconomics and acecounting befare joining
Coopers & Lybrand in 1978. He qualitied as
a chartered accountant in 1981 and spent
efght years working in the profession in the
UK and overseas. Steve joined the group in
1987 where he worked as group accountant
until 1991 when he was appointed to the
Board as group finance director. Steve has
responsibifity {or alt finance, legal and company
secretarial matters.

Steve Clayton BA, FCIT, MiMgt
Group managing director ~
corporate affairs

Age: 55, Atter graduating from London
University in 1975, Steve held varicus
management positions with London
Transport. He was managing director of
Leaside Bus Company Limited from 1988,
which was acquired by the group in 1994.
Steve was appeinted to the Board in
February 1998 with responsibility for the
group’s UK bus operations, Since March
2005 he has been group managing director
- corporate affairs, with responsibility for
human resoutces, heaith, satety and the
environment, lechnical services, corporate
communications and all government
relations activities across the group. He is
chair of the Group Corporate Responsibility
Committee and sits as a member of the
Safety Commitiee,

Steve will retire as a director imrmediately after
the Annual General Meeting on 22 April 2009.

Steve Williams, LLB

Non-executive director

Age: 61, Steve was appointed to the Board
as a non-executive director on 1 September
2005 and on 18 Oclober 2005 was appointed
senior independent director. Steve sits on
the Nomination and Audit Commitiees and
will chair the Safety Committes from

22 April 2008,

Steve is chief legal officer and group general
counsel of Unilever plc and Unilever NV, Prior
to joining Unilever, Steve spent 11 years at
Imperial Chemical Industries plc in the legal
and comparny secretarial depastrents. Steve
is a non-executive director of Whitbread PLC
where he is also senior independent
director and is chairman of the De Le Warr
Pavillion Trust and a trustee of Arts &
Business. He served for nine years as a
non-exgcutive director of Bunzl ple until 2004,

Nick Buckles

Non-executive director

Age: 4B, Nick was appointed to the Board as
a non-executive director on 19 July 2005, and
since September 2007 has been chairman
of the Remuneration Committee. Nick also
sits on the Nomination Committee and,
trom 22 April 2009, the Safety Committee,

Having joined Securicor plc in 1985,

Nick was appainted 1o its Board in 2000.
Following the merger between Securicor ple
and the security businesses of Group 4
Falck, he was appointed deputy chief
executive and chief operating officer of tha
merged Group 4 Securicor (now G4S plc) in
July 2004, becoming chiet executive of G4S
pic in July 2005.

Veronica Palmer OBE

Non-executive director

Age: 68. Veronica was appointed to the
Board as a non-executive director in
September 2001, and since September 2007
has chaired the Safety Commitiee. Veronica
also sits on the Audit and Nomination
Committees and was chairman of the
Remuneration Commiltee from June 2005
urttil September 2007,

Veronica is chairman of the Northern Ireland
Transport Holding Company Board. She held
the position of director general of the
Confederation of Passenger Trangport UK
from: 1989 untit June 2001. Earlier she
worked in the brewing industry's trade
association as parlamentary secretary
following a successtul career in the Royal Air
Force and as an employment consultant in
Europe. Veronica has an MBE for military
services and an OBE for services to the
transport industry.

Veronica wilt retire as a director immediately
after the Annual General Meeting on
22 April 2009,

Simon Batey BA, MA, FCA
Non-executive director

Age: 55. Simon joined the Board as a non-
execulive director on 1 Oclober 2003 and
since 1 January 2004 has been chaiman of
the Audit Committee. Simon also sits on the
Remuneration and Nomination Committees,
and, {rom 22 April 2009, the Safety
Committee.

Simon has 20 years' experience in a number
of senior tinance roles in industry. Between
2000 and 2006, Simon was group finance
director of United Utilities plc and, from 2006
until August 2007 he was chief financial
officer of Thames Water Utilities Limited.
From 1987 to 2000, he worked for AMEC
plc, initialty as deputy group finance director
and then, from 1992, as group finance
director. Simen has been a non-executive
director of Telecity Group plc since October
2007 and has also served as a non-
executive director of THUS Group ple.

Angie Risley

Non-executive director

Age: 50. Angie Risley, group human
resources director ol Uoyds Banking Group
pic, will be appointed to the Board on 9 March
2009 as a nor-executive director. Angie was
tommerty an executive director ol Whitbread
PLC, until May 2007, having joined the group
in 1988. She has also been a member of the
Low Pay Commission, and a non-executive
director of Biffa plc. Subject to her election
as a director at the Annual General Meeting,
Angie will becorne & member ot the
Remuneration, Nomination and

Audit Committees,
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Directors’ report

The directors submit their report and the audited accounts of Arriva plc for the year ended 3§ December 2008,

Principal activities of the group
The principal activities of the group at 31 December 2008 comprised the operation of bus and train services in the UK and eleven
countries in mainland Europe.

Business review

A review of the group’s principat activities and performance for the year is contained in the chairman’s statement {on pages 18
and 18), the chief executive’s review {(on pages 20 to 27), the financial review (on pages 28 to 33) and the corporate responsibility
report {on pages 36 to 47}, which collectively comprise the business review and these are included in this report by reference.

A review of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the company is sel out on pages 34 and 35 and is also included in this
report by reference.

This Annual Report & Accounts contains certain forward-looking statements. These statements and forecasts involve risk and
unceriainty because they relate 1o events and depend upon circumstances that occur in the future. There may be a number of
factors that could cause actual results or developments to differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-
looking statements and forecasts,

Key performance indicators
The group uses the tollowing key performance indicators {(KPIs) to assist in the understanding of the development,
performance and position of the business:

@i Earnings per share, before goodwill impairment, intangible asset amortisation and exceptlional items
(see financial review page 28)

(i) Order bock {see how we work page 5}

(i) Employee tumover and non-attendance (see corporate responsibility report page 41)

(iv) Return on capital employed (see financial review page 33)

(v) Percentage of scheduled mileage operated (see corporate responsibifity report page 38)

(v} Public Performance Measure for UK Trains (see chief executive's review page 25)

(vii) Fault incidents per 100,000 km (see corporate responsibility report page 37)

(viil) Employee injusies per 100 employees (see corporate responsibility report page 37)

Results and dividends

The prolit for the year amounted ta £111.2 milllion (2007: £90.0 million). The directors recommend the payrment of a final dividend
on the ordinary shares of the company of 17.91 pence per share (2007: 17.06 pence), which together with the interim dividend of
6.15 pence {2007: 5.59 pence) represents a total ot 24.06 pence per ordinary share {2007: 22.65 pence). The proposed final

dividend, if approved, will be payable on 1 May 2008 to sharehalders on the Register of Members at the close of business on
27 March 2009. The total amount paid and proposed to be paid is £47.8 million in respect of 2008 (2007: £45.0 million}.

Share capital
The share capital of the company is made up of 280,000,000 ordinary shares of 5 pence each, each share having one vole.
As at 1 March 2009, there were 198,657,072 shares in issue. The total number of voting rights was therefore 198,657,072

The movement in the share capital during the year is detailed in note 22 to the accounts.

Directors
The names and biographies of the current directors appear on pages 48 and 49.

Steve Clayton and Veronica Palmer will retire as directors immediately following the Annual General Meeting on 22 April 2009,

Sir Richard Broadbent, Simon Batey and Steve Lonsdale will retire by rotation and, being eligible, otler themseives tor re-election at
the Annual General Meeting.

Angie Risley will be appointed as a director of the company on 8 March 2009 and will stand for election at the
Annual General Meeting.

Save for Sir Richard Broadbent's directorship of Barclays Bank pic, which bank was a lead arranger in a £615 million syndicated
revolving credit refinancing facility thal the company entered into in early August 2007 (and in which facility negotiations

Sir Richasct played no active role), no director was interested in any contract or arrangement which was significant in relation to the
group's business.
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Indemnification of directors

In accordance with its Articles of Association and as approved by shareholders at the 2006 Annual General Meeting, the company
has the power (at its discretion) to grant an indemnity to the directors in respect of kabilities incurred as a result of theit office.
Deeds of indemnity were issued to all directors in post in May 2006 or on subsequent appointment.

The company has maintained a directors’ and officers’ liability insurance palicy throughout the period.

Neither the company’s indemnity nor insurance provides cover in the event that the director is proved to have
acted fraudulently or dishonestly. No claims have been made either under the indemnity or the insurance policy.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respact of the Annual Report, the directors’ remuneration report

and the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Repont, the directors' remuneration report and the group and parent
company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regutations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have
prepared the group financial staternents in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
European Union, and the parent company financial statements and the directors’ remuneration report in accordance with
applicable taw and United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. In preparing the group financial statements,

the directors have also elected to comply with IFRS, issued by the International Accounting Standards Board {IASB). The group
and parent company financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company
and the group and of the profit or loss of the group for that period.

In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:

Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently

Make judgements and estimates that are reascnable and prudent

State that the group financial statements comply with IFRS as adopted by the European Union and IFRS issued by the 1ASB,
and with regard to the parent company financial staterments that applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements

»  Prepare the group and pasent company financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the group will continug in busingss, In which case there should be supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements In preparing the financial statements.

The directors are responsible for Keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the company and the group and (o enable them to ensure that the group financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and the parent company financial stalements and the directors’
remuneration report comply with the Companies Act 1985. The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
company and the group and hence for taking reascnable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities,

The directors confirm that, as at the date this report was approved, so far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information
of which the auditors are unaware and they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order 10 make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditors are aware of that information.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the website. Financial information published on the website is
based on the fegistation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements and may differ
from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Directors' report continued

Directors’ interests
The interests of the directers (including their relevant family interests) at the end of the year, and details of the directors’ interests
under the Long Term Incentive Plan, appear in the directors’ remuneration report on pages 54 1o 61.

Purchase of own shares
No shares were purchased pursuant to the authority granted to the directors at the Annual General Meeting held on 23 April 2008.
Renewal of this authority will be sought at the Annual General Mesting to be held on 22 April 2009.

Acquisitions and disposals
In January 2008, a further 10 per cent interest was acquired in Barraqueiro SGPS SA, the leading Portuguese passenger transport
operator, for a consideration of 0 50 million in cash (approximatety £37.4 million). This buill on Asriva’s acquisition of 21.5 per cent
of Barraqueiro in May 2006.

In April the company announced its entry into the Hungarian and Slovakian bus markets following an agreement to buy 80 per cent
of Interbus Invest, the holding company of Eurobus Invest, for £39.8 million, plus net debt. The acquisition took the number of
countries in which Asriva operates to 12, The acquisition was conditional on competition and regulatory clearance in Stovakia. in
Juty the company completed the purchase icllowing clearance by the Slovak Merger Authority.

Also in July the company increased its position in the Madrid transpost market, with the acquisition of Empresa de Blas y Cia S.L,
and its subsidiaries and investments for O 118.1 million (£93.6 miltion) including net debt acquired.

Charitable and political donations

During the year the group made charitable donations, for & variety of charitable purposes, amounting to £97,107 (2007: £111,640).
There were no poltical donations (2007: Enil). Further information on charitable donations can be found in the corporate
responsibility report on pages 38 and 39.

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held on 22 April 2009. Details of the business to be considered al the meeting can be found in
the Notice of Annual General Meeting which has been sent to all shareholders with the Annual Report & Accounts, and will appear
on the website at www.armiva.co.uk, from 20 March 2009,

Employees

The Board of Arriva pic recognises that its employees are key to its success and is committed to creating a working environment
where everyone has the opportunity to leamn, develop and contribute to the success of the group, working within a common set
of values.

The group continues to am to be an employer of choice and to employ a diversa workforce with the skills, abitities and attitudes
to meet business objectives and needs. The group’s aim is to provide appropriate remuneration, benefits and conditions of
employment which will serve to attract, retain, motivate and reward such employees.

The group continues to give full and fair consideration to applications for employment by disabled persons, having regard to their
respective aptitudes and abilities and its policy includes, where applicable, the continued employment of those who may become
disabled during their employrnent.

The group has, subject to the constraints of commercial confidentiality, continued its policy of employee involvement, by making
information available to employees on a regular basis regarding recent and probabie future developments and business activities.

Further information on employee representation can be found in the corporate respensibility report on page 41,
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Policy regarding payment of suppliers

The group’s policy regarding the payment of suppliers is either to agree terms of payment at the start of business with each
supplier or to ensure that the supplier is made aware of the payment terms, and in either case to pay in accordance with its
contractual or other legal obligations. At 31 December 2008 the company's trade creditors outstanding represented approximately
33 days' purchases (2007: 40 days).

Substantial shareholdings
As far as the directors are aware, the only notifiable holdings equal to or in excess of three per cent of the issued ordinary share
capital as at 1 March 2009 were:

%
Aberdeen Assel Management PLC's Fund Management Operating Subsidiaries 5.00
Artemis Investment Management Limited 6.14
AXA SA. 12.76
Legal & General Group Plc 3.96
Marathon Asset Management LLP 6.64

Corporate governance
A review of the company’s application of the principles and provisions of The Combined Code on Corporate Governance 2006
appears on pages 62 (o 68.

Health, safety and the environment
Details of the company's approach to health, safety and environmental issues appears within the corporate responsibility report
on pages 36 to 47.

Auditors
A resolution to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors to the company and to authorise the directars to fix the
auditors’ remuneration will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board

Ny A
W ==

Company secretary
4 March 2009
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Directors’ remuneration report

1. Introduction
This report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of schedule 7A to the Companies Act 1985 and has been
approved by both the Remuneration Committeg and the Board.

The committee is responsible for all matters relating to the remuneration arrangements for executive directors, and selected senior
management below Board level.

Membership of the committee is limited to the non-executive directors. The membership in 2008 was as follows:
N P Buckles {chairman)

Sir Richard Broadbent

S G Batey

As announced on 11 December 2008, Angie Risley will be joining the Board as a non-executive director on 9 March 2009.
Subject to her election as a director at the Annual General Meeting she will also become a member of the Remuneration Committee
on 22 April 2009. The membership will thereatter comprise three independent non-executive directors and the chairman of the Board.

Buring the year, the committee met on five occasions; details of the attendance at meetings appear in the corporale govemance
report an page 65.

2. Remuneration policy
The cobjective of the Board's remuneration policy is to recruit and retain high quality directors and managers by providing competitive

rewards based on the achievement of targets which are aligned to the company's strategic goals and with returns to shareholders.

fn reaching its decisions, the commitiee has regard to levels and structures of remuneration among a peer pay compasator group
which it has established and continues to maintain with independent advice comprising a selection of FTSE 250 companies {from
the transport ang other sectors) of a similar size and complexity to that of the company. The commitiee also has regard to
remuneration levels and structures among a smaller group of companies representing its direct competitors in the transport sector
and. on the basis of survey data, of a broad range of industrial companies.

Performance targets selected by the committee are subject to periodic review o ensure continued congruence with the group's
strategic goals.

3. Remuneration raview

During 2008, the committee conducted a full review of the remuneration arrangements infroduced atter the last such review in 2005,

The committee appointed Towers Perrin as independent advisers to assist in the review,

The review concluded that the remuneration arrangements introduced in 2006 were working broadly as intended with regard to
structure and opportunity. In particular, the committee decided to recommend no change to the performance targets of the LTIP
which remain top quartile TSR and annual growth in EPS of RPI plus 4 - 13 per cent over three years. Regarding the annual benus
structure, the committee decided that no change was necessary in the quantum of opportunity (100 per cent of salary of which
30 per cent relates to personal objectives and 70 per cent to a defined financial target) but that in respect of 2009 the financial
target would be specified 50 per cent in relation to EBIT and 20 per cent in relation to EPS.

Independent analysis of published data during the review revealed that a material gap has opened up between executive directors’
salaries at Arriva and at companies in its peer groups whether narrowly or broadly defined. This gap is currently in the range

10 - 15 per cent, reflecting the restraint shown in recent years during which executive salaries have increased by 3 - 4 per cent per
annum. On the basis of the extensive analysis conducted, the committee concluded that {air and competitive salaries for the
individuals concerned would be, respectively, £535.000 for David Martin (an increase of 11.4 per cent}, £360,000 for Steve Lonsdale
(an increase of 15.4 per cent) and £305,000 for Steve Clayton (an increase of 8.9 per cent).
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The Remuneration Committee has considered very carefully what to do in this situation. It is aware that the exernal environment,
and the reputation of the comparny, must be fully taken into account in its decisions. §i is also aware of its responsibilities to the
individuals concerned, and to the interests of the company in ensuring that management at the most senior level are property
motivated and their services ratained for the benefit of the company. It has discussed the situation with the executive directors
themselives and it has conducted extensive consultations with major shareholders.

The committee is clear that it is not in the interests of the company to continue indefinitely paying salaries to its senior executives
that are well below the median of its competitors and its peer group. It intends therefore as a matter of policy to seek to close the
gap that has developed as quickly as possible. The committee also recognises that in doing so it must take full account of the
external environment it is operating in. In reaching its decisions, it has also paid careful regard to the views expressed by
shareholders and shaseholder representative bodias that it has consuliad. In all the circumsiances, the committee has concluded
that basic salaries will be increased as follows:

Salary at 1 January 2009

Increase £000 pa
D R Martin 3% 494
S J Clayton 3% 288
S P Lensdale 5% 328

These increases are materially less than those required to deal with the shortizll in executive salaries described above and the
committee will continue to give close altention 1o executive salaries in the coming years.

4. Remuneration structure

({a) Base salary

Each of the executive directors is paid a basic annual salary which is reviewed in January each year. The salaries of the executive
directors were increased effective from 1 January 2009, as detailed in section 3 above.

{b} Performance relatec bonus

Each of the executive directors has the opportunity to earn an annual bonus of up 1o 100 per cent of basic annual salary of which
70 per cent of the potential award is determined by group flinancial perfformance, with the balance being determined by the
performance of sach director against qualitative objectives agreed at the beginning of the year.

With regard to the group financial performance element, the target is group earnings per share before goodwill impairment and
intangible asset amodisation calculated in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and adjusted for exceptional
items. The committee reviews annually the EPS targel to ensure that it remains appropriate in the contexd of the group’s strategy and
the delivery of sustained shareholder value. For 2008 the EPS element of the bonus arrangement was structured as follows:

Bonus as a

EPS target (p) per cent of basic salary
Less than 55.9 Nil
59.7 25

61.4 50

64.4 70




Directors’ remuneration report continued

The qualitative element of directors’ bonus amangements focuses on delivery of specific elements of strategy, environmental issues,
crganisational and management goals and the development of a high calibre management team, The Remuneration Committee will
consider also the opportunities for incorporating social and govemance targets within future performance related pay structures.

As a consequence of the EPS performance of the group for the year ended 31 December 2008 of 61.5 pence and the parformance

of each direcior against the qualitative targets agreed at the beginning of the year, bonus payments wese made to each executive
director in March 2009 as follows:

Bonus for year ended 31 December

2008 2007
£ £
D R Martin 375,360 425,000
S J Clayton 208,200 243,900
S P Lonsdale 239,300 265,700
823.860 934,600

The non-executive directors do not panicipate in the performance related bonus scherme and no change to this policy is envisaged.

{c) Leng Terrn Incentive Plan ('LTIP)

The LTIP is a share-based plan and comprises a condilional award of shares of a value equivalent 10 200 per cent of the executive
director's basic salary as at the date of an award; awards are normally made each March following the announcement of the
group’s preliminary results for the preceding financiat year.

Since 2006, awards have comprised a blend of two elements with each element providing the opportunity for each executive
director to eam up to one half of the conditional share award. Each element operates as follows:

(i) Total Shareholder Return element ('TSR")
This element provides the opportunily to earn up to one half of the initial conditional award and is based on the group’s TSR
performance when ranked against the TSR performance of those companies comprising a 'peer comparator group’, For this
purpose the peer comparator group consists of companies (excluding the company and investment companies) whose shares
comprise the FTSE 250 at the beginning of each three-year measurement period.

Performance is measured over three consecutive financial years {1 January — 31 December), the first year of the measurement
period being the year in which the conditional share award is made. In order for shares to vest under this element, the TSR
pertormance of the group must achieve, as a minimum, the median TSR performance of the peer comparator group;
achievement of the median position will generate the vesling of 25 per cent of this element of the award, and this will increase
on a linear basis to 100 per cent (of this element) on the achievement of upper quartile performance.

The TSR performancs is independently calculated and verified by Alithos Limited.

(i) The EPS element
This element also provides the opportunity to earn up o one half of the initial conditional award; vesting of the shares ison a
linear scale with 10 per cent vesting if EPS increases to a level which is four per cent per annum in excess of the increase in
the Retail Prices Index over the three-year measurement period; vesting will increase on a linear scale to a maximum of
100 per cent (of this element) on EPS performance achieving or exceeding 13 per cent per annum in excess of the growth
in the Retail Prices Index.

The company operales share retention guidetines which require each executive director to retain 50 per cent of any vested
shares until such time as a holding equivalent in value to basic annual salary has been achieved.

The non-executive directors do not panticipate in the LTIR and no change to this policy is envisaged.
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The vasting of the shares conditionally awarded in 2006 had as the performance measurement period the three years ended 31 December
2008. The TSR over the period was in the upper quartile and therefore 100 per cent ol this element of the award vests. The EPS
perlormance target required to achigve 100 per cent vesting of this element of the award was 70.4 pence. The actual EPS performance
was 61.5 pence and, as a consequence 49 per cent of this element of the award vests. The Remuneration Committee confirmed the
vesting position on 4 March 2009,

Changes in the interests of the executive directors in conditional share awards made under the LTIP in the year ended 31 December 2008
were as follows:

Movement in conditionally awarded shares {audiled Information)

Balance
Not at
Awards subsisting at vested 31 Dec
1 January 2008 Awarded during year Vested during year in year 2008
Share Share

price at price at Value of

date of date of shares at

No. of Date calculation No. of calculation No.of Date of date of

shares awarded ofaward (p) shares Date ofaward (p) shares wvesting vesting (£)
D R Martin 54,744 14/3/05 548.0 Nil 54,744 -
158,785 17/5/06 544.0 159,785
124,832 16/3/07 745.0 124,832
138,829 13/3/08 691.0 138,929
Total 339,361 138,929 Nif 54,744 423,546
S J Clayton 45,620 14/3/05 548.0 Nil 45,620 -
92,940 17/5/06 544.0 92,940
72,752 16/3/07 745.0 72,752
81,042 13/3/08 691.0 81,042
Total 211,312 81,042 Nit 45,620 246,734
S PLonsdale 45,620 14/3/05 548.0 Nil 45,620 -
103,663 17/5/06 544.0 103,663
81,074 16/3/07 745.0 81,074
90,304 13/3/08 691.0 90,304
Total 230,357 90,304 Nil 45,620 275,041

{d) Share option schemes
None of the executive directors has any residual interest in the share option schemes. The non-executive directors do not participate
{and have not participated} in any of ihe company’s share oplion schemes.
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Directars’ remuneration report continued

(e) Directors' remuneration details for the year ended 31 December 2008 (audited information)

Emoluments
Periormance Benelits

related in kind/ Prior

Fees Salary bonus allowance Total year

£ £ £ £ £ £

Sir Richard Broadbent 150,000 - - - 150,000 120,000

D B Martin - 450,000 375,360 27.827 883,187 917,197

S J Clayton - 280,000 200,200 24,823 814,023 540,120

S P Lonsdale - 312,000 239,300 21,688 572,988 588,927

5 G Batey 50,000 - - - 50,000 40,000

N P Buckles 45,000 - - - 45,000 35.500

AV M Palmer 45,000 - - - 45,000 35,500

S G Wiliams 45,000 - - - 45,000 35,500

Total 335,000 1,072,000 823,860 74,338 2,305,198 2,312,744
Notes:

1. Benefits in kind for each director comprise a company car and/or car allowance, fuel, medical insurance and telephone costs.

2. A pension of £5,000 (2007: £5,000) was paid to a former director.

The fees paid to the non-executive directors are as follows and comprise a basic fee and an additional lee to recognise specific

further responsibilities.

Basic Additonal
annual fee annual fee Total
£ £ £ Additonal responsibilities
Sir Richard Broadbent 150,000 - 150,000 Chairman of the Nomination Committee
S G Batey 40,000 10,000 50,000 Chairman of the Audit Committee
N P Buckles 40,000 5,000 45,000 Chairman of the Rernuneration Committee
AV M Palmer 40,000 5,000 45,000 Chairman of the Safety Committee
S G Williams 40,000 5,000 45,000 Senior independent director
310,000 25,000 335,000

The non-executive directors take no part in the process for establishing their individual fee level.

Under the terms of the Articles of Association the fees payable to the non-executive directors are limited to £400,000 per annum in
the aggregate; this level was established following approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 23 Agril
2004, and the Articles permit the directors to increase this ¢ap annually in line with the increase in the index of UK wage inflation,
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As at 31 December 2008, in accordance with the indexation provisions, the cap on the aggregate level of non-executive directors’
fees was £470,504.

Each non-executive director has been appointed for a fixed-temm not exceeding three years and, following the implementation of
the Companies Act 2006, those appointments are normally renewable, with the agreement of both parties, for terms not exceeding
two years.

(f) Directors’ share interests (audited information)
The interests of the directors {including their relevant family interesis) in the share capital of the company at the beginning and the
end of the year and at the date one month prior to the notice of the Annual General Meeting were as follows:

Number of ordinary shares

1 January 2008 31 December 2008 20 February 2009
Sir Richard Broadbent 27,246 27,246 27,246
S J Clayton 80,000 80,000 80,000
S P Lonsdale 314,831 314,831 314,831
D R Martin 488,848 488,848 488,848
S G Batey 7,268 7.268 7,268
N P Buckles 5,000 5,000 5,000
AV M Palmer Nil il Nil
$ G williams 1,060 1,060 1,060
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{g) Pensions {audited information)

D R Martin S J Clayton 5 P Lonsdale

Scheme* 2 3 1
Normal retirement age 85 65 65
Director's contribution Nil Nil Nil
Increase in accrued pension during the year
(allowing for indexation) (£ pa} 25,344 8,961 13,567
Gross increase in accrued pension (£ pa) 34,374 12,888 22,100
Accrued pension at 31/12/2008 (£ pa) 334,928 113,585 240,875
Accrued pensicn at 31/12/2007 (£ pa) 300,554 100,697 218,755
Value of net increase in accrual over period (E) 260,499 112613 138,845
Transfer value of accruged pension at 31/12/2007 (£) 4 281,623 1,056,898 1,892,137
Transfer vaiue of accrued pension at 31/12/2008 (€) 3,800,772 1,427,413 2,698,358
Total change in value during period (£) (680,851) 370515 706,221
"1 Arriva Pension Scheme

2 Arriva Passenger Senvices Pension Plan

3 Arriva London North & Amiva London South Pension Scheme
Notes:

1. Notwithstanding an increase in Mr Martin’s accrued pension at 31 December 2008, the transfer value fell in comparison with
the previous year reflecting changes in market conditions and changes to the calculation of the transier value consequent
upon the adoption of revised assumptions for the 2008 valuation of the Arriva Passenger Services Pension Plan,

2. The transter values ior Messrs Clayton and Lonsdale have increased as a result of an increase in their accrued pensions,
changes in market conditions and the impact of the trustees of their respective schemes having adopted increased
allowances for future mostality improvements for all scheme members.

Messrs Martin, Clayton and Lonsdale are now accruing pension at 1/30th of base pay for all years of service. For service pre 2000
pension had been calculated at 1/60th per annum of base pay and a restrictad element of bonus; in accordance with best practice
guidelines, benus is now removed from the calculation which now computes pension at 1/30th per annum of base salary for all
service. This change does not alter the actuarial vatue of the benefit.

No future executive director external appointees (o the Board will be eligible for a final salary based pension arrangement,
but instead will receive a cash contribution equal to 25 per cent of basic salary,

Mr Martin has the opportunity to elec! to take an annual cash sum, paid monthly in arrears (on a basis that is cost neutral to the
company), in lieu of any future pension accrual.

(h) Service contracts

Each of the three executive directors has a service contract dated 19 April 2006, the contracts are subject to 12 months' notice
from the comparny and six months’ notice from the director. Each contract containg covenants restricting the ability of the director,
within a period of six months from terminalion, from competing with the comparny. The contracts make specific provision with
regard to termination payments which are quantified as the sum of:

(i} The direclor's basic pay at the date of termination;

() The amount of bonus estimated to be payable in respect of the year in which notice is served, but in any event capped at
maximum of 40 per cent of basic pay; and

(i) The value of the benefits in kind.

Additionally, in the case of termination by the company, the company will seek to procure that the director is credited with an
additional 12 months’ service in his respective pension scheme.
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Should the director terminale the contract within six months of a change of control of the company he will receive a termination
payment equal to 50 per cent of the termination payment described above.

(i) External Board appointments

The Board will permit executive directors to accept one appointment autside the company. Before accepting such appointments

the director(s) involved must receive the prior approval of the Board. In considering such cases the Board will atways satisfy itself,
as far as is possible, thal such appointments will not detract from the executive directors’ expected contribution to the company,
nor that such appointment wili create any conflict of interest; any fees eamed by an executive director in such a capacity will be

assigned to the company.

{) TSR graph

In accordance with the provisions of Schedule 7A to the Companies Act 1985, detalled below is a graph charting the performance
of the company's Total Shareholder Retumn (share value growth plus re-invested dividends over the past fiva years) compared with
the most relevant comparator indices as follows:

{a) The FTSE 250; and

(b) The FTSE 350 Travel and Leisure Index.

200

150

100 : T ¥ T T 1
31/12/2003 31/12/2004 31/12/2005 31/12/2006 31/12/2007 3112/2008

== Ariva retum index =C= FTSE 250 return index —ie= FTSE 350 Travel & Leisure retum index

{k) Remuneration report approval
An ordinary resolution to consider and, if thought fit, approve this remuneration report will be proposed at the Annua! General
Meeting 1o be held on 22 April 2009,

For and on behalf of the Board

N P Buckles
Chairman, Remuneration Committee

4 March 2009
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Corporate governance

Compliance statement

The essential principles of corporate gavernance applied by the company are detailed in Section 1 of The Combined Code on
Corporate Governance 2006 ('The 2006 Code’) and throughout the year under review the company in all material respects
complied with those provisions. In June 2008 the Financial Reporting Council issued a revised Code which applies to accounting
periods beginning on or alter 29 June 2008 and with which the company also complies in all material respects. The purpose of this
report is to describe how the principles of The 2006 Code have been applied by the company throughout the year under review.

The Board and its structurs

A. General
For ihe year under review, the Board comprised a nan-executive chairman, thres executive directors and four independent
non-executive directors. Al the Annual General Meeting on 22 April 2009 Steve Clayton and Veronica Pamer will retire as
directors and Angte Risley will stand for election as a non-executive director; subsequent to these changes the Board will
comprise a non-executive chairman, two executive directors and four independent non-executive directors. Steve Williams is
the senior independent director and in this regard his responsibiiities include providing shareholders with an additional channel
of communication with the company should the nomal channels be either inappropriate or have falled to provide resolution.
Additionally, in his capacity as senior independent director, Steve Williams may attend and participale at the meeting of any
Board committee of which he is not a member.

in fulfilling its respensibilities for determining the group's strategic priorities and policies, providing overall direction and managing
the balance between short, medium and long-term objectives, the Board reserves for itself decisions over cenain critical areas
including the approval of financial statements. long-term objectives and strategy, capital structure, organisational structure,
Board and Board committee membership and the maintenance and development of good corporale governance practice.

The Board will normalty meet between eight and 10 limes annually, with one of the meetings always reserved for the review
and testing of the group’s strategy. During 2008, the Board met on nine occasions.

The Board agenda is clearly structured, and, in addition to business matters that require attertion, the Board receives financial,
operational and progress reports from the executive directors, including matters relating to carporate social responsibility, the
environment, management and employees and issues affecting the public transport industry in the UK and mainland Eurape.
The Board also receives reports from the chainmen of its four principal committees and updates on regulatory, corporate
govemance and other compfiance matters.

The roles of the chairman and the chief execuiive are clearly defined and separated and are set out in writing in the
company's manual of corporate governance. The chairman is responsible for the effective operation af the Board, corporate
govermance, regutatory compliance, Board succession and director perfermance evaluation and for ensuring constructive
refations with shareholders.

The role of the chief executive is to devise and implement appropriate business strategies and to run the business and
implement decisions agreed by the Board, having due regard 1o the long-term interests of the shareholders, employees and
other stakeholders.

One-third of the directors ase required to submit themselves for re-election at each Annual General Meeting and all directors
wilh have so submitied themselves every \hree years, Directors newly-appointed 1o the Board will be subject 1o election by the
sharehaolders at the first available opportunity following their appointment.

All directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary who administers the Board and Board
committee meetings, provides updates to the Board on regulatory and compliance developments and ensures that relevant
procedures and regulations are adhered to. There is an established procedure tor any of the direclors 1o obtain independerit
prolessional advice at the company's expense.
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B.

Induction

An induction programime applies to all new Board appointees and incorporates a full briefing of the group's businesses
(including site visits and meetings with senior managers), a review of the Board's approach to comorale governance and
other general corporate issues.

Evaluation

Each year the Board undertzkes an evaluation of its own performance. The perlormance evaluation for 2008, conducted in early
2009, was led by Steve Williams as the senior independent director and included a specific element conceming an assessment
of the performance of the chaimman.

Board committees

As an integral part of discharging its corporate governance responsibilities effectively, the Board has established four principal
committees: Audit, Nomination, Remuneration and Safety. Each of the committees operaies under clearly defined terms of
reference which can be viewed on the company’s website www.ammiva.co.uk within the corporate responsibility section.

D1. Audit Committee
The Audit Committes comprises exclusively independent non-executive directors and is chaired by Simon Batey,
a chariered accountant and former finance director of United Utilities plc and more lalterty, until his retirement from that
post, chiet financial clficer of Thames Water Utilities Limited. The other members of the committee are Steve Williams and
Veronica Palmer, From 22 April 2009, subject to her election at the Annuaf General Meeting, Angie Risley will be appointed
a member of the commiitee on Veronica Palmer's retirement from the Board. The Audit Committee's principal areas of
focus are:

(a) Financial reperting
The discipline of financial reporting is clearly an activity of crucial importance to the company, its shateholders and the
wider stakeholder community. 1 is the responsibility of the Audit Committee to monitor and piovide assurance to the
Board on the integrity of all of the company’s financial staternents. As part of this process the commiliee is specifically
required to review and challenge where necessary the continued application of the company's accounting policies
(and any changes thereto), the methods used to account {or significant or unusual transactions and the clarity of the
financial statements and reports.

{o

-

Internal control and risk management systems

The Board has delegated to the Audit Committee the responsibility of reviewing and providing assurance as to the
company's systems of internal control and risk management, including risk transfer and risk retention pelicies

and practices.

In this regard the Audit Committee is assisted by the group internal audit function, the head of which reporis directly to
the chairman of the Audit Committes.

Internal audit

A key elerment in the company's internal control and risk management mechanism is the group internal audit function.
A key responsibility of the commitiee is to provide assurance to the Board that appropriate action is being taken by the
businesses to address relevant internal audit findings that have been communicated to the committee via the group
internal audit function.

(c

Additionally, the committee is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of the group intemnal audit function.

This includes an assessment of the ongoing adequacy of intemnal audit resources and the function’s continuing freedom
from any management or cther material restrictions which may impacl on its ability to operate with complete
independence and objectivity.




Corporate governance continued

D2.

Da.

D4.

(d) External audit
The external audit process Is fundamental lo any company's audit programme and the role of the external auditor is to
provide assurance to the members of the company as a whole that the financial statements produced by the company
are in all material respects true and fair. Whilst the extemal audilor is ultimately appointed by the sharehotders in
general meeting it is inevitabte that the regular contact with the company Is via the executive directors, senior
managers and other employees.

It is therefore against this background that the Audit Comimittee is charged by the Board with the responsibility of
ensuring that the external auditor remains completely independent of the company (and refevant officers of the
company} in all material respects and that the external audit firm is adequately resourced (both from a technicat and
territorial capacity) to enable it to deliver a completely objective audit to the shareholders. It is the responsibility of the
Audit Commitiee to formally recommend to the Board each year the continuation, or removal and replacement,

of the external auditor. This process is supporied by a full annual review of the expertise, resources, effectiveness and
independence of the externat audit firm.

Additionally, the Audit Committee, as part oi its ongoing process for ensuring continued audit independence, reviews
and approves the level and nature of non-audit work performed.

Nomination Committes

The Nomination Committee membership comprises the independent non-executive directors and is chaired by Sir Richard
Broadbent. The other members of the committee are Simon Batey, Nick Buckles, Veranica Palmer and Steve Williams.
From 22 April 2008, subiject to her election at the Annual General Meeting, Angie Risley will be appointed a member of the
committee on Veronica Palmer's retirement from the Board.

The principal responsibility of the commitiee is to keep under regular review the struclure, size and composition of the
Board and to determing whether the level of resourcing remains appropriate. This process wilf also include a regular
review of the succession plans at both Board and senior management levels.

All Board appointments and the appointment of the senior independent director and the chairmen of the Board
commiltees are the responsibility of the committes which is required, after appropriate review, research and interview,
to make recommendations (o the Board for approval.

Rermuneration Committee

The committee comprises exclusively non-executive directors and is chaired by Nick Buckles. The other members of the
committee are Sir Richard Breadbent and Simon Batey. From 22 April 2009, subject to her election at the Annual General
Meeting, Angie Risley will be appointed a member of the committee.

A full review of the work of the commiittee appears in the directors' remuneration report on pages 54 10 61,

Salety Committee
Given the nature of the group's businesses, the Board recognises the fundamental importance of safety and related
issues. The Safety Committee was established a number of years ago to address these matters.

The key responsibiiities of the commiitee are to monitor and provide assurance to the Board on the company's safety
policy and the arangements for its implementation and reporting. The commitiee receives reports and reviews the safety
related key performance indicators.

The commitiee is chaired by Veronica Palmer. The other members of the committee are Steve Williams and Steve Clayton,
From 22 Agril 2002 the committee will be chaired by Steve Williams and the other members will be Nick Buckles and
Simon Batey. David Martin also atlends the committee; from 22 Aprit 2009 he will also be the nominated director for safety.

The company's safety policy statement can be viewed on the website at www.arriva.co.uk.
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E. Board and Board committee attendance information

Board Audit Nomination Rernuneration Safety
Number of meetings/attendance 9 3 3 5 4
Sir Richard Broadbent 9 3 5
D R Martin 8
S J Clayton 9 4
S P Lonsdale 9
S G Batey 9 3 3 5
N P Buckles 9 3 5
AV M Palmer 9 3 3 4
S G Williams 9 3 3 4

F.  Relations with shareholders
The company has an established programme of communication with shareholders and the corporate communications department
organises a regular series of presentations (o analysts and investors. It remains the Board's intention that these arrangements
should continue as they represent an impostant feature of the process of facilitating helpful and constructive dialogue between
the company and its major investors, subject of course to continuing 1o meet all regulatory and statutory requirements,

A procedure exists for the Board as a whole to receive direct {eedback from the company's brokers of the investing
community's perception of the company’s performance and strategy.

G. Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting is an opportunity for the Board to communicate with shareholders, particularly private
shareholders. A presentation on the progress and performance of the business is made by the chief executive following the
farmal business of the meeting, and the chaimen of the Audit, Nomination, Remuneration and Safety committees are available
to answer questions relating to their particular areas of responsibility.

Following each resoltution, the meeting is informed of the number of proxy votes submitted in respect of each resolution;
this information is also published on the company's website following the meeting.

H. Group policies
The Board has approved and circulated across all the group’s businesses a set of policies which are designed to strengthen
and support the group's corporate governance and internal controts and to address key risks identitied through the risk
assessment and control process. As pan of the internal contral process, businesses are required to certity their continued
compliance with these policies. The policies are kept under review 1o ensure compliance with best practice and any changes
to the regulatory and statutory regimes. All companies within the group are required to follow group policies, although it is
recognised that in the case of newly acquired businesses there may be a period of time betore full implementation can be
achieved. Businesses are required to repon to the chief executive on an annual basis on any departures from, or non-compliance
with group policies.




Corporate governance continued

Contlicts of interest

The statutory duties for directors set out in the Companies Act. 2006 (' The 2006 Act') relating to conflicts of interest came into
force on 1 October 2008. Under Section 175 of The 2006 Act, from 1 October 2008, a director has a statutory duty to avoid
a situation where he has, or can have, a direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or possibly may conlict, with the

company's intetests.

The 2006 Act allows directors of pubiic companies to authorise conflicts and potential conflicts, where appropriate, if the company's
Articles of Association contain a provision to this effect. At the company's 2008 Annual General Meeling a resolution was
passed to amend the Aricles to enable this and other provisions for dealing with the directors’ conflicts of interest.

The Board has introduced procedures to ensure that authorisation of conflicts is operated etfectively. Al the October 2008
Board meeting, all potential conflicts of interest were disclosed by the directors and approved by the Board. Any new conflict
situations will be dealt with by the Board as they arise or on appaintment of a director and all conflicts wilt be reviewed
annually as will be the effectiveness of the procedures for authorisation of conflicts.

In January 2009 the directors were invited to review each of their disclosures (which had been authorised by the Board in
October 2008) and report any amendments that were relevant. The amendments made were authorised by the Board
(the directors involved taking no part in the discussions relating to their disclosures} at its meeting on 4 March 2008,

Whistleblowing

The group operates a whistleblowing policy and procedure whereby ernployees can, in confidence, report on matters where
they feel a malpractice is taking place. Areas that are addressed by this procedure cover financial malpractice,

criminal activities, dangers to health and safety or the environment or improper or unethical behaviour,

The procedures allow for employees to raise their concerns with line management o, if this is inappropriate, to raise them an a
confidential basis. A confidential telephone mailbox and confidentia! e-mail facility are provided to protect the identity of
employees in these circumstances. The complaint will be investigated in a confidential manner and, alter a decision is made
as to what further steps should be taken, feedback Is given to the person making the complaint. An official written record is
kept of each stage of the pracedure.

The whistleblowing policy and its operation is subject to periodic review by the Audit Committee; the last review was in
February 2009 and the Audit Committee concluded that no amendments needed to be made to the policy.
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Internal conirol
Companies are required to report to shareholders that they have conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the

system of intemal control. The review extends beyond financial controls to encompass operational and compliance control and
risk management.

The directors are responsible for the group's system of internal control. Whilst no system can provide absolute guarantees and
protection against material loss, the systems are designed to give the directors reasonable assurance that problems can be
identitied promptly and remedial action taken as appropriate.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness on an ongoing basis of the system of internal control for the actounting period
under review,

The key leatures of the internal control system are:

{a) Organisation structure
The structure of the organisation is so designed to minimise, as far as possible, the complexity of the reporting
arrangements commensurate with the commaercial demands made on the group. The structure focuses on the core
businesses of the group and stringent reporting procedures are applied 1o ensure that performance is closely monitored
so that effective and prompt action can be taken if the need arises. Certain of the group's functions inctuding company
secretarial, legal, laxation, internal audit, treasury and insurance are underiaken centrally.

(&)

-~

Financial reporting

The group operates a comprehensive financial control system with each operating division's performance being closely
manitored against budget, forecast and prior year performance. Monthly management accounts are prepared for
consideration by the Board as a whole, and are issued in a timely manner lo ensure proper consideration can be given to
the information.

-~

{c) Group internal audit

The internal control systems are comprehensively supported by the group intemal audit department. Group internal audit
is responsible for advising all levels of management, and the Board of directors through the Audit Committee, on the
quality of the financial and operational systemns of conirol for all parts of the group. This review and appraisal function does

not relieve line management of its responsibitity for etfective control.

Group internal audit functions by conducting independent appraisals leading to repors detailing findings and agreed
actions. Group internal audit undertakes annual financial reviews of the balance sheets of all of the group's material
trading subsidiaries and engages in a cycle of operational and risk reviews both on scheduled and random bases.
The head of group internal audit reporis directly to the chairman of the Audit Committee.

Group internal audit is staffed by appropriatety qualified and experienced auditors.
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Corporate governance continued

(d} Risk assessment and risk control

An ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks facing the group has been in place
throughout the year under review and continues to remain in place.

An essential elemnent of good internal controk is the continual process of risk assessment and the implementation ot
appropriate controls designed o eliminate or mitigate the sffects of the crystallisation of identified major risks.

The approach adopted by the Board involves a process which requires divisional operational staff to critically examine their

responsibilities and identity those risks which are of such a nature that their crystallisation would have a material impact on
their business. In order for this process lo succeed, it is essential that ‘ownership’ of risk awareness, risk identification and
risk control is fully embraced by line management as an essential ingredient of its normal responsibilities.

In implementing its risk assessment programme the Board has devolved to the Audit Committee the task of implementing
and maintaining an appropriate risk assessment and control programme and it works closety with the head of group interna!
audit in engaging in a formal review of the key business risks o the group.

In the development of this programme there are a number of fundamental issues identified as being absolutely critical to
the success and eflectiveness of the risk management and control programme. In tormulating its approach the committee
has structured the programme arcund the key areas of:

»  Clear leadership from the Board

»  The need for risk management to be seen as part of everyday activity and to be embedded in the line
management culture

p  Clear communication of the principles involved
p Active support and involvement of the group internal audit function

» Regular review of the process and continual assessment of the changing nature of the risks presenting themselves to
the business

» Updating of the group policy manual following the identification of new significant risks

The Board recognises that, as in any business, the company must manage a range of risks in the course of its activities,
and that failure adequatsly to manage these risks could adversely impact the business.

As part of the ongoing risk assessment and management programme the principal risks facing the business have been
identitied and are reported on separately on pages 34 to 35.

L. Going concern
In accordance with the guidance issued in November 2008 by the Financial Reporting Council An update for directors of listed
companies: going concem and liquidity risk”, a comprehensive going concern review was undertaken by the group.
Following that review the directors confirm that, atter having made appropriate enguiries, they have reascnable expectation
that the group and the company have adequate resources 1o continue in operational existence for the toreseeable future.
Accordingly the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the Accounts. This approach was
endorsed by the Audit Committes at its meeting held on 25 February 2009.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Arriva plc

We have audited the group financial statements of Arriva plc for the year ended 31 December 2008 which comprise the Group
income statement. the Group balance sheet, the Group cash flow statement, the Group statement of recognised income and expense
and the refated notes. These group financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Arriva pic for the year ended 31 December 2008 and
on the information in the Directors' remuneration report that is described as having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors' responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the group financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the Eurcpean Union are set out in the Statement of
directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the group financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the
comparry's members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not,
in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for ary other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown
or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report {0 you our opinion as to whether the group financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the group financial
statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1885 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also
report 1 you whether in our opinion the information given in the Directors' report is consistent with the group financial statements.
The information given in the Directors' report includes that specific information presented in the Business review that is cross
referred fiom the Business review section of the Directors' report.

In additicn we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit,
or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate governance statement reflects the company's compliance with the nine provisions of the
Combined Code (2006) specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report it it does not.
We are not required to consider whether the board's statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an apinion
on the effectiveness of the group's corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read other informaticn contained in the Annual Report and consider whather it is consistent with the audited group financial
statements. The other information comprises only the Chairman's statement, the Chief executive's review, the Financial review,
Principal risks and uncertainties, Corporate responsibility, the Directors' report, the unaudited part of the Directors' remuneration
report, Corporate governance and other reports on pages 2 to 17. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware
of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the graup financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extenc
to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Iretand) issued by the Auditing Practices
Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the group financial
statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the direciors in the preparation of
the group tinancial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s circumstances, consistently
applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and perlomed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order
to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the group financial statements are free from materiat
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also eveluated the overall adequacy
of the presentation of information in the group financial stalements.

Opinion

In our opinion:

» The group financia! statements give a trug and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
of the state ol the group's affairs as at 31 December 2008 and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended;

» The group financial staterents have been property prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Adicle 4 of the
IAS Reguiation; and

» e information given in the Directors' report is consistent with the group financial statements.

Pﬁcew;{g%gswpv’ et

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Newcastle upon Tyne
13 March 2009
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Financial statements

Group income statement

for the year ended 31 December 2008

2008 2007
notes £m £m
Revenue 1 3,042.2 2.000.7
Net operating expenses 3(a) (2,870.4) (1,872.7)
Group operating profit 1718 128.0
Share of post lax profits from associates 4.4 43
Net finance costs 2 {26.2) {16.5)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 3 150.0 1158
Tax on profit on crdinary activities 5 (38.8) (25.8)
Profit for the year 111.2 90.0
Altributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 1045 86.4
Minority interests 6.7 36
111.2 80.0
Dividends per ordinary share 5} 24.06p 22.85p
Eamings par share 7iay
Basic eamings per share 52.6p 43.5p
Dituted eamnings per share 52.3p 43.4p
Basic earnings per share before goadwill impairment,
intangible asset amortisation and exceptional items 7{b) 61.5p 46,5p
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Group balance sheet
at 31 December 2008
2008 2007
notes £m em
Non-current assets
Goodwill 8 509.9 328.2
Cther intangible assets g 757 432
Property, plant and equipment 10 1,559.9 1,164.4
Invesiments 1 1419 63.6
Derivative financial instruments 19 51.8 3986
2,339.2 1,639.0
Current assets
Inventories 12 52.3 4
Tragde and other receivables 13 430.4 360.3
Cash and cash equivalents 14 147.7 95.7
Derlvative financial instruments 19 10.0 218
640.4 518.9
Total assets 2979.6 21579
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15 707.8 546.5
Tax liabilities 16 51.2 34.5
Bormowings 17 174.1 128.4
Derivative financial instruments 19 98.8 10.4
1,031.9 719.8
Non-current liabilities
Borowings 17 797.0 4158
Retirement benelit obligations 20 120.1 737
Deferred tax liabilities 21 95.4 87.6
Other non-current liabilities 18 133.0 1143
Derivative financial instruments 19 84.0 12.7
1,229.5 7041
Total liabilities 2261.4 1,4239
Nat assets 7182 7340
Equity
Share capital 22 9.9 89
Share premium account 25 24.4 242
Other reserves 24 385 105.0
Retained eamings 25 609.7 5711
Total shareholders’ equity 25 682.5 710.2
Minority interest in equity 25 35.7 238
Total equity /”\f 718.2 7340
D R Martin
Directors -~
S P Lonsdale

These financial statements on pages 70 to 107 were approved by the Board on 4 March 2009.
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Financial statements continued

Group cash flow statement
ior the year ended 31 December 2008

2008 2007
nates £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generaled from operations 26(b) 334.0 248.2
Interest and finance charges paid (27.7) {16.5)
Tax received/(paid) 169 (5.4)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 3232 226.3
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisitions of businesses (132.6) (35.5)
Net cash assumed on acquisitions 1.2 123
investment in associates (39.4) 2.8)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (263.8) (232.6)
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 19.0 874
Net cash used in investing activities (415.6) oA P
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuing ordinary share capital 0.2 1.3
Decrease in loans due within one year {4.3) (39.4)
Increase in loans due after ong year 2153 360
Decrease in finance lease obligations {24.0) {15.2)
Dividends paid ic the company's sharehclders (46.1) (419
Dividends paid to minority interests (4.3) {1.0)
Net cash generated/(used) in financing activities 136.8 (60.2)
Net increasef{decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and overdrafts 26(c) 44 .4 (5.1)
Cash, cash equivalents and overdraits at the beginning of the year 26(c) 62.4 711
Exchange gains/{losses) on cash, cash equivalents and overdrafts 26(c) 6.5 (3.6
Cash, cash equivalents and overdrafts at the end of the year 26(c) 1133 624
Group statement of recognised income and expense
for the year ended 31 December 2008

2008 2007

£m £mn

Net foreign exchange adjustments offset in reserves, net of tax 372 4.1
Cash flow hedges, net of 1ax {66.5) 47.0
Actuarial (losses)/gains on employment benefits, net of tax (51.2) 70.6
Tax relief on share option schemes - 0.5
Net {expense)/income recognised directly in equity ({80.5) 1222
Profit for the year 111.2 90.0
Total recognised Income and expense 30.7 2122
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 16.1 206.7
Mincrity interests 14.6 55

30.7 212.2
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Accounting palicies

Basis of preparation

As a UK listed company, Arfiva plc is required to prepare its group accounts in accordance with EU endorsed International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), Intermnational Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations and the Companies

Act 1985 and 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with EU endorsed IFRS, IFRIC interpretations and the Companies Act 1985 and 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS
for periods ending 31 December 2008.

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basts of accounting, other than for certain iterns of property, plant and
equipment that have been stated at deemed cost under the transitional rules of IFRS, share-based payment charges, pensions,
and derivative financial instruments which are measured at tair value. The functional and presentational cumency of the group is
pounds sterfing.

The principal accounting policies of the group are set out below:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incerporate the financial statements of Asriva plc and its subsidiaries made up to 31 December
each year. Subsidiaries are entities over which the group has the power to govern the tinancial and operating policies, generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one halt of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are fully consoclidated fom the date on which
control is transferred to the group and de-consclidated from the date control ceases. The group’s interests in jointty controlled
entities are accounted for by proportional consolidation, combining its share of the joint ventures' profits, assets, liabllities and cash
flows on a line-by-line basis with those of the group. Associates are those entities over which the group can exercise significant
influence, but not control or joint control. Associates are accounted for using the equity method,

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Cn acquisition, the assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the
group's share of net assets acquired is recorded as an intangible asset or goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair

value of the group's share of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

Intra-group {ransactions, balances, income and expenses are efiminated on consolidation.

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of consideration received or receivable in respect of the provision of public transport services and
related activities in the UK and mainland Europe. Generally, revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion method,
principally with respect to the percentage of services rendered 10 fare-paying customers, or the percentage of services provided
under contractual arrangemants. For contractual arrangements where significant timing differences may asise between the timing of
cash revenues and cash costs, revenue is recognised with respect to the proportion of the total costs incurred to date.

Revenue inctudes amounts attributed to LK train operating companies based principally on agreed models of route usage in respect
of passenger receipts. In addition, franchise agreement receipts from the Welsh Assembly Government and the Department for
Transport are treated as revenue.

Proceeds fram the disposal of non-current assets are excluded from revenue.

Use of estimates and accounting assumptions

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the group's reported
results. Athough these estimates are based on management's best knowledge at the time, actual results could differ from those
estimates. The key areas of judgment or estimation which could impact the results in the next financial year were they to change
include the economic useful lives of property, plant and equipment {disclosed below), the use of actuarial assumptions for measurerment
of retirement benefit obligations (see note 20}, the measurement of insurance provisions, tax assets and iiabilities, and the use of
forecasts in respect of the annual testing tor impairment of goodwill.

Exceptional items
Exceptional items are those items which, because of their nature and materiality, merit separate presentation to allow a better
understanding of the group's financial performance.

Segment reporting

The group's primary risks and rates of return are determined by both the business and geographical areas in which it operates.
Disclosure of resulis by business segment is used as the basis for primary segment disclosures, in line with the group's intermnal
managerment reporting structure.
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Accounting policies continued

Govemnmment grants

Government grants relating to capital expenditure are included as deferred income and are credited to the income statement over
the expected useful economic lite of the assets concerned. Grants provided in connection with the award of rail contracts are
included in deferred income, and released over the period comesponding to the performance canditions specified in the grant.
Revenue related grants are credited to the income statement when the related expenditure is expensed.

Foreign currency translation
The trading results of overseas subsidiary undertakings are transtated into sterling using average rates of exchange. Foreign currency
assets and liabilities are translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.

Ditferences on exchange arising from the retranslation of the opening investment in subsidiary undertakings and the associated
borrowings or hedging instruments, where hedge accounting is permitted, are taken to the stalement of recognised income and
expense. Cumulative currency gains and losses in reserves are recycled to the income statement on disposal of operations,

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings held for use in the delivery of passenger transport services and for administration purposes are stated in the
balance sheet at cost or deemed cost.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost or valuation of each asset less its residual value over its
estimated useful life as follows:

Buildings 50 years
Fixtures, fittings, ptant and machinery 3 - 10 years
Motor vehicles - buses and coaches up to 15 years
Rail rolling stock up to 35 years

Asset useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually. Major refurbishment work on rail rolling stock is capitalised and
depreciated over the interval 10 the subsequent related major refurbishment. Interest costs incurred in financing the construction
of certain assets are capitalised where they are considered significant in refation to the asset being constructed and the assey
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to be prepared for its intended use. Rail rolling stock undergoing post construction
acceptance testing is not depreciated until the commencement of full operational service.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the group’s share of the net identifiable assets,
kiabilities and contingent liabilities at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaties and joint ventures is disclosed
separatsly in non-current assets. Geodwill on acquisition of associates is included in investments.

Goodwill is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accurmulated impairment losses.
Gains and losses on the dispesal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill previously eliminated against reserves has not been reinstated.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised when acquired as part of business combinations where customer related contractual cash flows
exist, and their fair value can theretore be measured reliably. Intangible assets purchased separately are measured at cost.
Intangitle assets that have a finite life are amartised annually over their expected useful lives.

Impairment

At each balance sheet date the group reviews the carrying amount of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there
are any indicators of impairment. It indicators of impairment exist then the recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is
estimated based on pre-tax discounted future cash flows.

Where individual assets do not generate cash flows independent from other assets, the group reviews the carrying value and
recoverable amount of a cash generating unit. This is the smallest group of assets where independent cash flows are produced.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unitis less than its carrying amound, the difference is recognised in the
income statement as an impairment loss.

Inventories
Inventeries are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value after making allowances for slow moving or obsolete items.
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Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost; any difterence between the initial carrying value and the redemption value is recognised in the incoms statement over the
period of the borrowings using the eftective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as curent liabilities unfess the group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least twelve months after the balance sheet date.

Taxation
Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expecied to be recovered from or paid 1o taxation authorities using the
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the kiability method, on tlemporary ditferences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax is not recognised if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Detferred tax is determined using the tax rates {(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date and which are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liabilly is settted.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available egainst which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

Defermed tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates.
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difterence is controlled by the group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse In the foreseeable future.

Pensions
The group operates both defined benefit and defined contribution retirement benefit schemes. The group alse participates in a
rumber of multi-employer retrement benefit schemes and a number of state-managed retirement benefit schemes.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of the group's defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the
defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair valus of the plan assets, together with adjustments for
unrecognised past service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method.

Formal actuarial valuations are carried out on a triennial basis, with updated calculations being prepared at each balance sheet
date. The present value of the defined benetit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using
interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.

The cost of proviging future benefits (service cost is charged to the incorme statement in net operating expenses. The return on
scheme assets and interest obligation on scheme liabilities comprise a pension finance adjustment which is included in net
operating expenses, Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuaria assumptions are
charged or credited ta equity and shown in the statement of recognised income and expense in the period in which they arise.

Centain overseas defined benefit schemes, where the employer's underlying assets and liabilities are not separately identifiable
within the scheme, are accounted for as defined contribution schemes under 1AS19. Contributions to these schemes, and the
group's defined contribution schemes, are charged to the income statement as they arise.

Share-basad payments

The group Issues equity settled share-based payments to certain employees, which are measured at fair value al the date of grant.
The fair value is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the group's estimate of shares that will
eventually vest. The impact of revising original estimates, if any, is included in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly aftributable transaction costs are crediled to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium when the options are exercised.
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Accounting policies continued

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required 1o settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated.

Leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease's ingeption at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the
present value of the minirmum lease payments. The comesponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other
payables. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate of interest
costs charged to the income staterment on the outstanding balance. The property, plant and-equipment acquired under tinance
leases are depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.

Leases where the lessor retains a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor} are charged to the income statement
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash in hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments with a maturity of
less than 90 days that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

Derivative financial instruments

The group uses derivative financial instruments to reduce exposures to foreign currency exchange risk, interest rate risk and
changes in fuel prices to acceptable levels. All derivatives are initially recognised at iair value, and are subsequently remeasured to
fair value at each reporting date.

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments are accounted for in line with the nature of the hedging arrangement. Derivalives are
intended to be highly effective in mitigating the above risks, and hedge accounting is adopted where the required hedge
documentation is in place and the relevant test criteria are met. Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income statement.

Forelgn currency exchange risk

Derivatives are entered into in order to hedge exposure to foreign currency exchange risk. The group also uses foreign currency
debt to hedge foreign currency exposures. Both the derivatives and debt are designated as hedges of net investments in overseas
subsidiaries.

Interest rate and fuel price risk

Derivative instruments are used to manage the group’s exposure to changes in cash flows arising from movernents in interest rates
and fuel prices. The derivatives are designated as cash flow hedges, and hedge accounting is used where it has been shown that
the hedge relaticnship is highly effective.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative
gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction fs ultimately recognised
in the income: statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported
in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement.

Dividend distribution
Dividend distributions to the company's shareholders are recognised in the group's financial statements in the period in which the
dividends are paid.
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New standards and interpretations

The following standards and interpretations have been issued by the Interational Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and IFRIC
with an effective date that impacts on these financial statements.

International accounting standards and interpretations

Effective date

IFRIC11 IFRS2: Group and Treasury Share Transactions 1 March 2007
IFRIC12 Senvice Concession Arrangements i January 2008
IFRIC14 14519 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,

Minimum Fungding requirements and their Interaction

1 January 2008

IFRIC12 has not been adopted by the group as it has not yet been endorsed by the European Union. The adoption of IFRIC1 1
and disclosure requirements of IFRIC14 has not had a material impact on the group's financial statements.

The following standards and interpretations have been issued by the IASB and IFRIC with an effective date that does not impact
on these financial statements.

Intemational accounting standards and interpretations

Efiective date

IFRS vartous  Annual improvements 2008 1 January 2009
IFRS2 Share-based Payment - Amendment retating to vesting conditions

and cancellations 1 January 2009
IFRS3 Busiress Combinations - Comprehensive revision on applying the acquisition method 1 July 2009
IFRS8 Operating Segments 1 January 2009
IASH Presentation of Financial Statements - Comprehensive revision

including requiring a statement of comprehensive income 1 January 2009
1AS1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Amendments relating to disciosure

of puttable instruments and obligations arising on liquidation 1 January 2009
1AS23 Borowing Costs - Comprehensive revision to prohibit immediate expensing 1 January 2009
|AS27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements -

Consequential amendments arising from amendments to IFRS3 1 July 2009
|1AS28 Investments in Associates - Consequential amendments arising from amendments to IFRS3 1 July 2009
IAS3H Interests in Joint Ventures - Consequential amendments arising from amendments to IFRS3 1 July 2009
1AS32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - Amendments refating to puttable

instruments and obligations arising cn liquidation 1 January 2009
1AS39 Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement - amendments for eligible hedged items 1 July 2009
IFRIC13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 1 July 2008
IFRIC15 Agreements for the construction of real estate 1 January 2009
IFRIC16 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation 1 October 2008
IFRIC17 Distribetion of non-cash assets to owners 1 July 2009
IFRIC18 Transfer of assels from customers 1 July 2009

The directors are currently reviewing the requirements of the above standards and interpretations to determine whether there will
be a material impact on the group's financial statements.




Noies to the accounts

1. Segmental reporting

Primary reporting format - business segments

year ended 31 December 2008

Mainland Total
UK Bus Europe UK Trains Central  operations
£m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 922.4 1,282.0 837.8 - 3,042.2
EBITDA 159.8 151.4 37.6 (18.4) 330.4
Depreciation (60.5) (81.8) (3.9 ©.4) (146.6}
Operating profit* $9.3 69.6 33.7 (18.8) 1838
Goodwill impairment and intangible asset amortisation - 9.8 2.2 - {12.0}
Group operating profit 99.3 59.8 315 {18.8} 171.8
Share of post tax profits from associates - 44 - - 4.4
Net finance costs (26.2)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 150.0
Tax on profit on ordinary activilies (38.8)
Profit for the year 111.2
Profit attributable to minority interests 6.7)
Net profit attributable to equity shareholders 104.5

* Before goodwill impairment and intangible asset amortisation

(@) Included above is £41.8 million of revenue and £3.9 million of operating profit, before goodwill impairment and intangible asset
amortisation, refating to the acquisitions made by the Mainland Europe division during the year. There is £49.0 millicn of
revenue and £2.1 million of operating profit relating to acquisitions made by the UK Bus divisicn and £0.8 million of revenue
and £nil operating profit relating to acquisitions made by the UiK Trains division.

) Tax on profit on ordinary activities inciudes an exceptionat deferred tax charge of £7.7 million relating to the abolition of

Inddustrial Buildings Allowances in the UK.

{c) Revenue far UK Trains includes franchise agreement receipts amounting to £402.9 million.
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Primary reporting format - business segments

year ended 31 December 2007

Mainland Total

UK Bus Europe UK Trains Central  operations

£m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 814.7 863.6 322.4 - 2,000.7
EBITDA 1442 111.0 10.7 {16.7) 249.2

Depreciation {56.3) (53.9) (3.2} (0.4) {113.8)
Operating profit* 87.9 57.1 7.5 (17.1) 135.4

Goodwill impairment and intangibie asset amortisation - (6.4} (1.0} - (7.4)
Group operating profit 87.9 50.7 6.5 {17.1) 128.0
Share of post tax profits from associates . 4.3 - - 4.3
Net finance costs (16.5)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 1158
Tax on profit on ordinary activities (25.8)
Profit for the year 90.0
Profit attributable to minority interests {3.6)
Net profit attributable to equity shareholders 86.4

* Before goodwilt impaimment and intangible asset amontisation

(a) Included above is £113.0 million of revenue and £2.7 million of operating prolit, before goodwill impairment and intangible
asset amortisation, relating to the acquisitions made by the Maintand Europe division during the year. There is £1.3 million
of revenue and £0.1 million operating loss refating to acquisitions made by the UK Bus division.

(o) Revenue for UK Trains includes franchise agreement receipts amounting to £182.5 million.
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Notes to the accounts continued

1. Segmental reporting (ontinueq)

Primary reporting format - business segments
year ended 31 December 2008

Mainland
UK Bus Europe UK Trains Central Group
£m £m £m £m £m
Segment assels 715.4 17711 126.3 15.4 2,628.2
Investment in equity accounted associates 20 139.9 - - 141.9
Unallocated assets:
- Cash and cash equivalents 147.7
- Derivative tinancial instruments 61.8
Total assets 717.4 1,.911.0 126.3 15.4 2,979.6
Segment liabilities (265.3) (605.0) (173.4) (71.8) (1,115.5)
Unallocated liabilities:
- Corporate borrowings 971.1)
- Derivative financial instruments (182.8)
- Deferred tax on derivative financial instrurnents 8.0
Total liabilities (265.3) {605.0) {173.4) (71.8) (2,261.4)
Net assets 718.2
Other segment items
Capital expenditure:
- Property, plant and equipment existing businesses 87.1 164.6 1.8 0.5 263.8
- Property, plant and equipment acquisitions 223 476 0.2 - 701
year ended 31 December 2007
Mainland
UK Bus Eurppe UK Trains Central Group
£m £m £m £m £m

Segment assets 642.1 1,163.8 114.3 17.0 1,937.2
Investment in equity accounted associates - 63.6 - - 63.6
Unallocated assets:
- Cash and cash equivalents 95.7
- Derivative financial instruments 61.4
Total assets 642.1 1,227.4 114.3 17.0 2,157.9
Segment liabiiities (222.4) (448.9) (132.5) (34.7 (838.5)
Unallocated liabilities:
- Corporale borrowings (544.2)
- Derivative financial instrumants {23.1)
- Deferred tax on derivalive linancial instruments {18.1)
Total liabilities (222.4) {448.9) (132.5) (34.7) (1,423.9)
Net assets 734.0
Other segment items
Capital expenditure:
- Property, plant and equipment existing businesses 454 178.1 8.8 02 232.6
- Property, plant and equipment acquisitions 09 97.5 - - 98.4
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Secondary reporting format - geographical segments

The group’s operations are located in the UK and mainland Europe. The UK is the home country of the parent.

Revenue Segment assets Capital expenditure
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m £m £m
UK 1,760.2 1,137.1 B857.1 773.4 992 54.5
Mainland Europe 1,282.0 8636 1,771.4 1,163.8 164.6 1781
3,042.2 2,000.7 2,628.2 1,937.2 263.8 2326
Investments in equity accounted associates 141.9 63.6 - -
Unallocated assets:
- Cash and cash equivalents 147.7 95.7 - -
- Derivative financial instruments B1.8 B61.4 - .
2,979.6 2,187.9 253.8 2326
2. Net finance costs
2008 2007
£m £m
Finance costs:
- Interest payable on bank and other borrowings repayable within five years 249 15.86
- Interest payable on bank and other borrowings repayable after five years 1.9 0.8
Finance lease charges 7.6 53
Hire purchase charges 1.3 15
Interest payable and similar charges 35.7 23.2
Finance income:
- Interest receivable on other financing items {9.5) 6.7)
Net finance costs 26.2 16.5
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Notes to the accounts continued

3. Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

2008 2007
(a) Net operating expenses (analysis by function): £m £m
QOperating cosis 2,549.6 1,629.6
Administrative expenses 320.8 243.1
2,870.4 1,872.7
2008 2007
(b) The following items have been included in arriving at operating profit (analysis by nature): £m £m
Staff costs 1,256.1 977.0
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 146.6 113.8
Amortisation of intangible assets 8.5 56
Impairment of goodwill 25 18
Profit on disposal of properties {3.7) (3.2
Operating lease rentals payable:
- Plant and equipment 547.4 172.7
- Property 20.3 159
Repairs and maintainance expenditure on property, plant and equipment 15.0 13.3
During the year the group (including its overseas subsidiaries) ebtained the 2008 2007
foliowing services from the group's auditors and network firms as detailed below: £m £m
Remuneration payable to the company*s auditors for the auditing of the annual accounts 0.4 0.4
The auditing of accounts of subsidiaries of the company pursuant to legisiation
{countries and territories outside Great Britain) 0.9 05
Services relating to taxation 0.3 01
All other services 0.2 0.5
1.8 15

Included in the group's audit fees and expenses paid to the auditors is £0.1 million (2007: £0.1 million) in respect of the parent company.

4. Employee information

2008 2007

(a) Average number of employees by business: Number Number
UK Bus 19,243 18,014
UK Trains 3,797 2,373
Mainland Europe 17,312 14,662
40,352 35,049

Central 135 134
Total operations 40,487 35,183
2008 2007

(b) Staff costs (including executive directors): £m £m
Wages and salaries 1,086.0 840.0
Socia! security costs 1225 929
Pension costs {nole 20) 47.6 441
1,256.1 977.0

Key management personnel are considered lo be the directors and their remuneration is disclosed within the directors’

remuneration report which torms part of these financial stalements,

82 | Driving on Ariva plc Annual Report & Accounts 2008




5. Taxation

2008 2007
Analysis of charge in the year £m £m
Current tax 12.2 26.0
Deterred tax 18.9 (0.2)
Exceptional deferred tax charge 7.7 -
Taxation 38.8 25.8
The exceptional deferred tax charge is due to the abolition of Industrial Buildings Allowanges in the UK.

2008 2007
Tax on items (credited)/charged to equity £m £m
Current tax credit on exchange movements offset in reserves (16.2) @70
Deferred tax {credit)/charge on Cross cumency swaps (3.2) 0.7
Deferred tax (credit)/charge on cash flow hedges (22.9) 183
Deterred tax (credit)/charge on actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit schemes (14.6) 289
Deferred tax credit on other items {0.5) -
Current tax credit on share option schemes - (0.5}
Tetal tax on tems {credited)/charged to equity (57.4) 447

The tax for the year is lower (2007: lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 28.5 per cent (2007: 30 per cent).
The dilferences are explained below:

2008 2007
£m £m

Profit on ordinary aclivities before taxation 150.0 1158
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 28.5 per cent
(2007: 30 per cent) 42.8 34.7
Effects of:
- Adjustments to tax in respect of prior years {12.4) {7.5)
- Income not subject to tax (0.8) 0.7
- Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 3.8 2.4
- Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (7.4) (1.3
- Tax losses arising where no deferred tax asset has been recognised 2.0 0.1
- Different tax rates of subsidiaries opersting in other jurisdictions 4.3 36
- Results from associated undertakings . {1.2) (1.3}
- Abclition of Industrial Buildings Allowances in the UK 7.7 -
- Remeasurement of deferred tax - change in UK tax rate - (3.0}
- Remeasurement of deferred tax - change in German tax rate - (1.2}
Total taxation 38.8 25.8
6. Dividends

2008 2007

£m £m

Final dividend paid for the year ended 31 December 2007 of 17.06 pence
{2007 final dividend paid for the year ended 31 December 2006 of 15.51 pence) per share 3.9 308
Interim dividend paid for the year ended 31 December 2008 of 6.15 pence
{2007: interim dividend paid for the year ended 31 December 2007 of 5.59 pence) per share 12.2 11
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year 46.1 41.9

The directors are proposing & final dividend in respect of the financial year ending 31 December 2008 of 17.91 pence per share
which will absorb an estimated £35.6 million of shareholders' funds taking the total dividend for the year 10 24.06 pence.
It will be: paid on 1 May 2009 to shareholders who are on the Register of Members on 27 March 2009.




Notes to the accounts continued

7. Earnings per share

2008 2007
Pershare  Eamings Shares Per share  Earnings Shares

{a) Basic and diluted eamings per share [} £m m p £m m
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 104.5 86.4
Weighted average number of shares 198.6 198.4
Basic eamings per share 52.6 104.5 198.6 435 86.4 198.4
Performance-based share option schemes:
- Additional shares for earnings contingency 1.8 0.9
- Number of shares that would have been

issued &t fair value (0.7) 0.2)
Diluted eamings per share 52.3 104.5 199.7 434 86.4 199.1
(b) Basic eamings per share before goodwill impaimment, intangible assst 2008 2007
amartisation and exceptional items p o]
Basic earnings per share 52.6 435
Earnings per share relating to:
- Goodwill impairment and intangible asset amortisation 5.0 3.0
- Exceptional deferred tax 3.9 -
Basic eamings per share before goodwill impairment, intangible asset
amortigation and exceptional items 615 46.5
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8. Goodwill

2008 2007
£m £m
Cost
At 1 January 381.3 336.0
Additions {note 27b) 100.0 24.1
Hindsight adjustment (note 27¢) 0.8 22
Currency translation adjustments 90.5 18.0
At 31 December 572.6 381.3
Impairment
AL 1 January 53.1 49.6
Impairment in the year 25 1.8
Currency translation adjustments 7.1 1.7
At 31 December 627 53.1
Net book amount at 31 December 509.9 328.2

Details of acquisitions in the year are shown in note 27. During the year, goodwill was reviewed fgr impairment in accordance with
1AS36. For the purposes ot this impairment review goodwill has been tested on the basis of discounted future cash flows arising in
each relevant cash generating unit. Goodwill is allocated across multiple cash generating units and the amount allocated to each

unit is not significant in comparison with the total carrying amount of goodwill,

9. Other intangible assets

2008 2007
£m £m
Cost
At 1 January 83.0 47.8
Additions (note 27b) 29.5 12.0
Currency translation adjustments 19.1 32
At 31 December 111.8 63.0
Amortisation
AL 1 January 19.8 128
Amortisation for the year 9.5 56
Currency translation adjustments 5.6 1.3
At 31 December 35.9 19.8
Net book amount at 31 December 5.7 432

The addition of £29.5 million in the year is in respect of customer contracts recognised on the acquisition of De Blas.

All amortisation charges in the year have been chargad through net operating expenses. Intangible assets relate to identifiable assets
purchased as part of the group's business combinations, and the right 1o operale the Amiva Trains Wales and CrossCountry rail

franchises. Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their expected useful economic lives.
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Notes to the accounts continued

10. Property, plant and equipment

Plant,
company
vehicles, Railway
tand & fixtures & Buses & rolling

buildings fittings coaches stock Total
2008 £m £m £m Em £m
Cost
At t January 2008 341.0 228.1 1,281.2 156.5 2,006.8
Acquisitions 5.7 19.0 105.3 05 130.5
Additions g2 38.3 176.7 3.6 263.8
Disposals (2.9) (14.0) (74.7) Q.1) (91.7)
Currency translation adjustments 62.0 50.7 208.8 57.1 3786
At 31 December 2008 415.0 3221 1,697.3 253.6 2,688.0
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2008 64.0 138.7 602.6 371 842.4
Acquisitions - 12.5 47.5 0.4 60.4
Charge iar the year 75 222 108.9 8.0 146.6
Disposals (1.1} {5.0) (66.5) 0.1 {72.n
Currency translation adjustments 17.5 325 Bg.2 13.2 161.4
At 31 Decemnber 2008 a7.9 200.9 780.7 58.6 1,128.1
Net book amcunts
At 31 December 2008 3271 121.2 916.6 185.0 1,559.9

The net book amount of assets held under hire purchase and finance lease contracts included in plant, company vehicles. buses
and coaches is £358.7 million (2007 £277.0 million). The depreciation provided in the year in respect of these assets was
£42.7 million (2007: £28.3 million}. The gross cost of assets held ter the purpose of letting under cperating leases amounts
to £15.3 million (2007: £15.3 millien). The accumulated depreciation on these assets was £6.3 millien (2007: £7.3 million).

Plant,
company
vehicles, Railway
Land & {ixtures & Buses & rolling
buildings fittings coaches stock Total
2007 £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
Al 1 January 2007 267 .4 134.7 1,099.6 108.1 1,609.8
Acquisitions 49.8 55.3 99.9 13.5 2185
Additions 145 31.3 93.9 929 2326
Disposals (5.9) (4.2 (59.3) (70.5) (139.9}
Currency translation adjustments 15.2 11.0 47.1 125 858
At 31 December 2007 341.0 228.1 1.281.2 156.5 2,006.8
Accurnulated depreciation
Al 1 January 2007 39.8 76.6 488.2 227 627.3
Acquisitions 16.5 415 58.5 5.8 1201
Charge for the year 56 16.1 86.2 59 113.8
Disposals 2.2 {2.5) (4a7.8) (52.5)
Currency translation adjustments 43 7.0 195 29 33.7
At 31 December 2007 64.0 138.7 602.6 37.1 842.4
Net book amounts
At 31 December 2007 277.0 89.4 678.6 119.4 1,164.4
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2008 2007
£m £m
Net book amount of land and buildings comprises:
- Freehold 323.5 275.0
- Long-leasehold 21 0.4
- Short-leasehold 1.5 1.8
327.1 277.0
11. investments accounted for using the equity method
2008 2007
Investments {(all unquoted) £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 53.6 51.4
Additions 42.7 37
Share of recognised profit for the year* 4.4 4.3
Currency trans!ation adjustments 3.2 4.2
At 31 December 141.9 63.6
* Share of recognised prafit for the year is stated after tax
2008 2007
The group's share of the nel assets of its associates is analysed below: £m £m
Non-current assets 206.2 1129
Current assets 54.2 39.4
Non-current liabilities (63.0) {51.5)
Current liabilities {56.8) {38.4)
Share of net assels 140.6 62.4
2008 2007
The group’s share of its associates’ revenue and profit is analysed below: £&m £m
Revenue 112.6 63.9
Profit 4.4 43
12. Inventories
2008 2007
£m £m
Raw materials, consumables and work in progress 42.9 33.0
Finished goods and goods for resale 9.4 a1
52.3 4.1

The group consumed £354.6 million (2007: £269.1 million) of inventories during the year.
There was no material write down of inventories during the cument or prior year.




Notes to the accounts continued

13. Trade and other receivables

2008 2007
Em £m

Current assels:
Trade receivables 206.4 144.3
Less: Provision for impairment of receivables 6.2 (4.5)
Trade receivables — net 200.2 1388
Prepayments and accrued incorme 77.8 69.2
Other receivables 152.3 151.3
430.4 360.3

Credit risk arising from customers is managed at a local level and is subject to periodic reviews by central management and the
group's internal audit function. Credit limits are in place for customers, many of which are local authorities or local transpost
autherities. Due to the nature of certain contractual arrangements, partcularty where the agreement and settlement of allocations
of passenger revenues between multiple service providers can take more than one year to compilete, certain customer debts can
often exceed one year before settlement. This is common, and the incidence of impairment of such debl is both rare and immaterial,

Due to the immaterial fevel of the provision for impairment of receivables as detailed above, no further disclosure is made.
The group considers there to be no material difference between the fair value of trade and other receivables and their carrying
amount in the balance sheet.

The carrying amounts of the group’s trade and other receivables 2008 2007
are denominated in the Iollowing currencies: £m £m
Sterling 133.6 135.7
Euro 178.8 147.0
Other European currencies 118.0 776

4304 360.3

14. Cash, cash equivalents and overdrafts

2008 2007
Cash, cash equivalents and overdraits in the cash flow statement comprise: £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 147.7 85.7
Bank overdrafts (note 17) (34.4) (33.3)
1133 62.4
15. Trade and other payables
2008 2007
£m £m
Current liabilities:
Trade payables 258.1 160.2
Payments received on account 0.4 0.4
Other taxation and social security payable 46.9 355
Other payables 136.3 115.2
Accruals and delerred income 266.1 235.2
707.8 546.5

88 | Driving on Asriva plc Annual Report & Accounts 2008




16. Tax liabilities

2008 2007
£m £m
Current tax liabifities 51.2 345
17. Financial liabilities - borrowings
2008 2007
Em £m
Current liabllities:
- Short-term loans 110.6 84.6
- Bank overdrafts 344 333
145.0 117.9
- Finance leases 291 105
174.1 128.4
Non-current {iabilities:
- Syndicated lans 434.7 203.2
- Other loans 258.2 123.3
- Finance leases 104.1 89.3
797.0 415.8
2008 2007
£m £m
Loan capital and other borrowings repayment statement:
- Within one year or on demand 1741 128.4
- Between one and two years 128.3 96.2
- Between two and five years 600.5 299.6
- Qver five years 68.2 20.0
971.1 544.2

The tctal of the loans, any part of which fall due for repayment after five years, is £101.8 million (2007: £63.8 million). £63.5 million
(2007: £31.2 million) represents bank loans in the Mainland Europe division, with varying repayment dates and interest rates.
£38.3 million (2007: £32.6 miltion) represents fixed interest finance lease funding of the Mainland Europe bus fleet, with varying
repayment dates and interest rates ranging between 3.9 per cent and 8.7 per cent.



Notes to the accounts continued

17. Financial liabilities - borrowings contnuea

Security and guarantees
Borrowings amounting to £372 million, principally relating to the bus fleet, are secured by charges over the related assets.

As part of the UK rail franchising arrangements the group has provided guarantees of £47 million (2007: £46 million).

The group has provided £31 million (2007: £25 million) of bonds in respect of its rail pperations in Denmark, the Netherlands

and Gerrmany.

At 31 December 2008, letters of credit amounting to the value of €11 million (2007: £16 milion) are provided by the group's
bankers, guaranteed by Arriva pic, in favour of the group's insurers.

Syndicated loans are secured by guaraniees given by Arriva pic and certain UK subsidiaries.

2008 2007
The effective interast rates at the balance sheet date were as follows: % %
Cash and cash equivalents 26 4.8
Bank overdraft 3.0 6.5
Bank borrowings 4.3 4.2
Finance lease 4.4 52
Other financial liabilities 5.3 56

2008 2007
The carrying amount of the group's borrowings are denominated in the following currencies: £m £m
Sterling 2732 785
Euro 5191 2809
Cther European currencies 178.8 1848

971.1 544.2

Fair valus of financial assets and financial liabilities

Due to the short-term nature of financial assets and financial liabilities, or the floating rate nature of non-current financial liabilities,
the group considers there to be no material difference between the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities and their

carrying amount in the balance sheet.

Maturity of financial liabilities
The maturity profile of the carrying amount of the group’s non-current liabilities at 31 December was as (ollows:

Finance 2008 Finance 2007
Debt leases Total Debt leases Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
In more than one year but

not more than two years 108.3 19.0 128.3 724 23.8 96.2

In more than two years but
not more than five years 543.9 56.6 600.5 247.7 51.9 299.6
In more than five years 39.7 28.5 £8.2 6.4 136 20.0
692.9 104.1 7970 3265 9.3 4158
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Borrowing facilities
The group has the following undrawn committed bomowing facilities available at 31 December in respect of which all conditions
precedent had been met at that date:

2008 2007

£m £m

Expiring within one year 78.0 57.0
Expiring in more than two years 180.3 4158
258.3 4728

Finance leases

The group typically enters into finance leases of no mare than five years' duration on an amortising basis. Given the short-term
nature of this funding, the group considers there to be no material difference between the fair value of finance leases and their
carrying amount in the balance sheet,

Finance lease obligations included in current liabilities amount to £29.1 million (2007: €10.5 million} and in non-current liabilities
amount to £104.1 million {2007; £89.3 million).

18. Other non-current liabilities

2008 2007

£rn £m

Accruals and deferred incoma 110.1 99.2
Other payables 229 15.1
133.0 1143

19. Derivative financial instruments

Financial instrument disclosures ale set out below. Additional disclosures are set out in the accounting policies.

2008 2007
£m £m
MNon-current assets:
Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedge - 0.4
Fuel derivatives - cash flow hedge 51.8 39.2
51.8 396
2008 2007
£m £m
Current assets:
Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedge - 1.2
Fuel derivatives - cash flow hedge 10.0 20.6
i0.0 218

N




Notes to the accounts continued

19. Derivative financial instruments (continueq

2008 2007
£m £m
Current liabilities:

Interest rate swaps - cash llow hedge 09 .
Forward foreign currency contracts - cash flow hedge 0.7 -
Fuel derivatives - cash flow hedge 65.9 -
Cross currency swaps - net investment hedge N3 10.4
98.8 10.4
2008 2007
£m £m

Non-current liabilities:
Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedge 8.2 -
Fuel derivatives - cash flow hedge 17.2 -
Crass currency swaps - net investment hedge 58.6 12.7
84.0 127

In accordance with 1AS39 ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement, Arriva plc has reviewed all contracts for embeddad
derivatives that are required to be separately accounted for if they do not meet certain requirements set aut in the standard.

All embedded derivatives were found 10 be closely relaled to their host contracts, and therefore no fair value exercise was required
o be undenaken.

Maturity of derivative financial instruments
The maturity profile of the carrying amount of the group's derivative financial instruments was as follows:

Between Betwaen
Less than one and two and Over
cne year two years five years five years
At 31 December 2008 £m £m £m £m
Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedge ©.9) (3.5 (4.7} -
Forward foreign currency conitracts - cash flow hedge .7 - - -
Fuel derivatives - cash flow hedge (55.9) (7.1) 23.9 17.8
Cross currency swaps - net investment hedge (31.3) (48.4) (10.2) -
Between Between
Less than one and two and Over
ong year two years five years five years
At 31 December 2007 £m £m £m £m
Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedge 12 - 04 -
Fuel derivatives - cash flow hedge 20.6 1.0 5.6 32.6
Cross currency swaps - nel investiment hedge (10.4) (5.0} 7.7y -
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Net fair values of derivative financial instruments
The fair velues of derivative financial instrements designated in cash flow hedges were:

2008 2007
£m £m
Contracts with positive fair values:
- Interest rate swaps - 1.6
- Fuel derivatives 61.8 59.8
Contracts with negative fair values:
- Interest rate swaps 9.1) -
- Forward foreign currency contracts 0.7) -
- Fuel derivatives (83.1) -

The fair values of derivatives have been supplied externally by the respective counterparties to the derivative and by banks using
marketl rates prevailing at the balance sheet date.

20. Retirement benefit obligations

At 31 December 2008 the group operated a number of retirement benefit schemes, both defined benefit and defined contribution,
which are financed through separate Trustee administered funds managed by independent professional fund managers on behall
of the Trustees. Contributions to the defined benefit funds are based upon actuarial advice following the most recent of a reguiar
series of valuations of the funds by their representative independent actuaries. Certain employees of Arriva Merseyside Limited
participate in the Local Govemment Pension Scheme. This is a defined benefit scheme funded by payments to the Merseyside
Pension Fund, The latest formal actuarial valuation of the Merseyside Pension Fund was carried out as at 31 March 2007.

Certain employees of Arriva Trains Wales Limited and XC Trains Uimited, participate In funded defined benefit sections which form
part of the overall Raitways Pension Scheme (‘RPS’}.

Total pension cost
The total pension cost for the group was £47.6 million (2007: £44.1 miflion}. The pension costs in respect of the group's defined
contribution schemes was £32.4 miflion (2007: £25.8 million).

Defined benefit plans

The directors believe that separate consideration should be given to the RPS under IAS19 as the group has no rights or
obligations in respect of sections of this scheme following the expiry of the franchises. The amounts relating to the rail schemes
are therefore shown separately and relate to sectiens in respect of Arriva Trains Wales Limited and XC Trains Limited only.

The calculations used to assess the 1AS19 liabilities of the retirement benefit schemes are based on the most recent actuarial
valuations, updated to 31 Decernber 2008 by qualified independent actuaries, KPMG LLP The schernes' assets are stated at their
market value at 31 December 2008. The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date are:

2008 2007

% %

Discount rate 6.6 59

Intlation rate 2.8 az

Increases to deferred benetits during deferment 2.8 3z

Increases to pensions i payment 2.7 30

Increases to salaries 3.8 4.2
Weighted average expected long-term rate of return of the scheme assets at 31 December,

after deduction for scheme expenses 7.4 76

Weighted average life expectancy for mortality tables to determine benetil obligations: 2008 2007

years years

Member age 65 (current life expectancy} Male 17 18

Female 19 21

Member age 45 (life expectancy at age 65} Male 18 19

Female 20 22
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Notes to the accounts continued

20. Retirement benefit obligations (centnues

The major categories of plan assets and the expected rate of retum at the balance sheet date for each category, is as follows:

2008 2007
% %

Category of assets at the year end
Equities 7.75 8.25
Bonds 5.5 50
Other 6.4 69
Weighted average expected long-term rate of retum at 31 Becember, after deduction for scheme expenses 7.1 7.6

The overall expected rate of return is a weighted average of the expected retums of the various categosies of plan assets held.
The directors' assessment of the expected returns is based on historical return trends, the forward Iooking views of financial markets

(suggested by the yields available) and the views of investment crganisations.

The actual loss on plan assets was £230.5 million {2007: return £51.2 million).

Group

Schemes RPS Total Total Total Total

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet 2008 2008 2008 2007 2006 2005
are determined as follows: £m £m £m £m £m £m
Present value of funded obligations (613.3) (295.4) (908.7) {1,062.1) {927.9) (856.3)
Fair value of plan assets 525.0 243.8 7688 981.5 747.7 640.2
Delicit (88.3) (51.6) (139.9) {80.6} (180.2) {216.1)
Deficit relating to scheme members - 20.6 208 8.1 6.4 87
Unrecognised asset (0.8) - (0.8) 1.2) - -
Net deficit recognised in the balance sheet (89.1) (31.0) {120.1) (73.7) {173.8} (207.4)
2008 2007

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows: £m £m
Cument service costs 24.3 23.4
Interest cost 547 46.4
Expected return on assels (63.8) (51.5)
15.2 18.3

Actuarial gains and losses have been reporied in the statement of recognised income and expense.
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2008 2007

Movements in the present value of defined benelit obligations were as follows: £m £m
At 1 January 1,062.1 927.9
Member contributions paid 206 17.3
Current senice cost 24.3 23.4
Interest cost* 63.0 50.1
New rail franchise* - 187.2
Benefits paid (36.1) (32.2)
Actuarial gains* (225.2) {111.6)
Al 31 December 908.7 1,062.1
2008 2007

Movements in the fair value of plan assets were as follows: £m £m
At 1 January 981.5 7477
Expected return on plan assefs* 73.9 56.3
Total contributions 53.9 475
New rall franchise* - 1673
Benefits paid (36.1) (32.2)
Actuarial losses* (304.4) 5.1)
At 31 December 768.8 9B81.5

* Before RPS shared cost adjustment

The mavements in the present value of defined benefit obligations and in the fair value of the plan assets do not take into account

the shared cost nature of the RPS. The income statement includes 60 per cent of the relevant APS amounts.

2008 2007
Plan assets % %
The weighted average asset allocalions at the year end were as tollows:
Equities 72 75
Bonds 21 18
Other 7 7
2008 2007

Cumulative actuarial gains and losses recognised in equity £m Em
Al 1 January 123.6 241
Actuartal (losses)/gains recognised in year 64.7) 99.5
Al 31 December 58.9 1236

2008 2007 2006 2005
History of experience gains and losses £m £m £m £m
Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities:
- Amounts {€Em) 2252 1116 (22.6) (74.9)
- Peicentage of scheme liabilities 24.8% 10.5% 2.4% 8.7%
Experience adjustments on scheme assets:
- Amounts (€m) {(304.4) (5.1} 380 655
- Percentage ot scheme assets 39.6% 0.5% 5.1% 10.2%

The group expects to make contributions of approximately £35 million to the defined benefit plans during the next financial year.

a5




Notes to the accounts continued

21. Deferred tax

2008 2007
The movement in defered tax is shown below: Em £m
Al 1 January 87.6 453
Exchange differences 1.7 20
Acquisition of subsidiasies 10.7 (7.4)
Income statement charge/{credit) 26.6 0.2)
Tax (credited)/charged o equity (41.2) 479
At 31 December 95.4 87.6

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of tax losses and other tempoerary differences giving rise to deferred tax
assets where there is uncertainty regarding the recoverability of the resulting deferred tax assets. Deferred tax is not provided on
the unremitted earings of overseas subsidiaries where the group has cantro! over the timing of remittance and it is probable that
remittance will not take place in the foreseeable future. Material ceferred tax assels and kabilities are only offset where there is a

legally enforeceable right of offset and there is an intention to settle the balances net.

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period are shown below:

Accelerated

tax depreciation Revaluation [nlangbles  Derivatives Other Total
Detarred tax liabilities £m £m £m £€m £m £m
At 1 January 2007 75.1 16.2 9.2 - 2.4 102.9
Exchange differences 19 - 0.6 - 0.3 2.8
Income statement (credit)/charge (1.6) {0.3) 3.2) - 1.3 (3.8)
Translerred from deferred tax assets - - - 18.1 - 18.1
At 31 December 2007 754 159 6.6 18.1 40 120.0
Exchange differences 105 - KE:) - 1.5 15.8
Acquisition of subsidiaries 19 - 8.8 - - 10.7
Income statement (credit)/charge 258 0.2) 1.7) - 1.4 25.1
Tax credited directly to equity - - - (26.1) {26.1)
Transferred from deferred tax assets - - - 8.0 25 105
At 31 December 2008 113.4 167 17.5 - 9.4 156.0

The deferred tax liability due after more than one year is £152.4 miltion (2007: £112.4 million).
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Retirement

benefit

obligations Provisions  Derivatives Losses Cther Total
Deferred tax assets £m £m em £m £m £m
At 1 January 2007 (49.3) (4.4) (0.9} - (3.0 {57.6}
Exchange differences - {0.8) - - (0.2) 0.8)
Acquisition of subsidiaries - (7.9) - - 0.5 (7.4)
Income staterment charge/{credit) 31 (1.1 - - 1.6 a6
Tax charged directly to equity 289 - 19.0 - - 479
Transferred to deferied tax liabilties B - (18.1) - - (18.1)
At 31 December 2007 (17.3) (14.0) - . (.1 (32.4)
Exchange differences - (2.6) - (2.0} 05 (4.1)
Income statement charge/(credit) 49 2.7 - 9.7} 3.6 1.5
Tax credited directty o equity (14.6) - - - (0.5) {15.1)
Transterred to deferred tax liabilities - - 8.0) - (2.5) (10.5)
At 31 December 2008 {27.0) {13.9) {8.0) (1.7 - (60.6)

The deferred tax asset due after more than one year is £37.7 million (2007: £20.9 million).

22. Called up equity share capital

Authorised Allotied - fully paid

2008 2007 2008 2007
Ordinary shares of 5 pence each £14,500,000 £14,500,000 £8,932,854 £9,930,679
Number of shares 290,000,000 290,000,000 198,657,072 198,613,572
Reconciliation of movement in issued share capital:
Shares in issue 1 January 198,613,572 198,089,442
Share allotments on exercise of options 43,500 524,130
Shares in issue 31 December 198,657,072 198,613,572

Consideration of £0.2 million was recebved in respect of the share allotments in the year ended 31 December 2008 (2007: £1.3 millioen).

Al 31 December 2008 there were outstanding options to receive allotments of 3,727,801 ordinary shares under the Executive Share
Option Scheme, the Share Incentive Scheme and the Long Term Incentive Plan. The price for the vested share for the Long Term
tncentive Plan is £nil. The option exercise prices for the other schemes range from 283.0 pence to 745.0 pence. The options are
exercisable up to March 2018. At 31 December 2008 the middle market quctation of the ordinary share, as derived from the
Stock Exchange Official List, was 601.5 pence. The highest price attained by the ordinary share in 2008 was 803.5 pence and the
lowest level during 2008 was 510.0 pence.
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23. Share-based payments

The group operates an Executive Share Cption Scheme (ESOS), Share Incentive Scheme (SIS) and Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP).

The ESOS is an Inland Revenue approved discretionary employee share option schems, with options granted o certain senior
employees (excluding direclors) and exercisable between three and ten years from date of grant, subject lo performance criteria

having been satisfied.

The SIS is an unapproved discretionary employee share option scheme, with options granted 1o certain senior employees
(excluding directors) and exercisable between thres and seven years from date of grant, subject to periormance criteria having

been satisfied.

The ESOS and SIS March 2007 and March 2008 awards have been granted under The Amiva plc Company Share Option Plan 2008.

The LTIP is 2 discretionary share scheme providing incentives in the form of conditional awards of shares to selected senior
employees, including executive directors. There is a performance period of not less than three years before any of the shares may
vest, with vesting ol any of the shares subject to performance criteria having been satisfied. Further details of the LTIP and
performance criteria are given in the directors' remuneration report.

In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS, the following disclosures relate only to awards made after 7 November 2002

that have not vested before 1 January 2005,

The fair value per option granted and the assumptions used in the calculation of falr value are as follows:

Executive Share Option Scheme

March 2003 March 2004 March 2007  March 2008
Share price at grant date £2.83 £3.73 £7.45 £6.87
Exercise price £2.83 £3.73 £7.45 £6.87
Number of employees 12 46 44 31
Shares under option 73.000 206.162 121,324 86,902
Vesting period (years) 3 3 3 3
Expected volatility 32% 24% 20% 25%
Option lite (years) 10 10 10 10
Expected life (years) 3 3 3 3
Risk free rate 4.0% 4.5% 51% 3.9%
Expected dividends expressed as a dividend yield 5.8% 51% 3.0% 3.0%
Expectations of meeting performance criteria 100% 100% 100% 100%
Fair value per option £0.470 £0.504 £1.130 £1.144
Share Incentive Schermne
March 2003 March 2004  March 2005  March 2006 March 2007 March 2008
Share price at grant date £2.83 £3.73 £5.48 £6.13 £7.45 £6.87
Exercise price £2.83 £3.73 £5.48 £6.13 £7.45 £6.87
Number of employees 44 54 95 78 73 B4
Shares under opticn 254,500 197,338 442,500 336,000 221,676 327,098
Vesting period (years) 3 3 3 3 3 3
Expected volatility 329% 24% 24% 24% 20% 25%
Option [ife (years) 7 7 7 7 7 7
Expected life (years) 3 3 3 3 3 3
Risk free rate 40% 4.5% 4.0% 4.6% 5.1% 3.9%
Expected dividends expressed
as a dividend yield 5.8% 5.1% 36% 3.7% 3.0% 3.0%
Expectations of meeting performance criteria 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 1005
Fair value per option £0.470 £0.504 £0.835 £0.959 £1.130 £1.144
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Long Term Incentive Plan

May 2006 May 2006'  Sept 2006’  Sept 2006°
Share price at grant date £5.44 £5.44 £6.79 £6.79
Exercise price £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
Number of employees 3 3 14 14
Shares under option 178,194 178,194 267,228 108,150
Vesting period (years) 3 3 3 3
Expecied volatility 25% 25% 20% 20%
Option lite (years) 3 3 3 3
Expected life (years) 3 3 3 3
Risk free rate 4.8% 4.8% 48% 48%
Expected dividends expressed as a dividend yield 3.3% 3.3% 3.3% 3.3%
Expectations of meeting periormance criteria 49% 100% 49% 100%
Fair value per option £4.980 £2,140 £6.290 £4.330
Long Term Incentive Plan
March 2007' March 20072 March 2007° March 2008' March 2008 March 2008*
Share price at grant date £7.45 £7.45 £7.45 £6.87 £6.87 £6.87
Exercise price £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
Number of employees 17 3 14 18 3 15
Shares under option 402,586 139,329 107.532 487,845 155,138 135,895
Vesting pericd (years) 3 3 3 3 3 3
Expected volatility 20% 20% 20% 25% 25% 25%
Option life (years) 3 3 3 3 3 3
Expected life {years) 3 3 3 3 3 3
Risk free rate 51% 51% 5.1% 39% 3.9% 3.9%
Expected dividends expressed
as a dividend yield 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Expeciations of meeling perlormance criteria 22% 100% 100% 32% 100% 100%
Fair value per oplicn £6.900 £3.270 £3.710 £6.320 £2.610 £2.880

The expected volatility is based on historical volatility over the last three years. The expected life is the average expected period
to exercise. The risk free rate of retum is the yield on zero-coupon UK Guvernment bonds of a term consistent with the assumed

option life.
! Relates to the EPS element ol the award

2 Relates to the TSR element of the award

99




Notes to the accounts continued

23. Share-based payments ontnuss

A reconciliation of option movements for each of the above schemes over the year to 31 December is shown below:

{a) Executive Share Option Scheme

2008 2007
Weighted Weighted
average average
Number exercise Number exercise
('000) price (£) {'000) price (£}
Qutstanding at 1 January 194 6.01 173 3.69
Granted 97 6.87 121 7.45
Forfeited (14) 7.34 {15) 373
Exercised {19) 3.50 (85) 373
Qutstanding at 31 December 258 6.45 194 6.01
Exercisable at 31 December 53 3,70 73 3.64
2008 2007
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
Range average eig t_ i av?;age average eight A .avelf::ge
of exercise exercise  Number of remaining e exercise  Number of remaining e
prices price shares Expected Contractual price shares Expected  Contractual
{£) {£) ('000) (years) {years) (€) (000} {years) {years)
2.B83-7.45 6.45 258 1.0 8.0 6.01 194 1.0 80
The weighted average share price during the period jor options in the ESOS exercised over the year was 720.1 pence
(2007: 762.9 pence). The total charge for the year relating to the scheme was £0.1 million (2007: £nil).
(b) Share Incentive Scheme
2008 2007
Weighted Weighted
average average
Number exercise Number exercise
{'000) price (£) {'000) price (£)
Outstanding at 1 January 1,013 5.90 950 5.24
Granted 327 6.87 221 7.45
Forfeited 74) 5.73 (18) 5.66
Exercised (19) 5.19 {140) 3.89
Qutstanding at 31 December 1,252 6.17 1,013 5.90
Exetcisable at 31 December 429 5.04 114 3.50
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2008 2007

Weighted Weighted

Range average Weughte.d.averaga average
remaining life

Weighted average

of exercise exercise  Number of exarcise  Number of remaining life

prices price shares Expected Contractual price shares Expected Contractual
(€ (€ (‘co0) (years) (years) i3} (000} (years} (years)
2.83-7.45 6.17 1,252 0.7 4.3 5.90 1.013 08 46

The weighted average share price during the year for options exercised in the Share Incentive Scheme over the year was
723.8 pence (2007: 768.5 pence). The total charge for the year relating to the scheme was £0.3 million (2007: £0.2 million),
all of which related to equity-seltled share-based payment fransactions. After deferred tax, the total charge was £0.2 million

(2007: £0.2 million).

{c) Long Term Incentive Plan

2008 2007
Waeighted Weighted
average average
Number BXercise Number exercise

(000) price (£)

('000) price (£}

Outstanding at 1 January 1,644 - 1,285 -
Granted 779 - 649 -
Forfeited (224) - (156) -
Exercised (36) - (134) -
Outstanding at 31 December 2,163 - 1,644 -
Exercisable at 31 December 23 - 59 -
2008 2007
Weighted Weiah Weighted Welgh

Range average €9 tefd.ave;aga average €ig te_d-averr:age

of exercise exercise  Number of remaining life exercise  Number of remaining life

prices price shares Expected Contractual price shares Expected Contractual

(£) {£) {'000) {years} (years) (L) ("000) {years) (years})

0.00 0.00 2,163 1.0 1.0 0.00 1,644 1.2 1.2

The weighted average share price lor the LTIP awards exercised in the year was 795.0 pence (2007: 747.2 pence). The total charge
for the year relating to the scheme was £1.7 million (2007: £1.4 milion), all of which related to equity-settled share-based payment

transactions. After defered tax, the total charge was £1.2 million (2007: £1.0 million).
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24. Other reserves

Capital

redemption Special Hedge Other

reserve reserve reserve resarves

£m £m £m £m

Al 1 January 2007 18 59.1 (2.9 58.0
Cash flow hedges (nel of tax):

- Fair value gains in period - - 48.6 48.6

- Transiers 1o net profit - - (1.6) {1.6)

At 31 Decamber 2007 1.8 59.1 44.1 105.0
Cash flow hedges (net of tax):

- Fair value losses in period - - {(123.0) (123.0)

- Transiers to net prolit - - 56.5 56.5

At 31 December 2008 1.8 59.1 {22.4) 38.5

The capital redemption reserve represents the cumulative par value of all shares bought back and cancelled by the group and is
not distributable. The special reserve was created in 1997 when an application to transfer the share premium account info a
special reserve was granted by the High Court, and is not distributable. The hedge reserve records movements on derivative

financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges.

25. Statement of changes in equity

Total

Share Share Other Retained shareholders’ Minority Total

capital premium reserves earnings equity interests aquity

£m em £m tm £m £m £m

At 1 January 2007 8.9 22.4 58.0 452.2 542.5 16.3 558.8

Arising on issue of shares - 1.8 - (0.5} 1.3 - 13

Share-based payments - - - 1.6 1.6 - 16
Total recognised income and

expense for the year - - 47.0 1569.7 208.7 55 212.2

Dividends - - - (41.9) (41.9) (1.0) {42.9)

Minority share of acquisition - - - - - 3.0 3.0

At 31 December 2007 9.9 24,2 105.0 57141 710.2 23.8 734.0

Arising on issue of shares - 0.2 - - 0.2 - 0.2

Share-based payments - - - 21 2.1 - 24
Total recognised income and

expense for the year - - {66.5) 826 16.1 146 30.7

Dividends - - - (46.1) (46.1) (4.3) {50.4)

Minority share of acquisitiocn - . - - - 1.6 1.6

At 31 December 2008 9.9 24.4 38.5 609.7 682.5 5.7 7182
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26. Notes to the group cash flow statement

2008 2007
{(a) Reconciliation of net debt £m £m
At 1 January 448.5 378.4
(increase)/decrease in cash, cash equivalents and overdrafts (44.4) 51
Decrease in loans due within one year {4.3) (39.4)
Increase in loans due afier one year 2153 350
Decrease in finance lease obligations (24.0) (15.2)
Loans acquired 37 18.5
Finance leases acquired 242 28.0
Currency translation adjustments 184.4 36.1
At 31 December 823.4 448.5
2008 2007
({b) Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated from operations £Em £m
QOperating profi 171.8 128.0
Depreciation 146.6 1138
Geodwill impairment and intangible asset amorisation 12.0 74
EBITDA 330.4 2492
Increase in inventories, excluding acquisitions (1.3} (1.0
Decrease/(increase} in trade and other receivables, excluding acquisitions 235 (87.2)
(Decrease)/increase in creditors, excluding acquisitions (18.6) 87.2
Cash generated from operations 334.0 248.2
Acquisitions 31
t January (excluding cash  Exchange  December
2008 Cashflow & overdrafts) differences 2008
(c) Analysis of net debt £m Em £m £m £m
Cash, cash equivalents and overdrafts (62.4} (44.4) - (6.5) {113.3)
Leans due within one year B4.6 4.3) 12.5 17.8 110.6
Loans due after one year 3268 215.3 11.2 139.9 692.9
Finance leases 998 (24.0) 24.2 33.2 133.2
448.5 142.6 47.9 184.4 823.4
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Notes to the accounts continued

27. Acquisitions

Taial
(a) Analysis of the net cash outflow in respect of acquisitions £m
Cash consideration (including expenses} 1326
Net cash acquired (1.2)
Net cash outflow in respect of acquisitions 131.4
Provisional
Acquired fair value Net
book value adjustments cost
({b) Current year acquisitions £m £m £m
Intangible fixed assets 58 23.7 295
Property, plant and equipment 74.1 4.0 701
Investments 33 - 33
Inventaries 1.7 0.3) i.4
Trade and other receivables 18.8 0.1} 187
Cash and cash equivalents 1.2 - 1.2
Finance lease obligations (24.2) - (24.2)
Trade and other payables (24.5) (7.5) (32.0)
Loans 23.7) - 23.7)
Defered tax (3.3) (7.4) (10.7)
29.2 4.4 33.6
Minarity interest (1.6)
Goodwill 100.0
Satisfied by cash 132.0

The goodwill of £100.0 million noted above relates to premiums paid in respect of strategic market entry.

In January 2008 the group acquired 100 per cent of the share capital of TGM for £10.8 million, resulting in goodwill of £11.3 miflion.
In April 2008 the group acquired 100 per cent of the share capital of The Excel Group for £6.4 million, £0.3 million of which is

deferred, resulting in goodwill of £4.6 million.

In July 2008 the group acquired 100 per cent of the share capital of Spanish transport operator De Blas for £79.8 million, resulting in

goodwill of £52.9 million. Also in July 2008 the group acquired 80 per cent of the share capital of Eurobus for £26.8 million,

resulting in goodwill of £23.1 million,

In addition, smaller acquisitions were made in the year, the total cost of which was £8.5 million, resulting in goodwill of £8.1 million.

11 all acquisitions had occurred at the start of the period the additional revenue and profit for the year would have been £61.5 million

and £0.7 million respectively.

The fair value adjustments in the table above retate mainly o the recognition of an intangible asset in respect of customer

contracts in De Blas and alignment to group accounting policies. The fair values are provisional, depending on the final

determination of the value of related assets and liabliities. The final fair vatues are subject to completion of contractual discussions

and settlement of balances and may change after the balance sheet date.
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(c) Prior year acquisitions

The total cost in the year relating to acquisitions from prior years was £0.6 million, this is additional consideration relating to Veolia
Transport Danmark AS, acquired in August 2007, Fray Escoba, acquired in November 2007, and Osnado spol. s.r.o., acquired in
November 2007. In addition hindsight fair value adjustments were made in the year resulting from the final detesmination of the
assets and liabilities as follows:

£m
Hindsight period adjustments:
Trade and other payables 02
Decrease in fair values 0.2
Additional consideration paid 0.6

08
Goodwill based on provisional fair values 13.5
Goodwill based on final fair values 14.3

Comparative amounts have not been restated following the final determination of fair value adjustments as the amounts involved
are not material.
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Notes to the accounts continued

28. Group undertakings

Detailed betow is a list of those subsidiaries which in the opinion of the directors principally affect the amount of the profit or the
amount of the assets of the group. The group percentage of equity capital is 100 per cent and the country of registration is England
and Wales in each case, except where indicaied. All subsidiaries operate within England and Wales, except where indicatec:

Passenger transport

Rental and distribution
of buses & coaches

Arriva Croydon and North Surrey Limited
Arriva Cymru Limited

Agriva Derby Limited

Agriva Durham County Limited

Arriva East Herts & Essex Limited

Agtiva International Trains
{Leasing) Limited

Arriva Kent & Sussex Limited
Arriva Kemt Thameside Limited
Arriva London North Limited
Arriva London South Limited
Arriva Manchester Limited

Arriva Medway Towns Limited
Arriva Merseyside Limited

Arriva Midlands Limited

Arriva Midlands North Limited
Artiva Noroeste SL2

Arriva North East Limited

Arriva Nerthumbria Limited
Amriva North West Limited

APS (Leasing) Limited

Agriva Personenvervoer Nederland B.V?
Arriva Portugal Transportes LDA®
Arriva Scotland West Limited*
Arriva Skandinavien A/S'

Arriva Southern Counties Limited
Arriva Sverige AB*

Arriva Tees & District Limited
Arriva Teesside Limited

Asriva The Shires Limited

Arriva Trains Wales/Trenau Arriva
Cymru Limited

Agriva UK Traing Limited

Asriva Yorkshire Limited

Arriva Yorkshire West Limited
Autobus Sippel GmBH®*
Empresa de Blas y Cia S.L.2

Eurobus-Invest Regionalis
Kdzlekedésfejlesztési®

London Pride Sightseeing Limited
MK Metro Limited
Osthannoversche Eisenbahnen AG®
Prignitzer Eisenbahrt Gmbh*
Regentalbahn AG*

SAB Autoservizi Sl

SAB Autoservizi FV.G, SpA®
Sadem S.p.A"

Stevensons of Uttoxeler Limited
Tellings Golden Miller Group plc*

The Qriginal London Sightseeing
Tour Limited

Transportes Sul do Tejo S.A*
Veolia Transport Danmark AS'
Verkehrsbetriebe Bils Gmbh?

XC Ttains Limited
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Arriva Bus and Coach Rental (1) Limited
Arriva Bus and Coach Rental {2} Limited
Asrriva Bus and Coach Rental (3) Limited
Arriva Bus and Coach Rental (4) Limited
Arriva Bus and Coach Limited

Investment

Arriva Findiv imited

Arriva International Limited*

Arriva Motor Holdings Limited*
Arriva Passenger Services Lirmited*
British Bus Group Limited

MTL Services Limited*

Arriva Insurance Company (Gibraltar)
Limited'>

Arriva International (Northermn Europe)
Limited

Arriva Intemnational {Southern Europe)
Limited

Arriva (2007) Limited

Property

British Bus [Properties) Limited

Except where marked by * shares are
held by a subsidiary company

! Registered and operates in Denmark
2 Registered and operates in Spain

? Registered and operates
in the Netherlands

* Registered and operates in Scotland
S Registered and operates in Sweden
§ Registered and operates in Portugal
? Registered and operates in Italy

8 Registered and operates in Germany

? Registered and operates
in Germany (85% owned)

'® Registered and operates in ltaly
{60% owned)

" Registered and operates
in ltaly (80% owned)

'? Registered and operatss in Gibraltar

'* Registered in Hungary and operates
in Hungary and Slovakia {80% owned)



29, Commitments

Capital amounts contracted for but not provided amount to £86.7 million (2007: £26.0 million) for the group. At 31 December 2008
the group had total commitments under non-canceltable operating leases, including access charges to the rail infrastructure and

leases for rail rolling stock, expiring as follows:

2008 2007
Land & Land &

buildings Other Total buitdings Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Within cne year 0.7 17.1 17.8 04 13.0 13.4
Later than one year and less than five years 4.1 322.0 326.1 38 277.4 2813
After five years 209.1 34118 3,620.9 188.0 3.672.8 3.760.8
213.9 3,750.9 3.964.8 1923 3,863.2 4,055.5
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Five-year financial summary

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
Assets employed £€m £m £m £m £m
Goodwill 266.7 2715 286.4 328.2 509.9
Other intangible assets 45.6 40.8 349 43.2 75.7
Property, plant and equipment 962.6 1.092.8 9825 1,164.4 1,559.9
Other 3817 (341.0) (285.1) (233.6) (502.7)
Unquoted investmenis 6.2 79 51.4 63.6 141.9

899.4 1,078.0 1,070.1 1.365.8 1,784.7
Financed by
Share capital 9.8 9.8 99 9.9 9.9
Reserves 417.8 477.6 532.6 700.3 672.6
Minority interests 22 16.3 16.3 238 357
Bank overdrafts 5.1 225 16.5 333 34.4
Syndicated loans 82.6 203.8 108.7 203.2 434.7
Cther loans 155.7 93.3 147.4 123.3 258.2
Short-term loans 126.2 1229 115.0 B4.8 110.6
Obligaticns under finance leases 62.1 87.5 78.4 99.8 133.2
Deferred tax liabilities 378 44.3 453 87.6 95.4

899.4 1,078.0 1,.070.1 1,365.8 1,784.7
Trading
Revenue 1,759.0 1,671.2 1,729.0 2,000.7 3.042.2
Profit before taxation from continuing operations 109.3 103.1 109.8 1158 150.0
Taxation 26.0 10.8 252 258 388
Profit after taxation from continuing operations 83.3 83.3 84.6 0.0 111.2
Profit after taxation from discontinued operations - 3.0 201 - -
Profit for the year 83.3 86.3 104.7 90.0 111.2
Statistics
Funds attributable 1o shareholders 427.6 487.4 542.5 7102 682.5
Equity shareholders’ funds per ordinary share 218.4p 247.5p 2739p 357.6p 343.6p
Basic earnings per share 42.6p 43.7p 51.8p 43.5p 52.6p
Dividends per ordinary share 18.9p 19.84p 20.83p 22.65p 24.06p

The discontinued operations relate to the vehicle rental operations.
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Parent company financial statements

Company balance sheet
at 31 December 2008

Prepared using UK generally accepted accounting practice (UK GAAP)

2008 2007
notes £m £m
Fixed asseis
Tangible assels 2 7.8 79
Investments 3 622.0 611.2
629.8 6191
Current assets
Debtors 4 82.0 137.3
Cash at bank and in hand 560.3 3998
642.3 537.1
Creditors
Amounts falling due within one year [ (23.9) (16.7)
Net current assets 618.4 520.4
Total assets less current liabilities 1,248.2 1,139.5
Creditors
Amounts falling due after more than one year 6 (570.2) {428.8)
Net pension liability i1 {3.4) (1.4)
§74.6 709.3
Represented by:
Capital and reserves
Called up equity share capital 7 9.9 99
Share premiurn account 9 24.4 242
Capital redemption reserve 9 1.8 1.8
Special reserve 9 59.1 59.1
Profit and loss account 9 579.4 614.3
Equity shareholders’ funds N m 10 674.6 709.3
D R Martin l‘@

Directors
S P Lonsdale

These financial statements on pages 109 to 117 were approved by the Board on 4 March 2009.
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Parent company accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The separate financial statements of the company are presented as required by the Companies Act 1985 and 2006. They have been
prepared in accordance with applicable United Kingdom generally accepled accounting practice. The company prepares its
financial statements on the historic cost basis of accounting other than the revaluation of certain tangible fixed assets, pensions,
and share-based payment charges which are measured at {air value. No profit and loss account is presented by the company as
permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985,

Cash flow staternent

The company is the holding company of a group which prepares consolidated accounts, including the results of the company,
which are publicly available. Consequently the company has taken advantage of the exemption from preparing a cash flow
statement under the terms of FRS1 (revised).

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cos! or valuation, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment.

Depreciation is calcufated using the straight-line method 10 allocate the cost or valuation of each asset to its residual value over its
estimated useful-life as follows:

Freehold properties 50 years
Plant, company vehicles, fixtures & fittings 3-10 years
Investments

Fixed assel investments in subsidiaries are shown at cost less provision for impairment.

Impairment

A each balance shest date the company reviews the carying amount of its tangible fixed assets to determine whether there are any
indicators of impairment. If indicators of impairment exist then the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated and it this is less
than lts carrying amount, the difference is recognised in the profit and loss account as an impairment foss.

Pensions
The company operates retirement benefit schemes; both defined benelit and defined contribution schemes.

The Kiability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of the company’s defined benelit pension plans is the present value of the
defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of the plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised
past service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method. Formal actuarial valuations
are carried cut by an independent actuasy on a triennial basis, with updated calcutations being prepared at each balance sheet date
by qualified independent actuaries. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated
future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the curency in which the benefits
will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension lizbility.

The cost of providing future benefits (service cost) is charged to the profit and less account as required. The retum on scheme
assets and interest obligation on scheme liabilities comprise a pension finance adjustment which is included in interest costs.
Actuarial gains and lgsses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuanial assumptions are charged or credited to
equity in the period they arise.

Contributions payable under detined contribution schemes are charged to the profit and loss accoun! as they arise.

Share-based payments

The company issues equity seltled share-based payments to certain employees, which are measured at fair vatue at the date of grant.
The fair value is expensed on a straight-ine basis over the vesting petiod, based on the company's estimate of shares that will
eventually vest. The impact of revising original estimates, if any, is included in the profit and loss account, with a corresponding
adjustment to reserves. The proceeds received net of any directly atlributable transaction costs are credited to share capital
{(nominal value} and share premium when the options are exercised.

Dividend distribution
Dividend distributions 1o the company's shareholders are recognised in the company's financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are paid,

Deferred taxation

The company accounting policy s to provide for deferred tax on all timing differences except those arising on the revaluation of
fixed assets for which there is no binding agreement to sell or on the undistributed profits of overseas subsidiaries. Deferted tax is
calculated at the rates at which it is estimated the tax will arise. The tax rates are those expected to anise based on tax rates and
laws that have been snacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. The deferred tax provision is not discounted lo
net present value.

Retated party transactions
As permitted under FRSS8, 'Related Party Transactions’, the company has taken advantage of the exemption not to disciose
transactions between group companies.
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Notas to parent company accounts

1. Arriva plc profit and loss account

Arriva plc has not presented its own profit and loss account as permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985.
The profit for the financial year dealt with in the accounts of Ariva plc is £11.6 million (2007 profit of £423.0 million).

Company employee information is disclosed within the central component in note 4 to the group financial stalements.
Details of directors’ remuneration arg disclesed in the directors’ remuneration report on pages 54 to 61.

2. Tangible fixed assets

Plant,

company

Freehold vehicles,
land & fidures &

buildings fittings Total
£m £m £m
Cost or valuation
Al 1 January 2008 93 1.6 109
Additions - 02 0.2
At 31 December 2008 9.3 1.8 11.4
Comprising:
Cost B.5 1.8 10.3
Valuation 1997 08 . 08
9.3 1.8 111
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2008 1.8 1.2 3.0
Charge for the year 0.1 0.2 0.3
At 31 December 2008 1.9 1.4 33
Net book amounts
At 31 December 2008 7.4 0.4 7.8

At 31 December 2007 75 0.4 79




Notes to the parent company accounts continued

3. Investments

Shares in
Shares in subsidiares
subsidiaries net book
at cost  Impairment amount
Fixed asset investments £m £m £m
At 1 January 2008 625.9 (14.7) 611.2
Additions 108 . 10.8
At 31 December 2008 636.7 {14.7} 622.0
Particulars of fixed asset investments are detailed in note 28 lo the group financial statements.
4. Debtors
2008 2007
£m £m
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade debtors 0.2 0.1
Deferred tax (note 5) 0.3 01
Other debtors 1.9 9.0
Prepayments and accrued income 0.8 05
3.2 97
Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Amounts owed by group undertakings 78.8 127.6
82.0 137.3
The amounts owed by group undertekings are repayable on demand.
5. Deferred tax
2008 2007
£m £m
Accelerated capital allowances 1.5 1.8
Other ming differences (1.8) 1.7
Deferred tax excluding that relating to pension liability (0.3) 0.1)
Deferred tax on pension liability (1.3) 0.5)
Deferred tax (1.6) 0.6)

Factors that may affect future tax charges

No deferred tax liability is provided in respect of the unremitted eainings of overseas subsidiaries unless a binding agreement

exists at the balance sheet date to remit such eamings in the future.
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6. Creditors

2008 2007
£m Em
Amounts falling due within one year:
Short-term loans 7.2 -
Trade creditors 0.9 1.6
Creditors for taxation and social security 0.2 1.4
Other creditors 5.5 50
Accruals and deferred income 10.1 B.7
23.9 16.7
Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Syndicated loans 135.0 -
Amounts due to group companies 407.9 3985
Accruals and deferred income 27.3 303
570.2 4288
2008 2007
£m £m
Loan capital and other borrowings repayment statement:
- Within one year or on demand 7.2 -
- Between two and five years 135.0 -
142.2 -
The company provides cross guarantees in respect of the bank borrowings of a number of the group’s subsidiaries.
Fair value of non-current liabilities
The company considers there to be no material difference between the fair value of non-current liabilities and their carrying
amount in the balance sheet.
Borrowing facilities
The company has the following undrawn committed floating rate borrowing facilities available at 31 December
in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met at that date:
2008 2007
£m em
Expiring within one year 60.9 570
Expiring in more than two years 180.3 415.8
241.2 4728
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Notes to the parent company accounts continued

7. Called up equity share capital

Authorised Allotted - fully paid

2008 2007 2008 2007

Ordinary shares of 5 pence each £14,500,000 £14,500,000 £9932,854 £0,830,679

Number of shares 290,000,000 290,000,000 198,657,072 198,613,572

Recongiliation of movement in issued share capital:

Shares inissue 1 January 198,613,572 198,089,442

Share allotments on exercise of options 43,500 524,130

Shares in issue 31 December 198,657,072 198,613,572

Consideration of £0.2 million was received in respect of share alloiments in the year ended 31 ecember 2008 (2007: £1.3 million).

Al 31 December 2008 there were outstanding oplions to receive allotments of 3,727,901 ordinary shares under the Executive
Share Option Scheme, the Share Incentive Scheme and the Long Term Incentive Plan. The price for the vested share for the
Long Term Incentive Plan is £nil. The option exercise prices for the other schemes range from 283.0 pence to 745.0 pence.

The opticns are exercisable up to March 2018. At 31 December 2008 the middle market quotation of the ordinary share, as derived
from the Stock Exchange Official List, was 601.5 pence. The highest price attalned by the ordinary share in 2008 was 803.5 pence
and the lowest level during 2008 was 510.0 pence.

8. Share-based payments

The grants and related accounting treatment adopted by Arriva plc under FRS2D, 'Share-based payments', are identical to that
adopted by the group under IFRS2, 'Share-based payments'. For detzils please refer to note 23 in the group financial statements.

9. Reserves
Capital Share Profit
redemption premium Special and loss
reserve account reserve account Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Al 1 January 2008 1.8 24.2 59.1 614.3 699.4
Asising on issue of shares - 0.2 - - 0.2
Prafit for the year - - - 11.6 11.6
Dividends - - - (46.1) (46.1)
Actuarial loss on pension deficit - - - (3.9 (3.5)
Maovement on deferred tax relating to pension - - - 1.0 1.0
Share-based payments - - - 2.1 2.1
At 31 December 2008 1.8 24.4 59.1 579.9 664.7

The capital redemption reserve represents the cumulative par value of all shares bought back and cancelled by the group and is
not distributable. The special reserve was created in 1997 when an application to transfer the share premium account into a
special reserve was granted by the High Court, and is not distibutable.
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10. Reconciliation of movements

in shareholders’ funds

2008 2007

£m £m

Profit for the year 11.6 423.0
Dividends (46.1) (41.9)
(34.5) 3811

New share capital subscribed 0.2 i3
Actuarial (oss)/gain on pension delicit (3.5) 5.0
Movement on deferred tax relating to pension 1.0 (1.5
Share-based payments 2.1 1.6
Tax relief on share option schemes - 0.5
Net (reduction in)/addition to shareholders’ funds (34.7) 388.0
Opening shareholders' funds 709.3 3213
Closing shareholders’ funds 674.6 709.3
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Notes to the parent company accounts continued

11. Pensions

The accounting treatment under FRS17 'Retirement Benefits' is in line with that adopted by the group under |1AS19 ‘Employee
Benelits'. For details, please refer to note 20 in the group financial statements.

At 31 December 2008 the company operated both defined benefit and defined contribution schemes, which are financed through
separate Trustee adminigtered funds managed by independent professional tund managers on behalf of the Trustees.
Contributions to the defined benefit funds are based upon actuarial advice following the most recent of a regular series of
valuations of the funds by their representative independent actuaries.

Total pension cost

The total pension cost tor the company was £0.2 million (2007: £0.1 million). The pension costs in respect of the company's
defined contribution scheme was £0.4 million {2007: £0.3 million).

FRS17 ‘Retirement Benefits’

The calculations used to assess the FRS17 liabilities of the retirerent benefit scheme are based on the most recent actuarial valuations,
updated to 31 December 2008 by qualified independent actuaries, KPMG LLP The scheme's assets are stated at their market
value at 31 December 2008. The assumptions used are identical to those used for determining the group charge under LAS19,

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
are determined as follows: £m £Em £m £m £m
Equities 25.5 375 38.3 35.4 30.7
Bords 149 15.9 127 126 1.9
Other - 0.1 03 0.1 01
Total market value of assets 40.4 53.5 51.3 481 42.7
Present value of liabilities (45.1) (55.4) (60.0) (58.3) (57.4)
Deficit 4.7) 1.9 8.7) (10.2) (14.7)
Related deferred tax asset 1.3 05 28 3.1 4.4
Net pension liability (3.4) (1.4) 6.1) (7.1} (10.3)
2008 2007
The costs of the schems lor the year ended 31 December were as follows: £m £m

Analysis of the charge to operating profit:

- Current service costs 0.3 0.4

Total operating charge 0.3 0.4

Analysis of the credit lo finance income

- Expected return on assets (3.7) 3.7
- Interest on liabilities 3.2 3.1

Total finance credit (0.5) (0.6)
Totzl credit betore tax 0.2) 0.2)
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2008 2007
Analysis of movement in deficit in the scheme for the year ended 31 December: £m £m
Gross deficit in the scheme at 1 January 1.9) 8.7
Contributions paid 0.5 16
Current service cost {0.3) (0.4)
Total finance credit 0.5 0.6
Actuarial (foss)/gain {3.5) 50
Gross deficit in the scheme at 31 December 4.7) (1.9
2008 2007
Analysis of amounts recognised In reserves: £m £m
Difference between expacted and actual return on assets (14.5) (1.0)
Experience gains and losses arising on the scheme liabilities 11.0 0.8
Etfect of changing the financial assumptions - 5.2
Actuarial {loss)/gain recognised in reserves (3.5) 50
Actuarial loss/gain as a percentage of scheme assets 2008 2007 2008 2005 2004
and liabilities at 31 December: % % % % %
Difference between expected and actual return on assets
as a percentage of scheme assets (35.9) (1.9) 35 83 1.6
Experience gains arising on the scheme liabilities as a
percentage of the present value of scheme Habilities 24.4 1.4 {3.5) 9.9 0.7
Total actuarial (loss)/gain recegnised in the reserves as a
percentage of the present value of scheme liabilities (7.8) 9.0 27 7.5 0.5
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Arriva plc

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Arriva pic for the year ended 31 December 2008 which comprise the
Company balance sheet and the relaled notes. These parent company financial statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out therein, We have also audited the information in the Directors’ remuneration repart that is described as
having been audited.

We have reported separately on the group financial statements of Arriva pic for the year ended 31 December 2008.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report. the Directors' remuneration report and the parent company financial
staterents in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Siandards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice) are set out in the Staterment of directors' responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors' remuneration report to be
audited in accordance with relevant Jegal and regulatory requirements and Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only or the company's members as a body in accordance with
Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent company financial statements give a true and far view and whether the parent
company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the information given in the Directors’ report
is consistent with the parent company financial staternents. The information given in the Directors’ report includes that specific
information presented in the Business review that is cross referred from the Business review section of the Directors' report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors' remuneration and other
transactions is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited parent company
financial statements. The other information comprises only the Chairman's statement, the Chief executive's review, the Financial
review, Principal risks and uncertainties, Corporate responsibility, the Directors' report, the unaudited part of the Directors'
remuneration report, Corporate governance and other reports on pages 2 to 17. We consider the implications for our report if we
become aware of any apparent misstatements or matetial inconsistencies with the parent company financiaf statements.

Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and trefand) issued by the Auditing Practices
Beard. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the parent company
financial statements and the part of the Directors' remuneration report to be audited. It also inctudes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the parent company financial staterments, and of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audil so as to obain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order
to provide us with sufficient evidence 1o give reasonahle assurance that the parent company financial staterments and the part of
the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity
or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the parent company
financial statements and the pan of the Directors' remuneration report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

» The parent company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2008;

p  The parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

p The information given in the Directors’ repoit is consistent with the parent company financial statements.

p-ﬁm%ﬂ%‘ L
i al opers LL

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Newcastle upon fyme
13 March 2009
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Financial calendar

Annual General Meeting
Meeting date

Final ordinary dividend
Record date
Payment date

Results for the six months to 30 June 2009
Announcement date

Interim ordinary dividend
Record date
Payment date

Results for the year ending 31 December 2009
Annpuncement date

Contact information and registrar details

Secretary & registered office
David Turner BA, FCIS

Arriva plc

Admiral Way

Doxford International Business Park
Sundertand

SR3 3XP

Tel: 0191 520 4000
www.arriva.co.uk

Company no: 347103
Registered in England and Wales

Advisers

Auditors Salicitors

PricewalerhouseCoopers LLP Dickinson Dees

89 Sandyiord Road St Ann's Wharf

Newcastle upon Tyne 112 Quayside

NE1 8HW Newcastle upon Tyne
NEQ9 1SB

Fietd Fisher Waterhouse
35 Vine Street

London

EC3N 2484

Herbert Smith
Exchange House
Primrose Street
London

EC2A 2HS

22 April 2009

27 March 2009
1 May 2009

27 August 2008

11 Seplember 2009
2 October 2009

March 2010 - date to be confimed

Registrar and shareholder information
Computershare Investor Services PLC

PO Box 82

The Pavilions

Bridgwater Road

Bristol

BS99 7NH

Tel: 0870 889 3197
www.computershare.co.uk

Stockbrokers

RBSMHoare Govett Limited
250 Bishopsgate

London

EC2M 4AA

Deutsche Bank

1 Great Winchester Street
London

EC2N 2DB

Merchant bankers

N M Rothschild & Sons Limited
New Court

St Swithin’s Lane

London

EC4P 4DU

Financial public relations
Tulchan Communications
Sixth Floor

Kildare House

3 Dorset Rise

London

ECAY 8EN

19




Notes

120 | Driving on Ariva pic Annual Report & Accounts 2008




FSC
Mixed Sources
e irerm =

Cart o, WLCRC WD
8PP By (e

Agriva plc

Registered office:

Adrniral Way

Doxiord International Business Park
Sunderland

SR33XP

United Kingdom

Tel +44 (0)181 520 4000
Fax +44 (0)191 520 4001
www.arriva.co.uk

Designed and produced by Robson Brown

Printed by statexcolourpring




